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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,
Society continues to digitize, revolutionizing the way we work and live, but it hasn’t come without a 
price: hackers and other digital adversaries wreak havoc on businesses and their customers to the 
tune of billions of dollars every year, and governments defend against threats to national security on 
a daily basis.  Traditional digital security measures have become less effective, and the security market 
is rapidly shifting its spending to advanced detection and response solutions like those now offered by 
Guidance. Solving for cybersecurity is our mission and everyone at Guidance believes that we have a 
societal responsibility to contribute toward making the world safer and more secure.

Because the company was unable to keep pace with customer demand for new products, over the 
past three consecutive years, revenues, market share and the value of your shares all declined.  By 
2015, it had become increasingly clear that to be relevant in the market again, we needed to accelerate 
software delivery in cybersecurity. It had also become clear that this would require both new strategies 
and new management. In Q2 your board of directors recruited new executives to effect change. 
In Q3, management actively engaged in listening to our customers and our shareholders to better 
define where we needed to take corrective action. We then re-cast our product roadmap for growth. 
In Q4, we began to demonstrate increased product delivery velocity, and our cybersecurity revenue 
rebounded.

Today, our highest priority is to deliver new products that match customer needs and drive product 
revenue growth. We are particularly excited to have introduced the company’s first wholly new 
software product in years – a risk management solution, part of our new Forensic Security suite, all 
built on top of the world’s only 360-degree visibility endpoint security technology.  

Guidance is now well aligned with our customers’ spending priorities in 2016 – and, therefore well 
positioned for growth. I am especially encouraged by the renewed passion and motivation of our 
employees to put customers first and exceed their expectations at every opportunity. It is a privilege to 
work for this great company with such dedicated and talented people, who are committed to helping 
solve the high stakes challenges associated with cybersecurity and the protection of our nation’s and 
our consumers’ most sensitive information.  

But, we have more to do.  In 2016, we will continue to take actions to accelerate our transformation in 
every aspect of our business, including building a world class customer experience that drives value 
for our customers and to you, our shareholders.  For the first time in several years, we are producing 
encouraging results due to a new, clear strategic direction.  We intend to remain focused intently on 
fulfilling the promise of this new direction.  

I would like to thank you for your support as we take these important steps to help customers achieve 
their desired outcomes with our market-leading software solutions.  I have never been so confident in 
our ability to compete and win.

Patrick Dennis
President & CEO, Guidance Software
March 2016
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TRADEMARKS 
 

The trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Guidance Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries referred to herein include, but are 
not limited to, EnCase®, EnScript®, FastBloc®, EnCE®, EnCEP®, Guidance Software™, LinkedReview™, EnPoint™, Tableau™, 
EnForce™ and EnFuseSM and their respective logos. All other trademarks and copyrights referenced in this report are the property of 
their respective owners. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks or service marks to imply a 
relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other companies. 
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS 
 

This Annual Report, including the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements regarding our vision and business strategy, financial condition, results of 
operations, products and technologies, expectation of competitive pressures and prospects. Such statements are based upon current 
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “anticipates,” 
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressions or variations of such words are intended to identify 
forward-looking statements. Additionally, any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts or that concern 
future matters such as the development of new products, sales levels, expense levels and other statements regarding similar matters 
may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. 
 

Although forward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflect the good faith judgment of our management, such statements 
can only be based on facts and factors currently known by us. Consequently, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks 
and uncertainties and actual results and outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes discussed in or anticipated by 
the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences in results and outcomes include, without 
limitation, those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” below, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report.  
Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual 
Report. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements in order to reflect any event or circumstance 
that may arise after the date of this Annual Report. Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made in 
this Annual Report, which attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects. 
 



 

4 

PART I 
 
Item  1. Business 
 

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references in the Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and 
“our” refer to Guidance Software, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. 
 
Overview 
 

Guidance Software, Inc. is a technology company and a leading global provider of forensic security solutions, providing 
endpoint investigation solutions for cybersecurity, security incident response, e-discovery, data privacy and forensic analysis. Our 
products and services provide the investigative and forensic backbone that enables our customers to search, collect, and analyze 
electronically stored information in order to address and remediate suspicious network activity and rapidly respond to security 
breaches, litigation, human resources matters, regulatory requests, allegations of fraud, and to defend their organizations’ digital assets 
in a robust and proactive manner. 
 

The internet and digital world are transforming the way organizations use and interact with data. Digital risk is only increasing. 
Our solutions provide enterprises with various capabilities to search, analyze, and collect data and remediate anomalies. We are 
transitioning our businesses to enable Guidance to lead the way in cybersecurity, forensic investigation, e-discovery and data privacy 
risk management markets. 
 

Our forensic security software platform provides organizations with in-depth 360 degree visibility into data and running 
processes on endpoints including laptops, desktops, and file servers in order to enable internal investigations and to quickly determine 
the root causes of suspicious activity. Our products are used in a wide variety of circumstances, including investigations of security 
breaches, allegations of fraud or misconduct, intellectual property theft, regulatory and data privacy compliance reporting, and 
corporate policy compliance. 
 

The most dramatic escalation of risk is represented by the fact that sensitive data such as intellectual property, financial data, 
and personally identifiable information (PII) is the direct target of cyber-attacks and breaches initiated by a variety of threat actors, 
from organized crime groups to nation-states. In addition, organizations are increasingly faced with the need to recover and analyze 
vast amounts of electronic data quickly and efficiently through processes we refer to as “digital investigations.”  Digital investigations 
are conducted to address various electronic data-related needs, including: 
 

� responding to IT cyber attacks or attempted breaches, where an organization must expeditiously and unobtrusively determine 
which systems or files were affected, the nature of the attack, and how to remediate the issue quickly before any further damage 
occurs; 
 

� addressing corporate policy violations, such as intellectual property theft, employee fraud, and employee policy violations, all 
of which must be investigated rapidly; described in a detailed, complete, and comprehensible report of the incident; and mitigated and 
remedied across an enterprise network as necessary, all while minimizing business interruption; 
 

� searching, collecting and processing litigation-related data, or responding to discovery requests for electronic data, or e-
discovery requests, where a company must conduct a thorough, yet timely, review of electronic data in order to produce electronic 
documents or other digital evidence in connection with a particular civil or administrative proceeding; and 
 

� responding to regulatory data requests, where an organization must efficiently and rapidly produce electronic documents and 
digital evidence in connection with a project under regulatory review in a manner acceptable to the regulators. 
 

Traditional digital and cybersecurity investigations involve internal investigators or third-party consultants manually searching 
through multitudes of electronic data in an attempt to discover traces or “fingerprints” of electronic data-related incidents. Such 
investigators or third-party consultants typically use software applications, utilities, or processes, such as taking the affected servers, 
desktops, and laptops off-line, so that they can remove, image, or copy the hard drives, manually extract the data in question on each 
affected computer, and save the affected files to another hard drive for processing and analysis by consultants or other third-party 
experts. These traditional digital investigations suffer from several distinct problems in that they are costly and time-consuming, they 
require significant expertise to conduct across complex enterprise network environments, they may not adequately combat attempts to 
conceal data, they often result in unwanted exposure of sensitive materials and disrupt business, and they are difficult to conduct in a 
forensically sound manner. Establishing a comprehensive digital investigative software platform can help organizations address the 
inadequacies of traditional digital investigations and cost-effectively mitigate the risk of electronic data-related threats. 
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We complement our product offerings with a comprehensive array of professional and training services, including technical 
support and maintenance services, to help our customers implement our solutions, conduct investigations, and train their IT and legal 
professionals to effectively and efficiently use our products. 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, we reported total revenues of $107.0 million, and at year end, we employed 
approximately 420 employees and conducted business in over 65 countries. We were incorporated in California in November 1997 
and reincorporated in Delaware in December 2006. 
 

Our Internet address is http://www.guidancesoftware.com. The following filings are posted to our Investor Relations web site, 
located at http://investors.guidancesoftware.com as soon as reasonably practical after submission to the United States (U.S.) Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC): annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, the 
proxy statements related to our most recent annual stockholders’ meetings and any amendments to those reports or statements filed or 
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All such filings are available free of 
charge on our Investor Relations website. The contents of these websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this 
report or in any other report or document we file, and any reference to these websites is intended to be an inactive textual reference 
only. 
 
Business Strategy 
 

Our business strategy is to be a leader in forensic security markets by developing superior solutions that enable corporate, 
government, and law-enforcement organizations to conduct thorough and effective forensic security investigations of any kind, 
including cybersecurity incident response, intellectual property theft, compliance auditing, and responding to e-discovery requests. A 
key driver behind this strategy is the development and introduction of new products and improvements to our existing products to help 
win new business. In addition, we are focused on continuing our leadership in computer forensics technology with innovative software 
and hardware for a complete forensic solution. 
 

Throughout 2015 and early 2016, we have brought on new members to our board of directors and hired new senior 
management, including Patrick Dennis, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Michael Harris , Chief Marketing Officer (“CMO”), 
Alfredo Gomez, General Counsel, and Stephanie Urbach, Senior Vice President, Human Resources, as well as other additions and 
changes to our management team. Together, our directors and management team are focused on implementing a growth strategy that 
emphasizes listening to our customers, and providing solutions for their most urgent problems. We have hired additional marketing, 
sales and product engineering resources to refresh, improve and innovate our product portfolio, which we believe will lead to 
increased sales and profitability. A strong new product and sales and marketing focus, along with a robust product and services 
portfolio of leading edge solutions are important elements of our long-term business strategy. 
 
Recent Developments 
 

� On November 16, 2015, we announced that all day-to-day engineering and product development responsibilities of Shawn 
McCreight, our Chief Technical Officer (“CTO”), Chairman of the Board, and  through affiliated trusts, a major shareholder, 
were transferring to Ken Basore, Senior Vice President of Product Engineering. This action was taken, among other reasons,  
in order to improve the Company’s product delivery performance. 

 
� On January 13, 2016, we announced that Mr. McCreight ceased to be an employee of the Company, and on January 15, 2016, 

our board of directors voted to replace Mr. McCreight as Chairman of the Board. 
 

� On February 1, 2016, the Company unveiled its cloud strategy, announcing that in a phased approach, the Company will 
begin supporting hosted versions of its EnCase family of products, streamlining installation while reducing hardware 
requirements. 

 
� On February 2, 2016, the Company unveiled its first wholly new major product release in three years, EnForce Risk 

Manager, a core software solution in our forensic security suite which includes EnCase Endpoint Security and EnCase 
Endpoint Investigator. EnForce Risk Manager is a data risk and privacy solution, which allows organizations to implement a 
proactive approach to information governance, ensuring that sensitive data is identified, classified and remediated allowing 
organizations to reduce their cyber attack surface area, significantly mitigating potential damage from breaches and 
improving their ability to comply with global data protection mandates. 
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� On February 11, 2016, Mr. McCreight publicly disclosed his intention to nominate five individuals for election to the 
Company’s board of directors at our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to solicit proxies from stockholders in 
support of his five nominees. We believe that if he is successful in his proxy contest, Mr. McCreight would act on his public 
statements to reverse the Company’s course and abandon recent executive decisions which focused on customers and 
software revenue growth. We believe Mr. McCreight would also look to institute changes in our executive management team 
and business strategy. (See Risk Factors: “Our business could be negatively affected as a result of a proxy contest” and “If 
Mr. McCreight is successful in his proxy contest, part of his agenda may include further changes to our executive 
management team” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K). 

 
2015 Business Highlights: 
 

Since May 2015, under the direction of our new CEO, Patrick Dennis, we have focused on organizational changes to return the 
Company to revenue growth, with specific attention on hiring the right people to develop and sell best in class forensic security 
solutions. Throughout 2015, we re-organized our sales, marketing and product development functions in order to improve the 
Company’s performance and create shareholder value by focusing on the security market opportunity, product delivery and revenue 
growth. 
 

In the third quarter of 2015, the Company executed a major brand re-fresh, including the implementation of a modern, mobile-
ready, website, logo and messaging, which positioned the Company squarely in the cybersecurity space. We also changed the product 
strategy, which prior to Mr. Dennis’ arrival had abandoned future enhancements and releases to the existing EnCase product platform. 
Mr. Dennis’ changes resulted in the delivery of a new product strategy with quarterly releases tied to customer requirements and net 
new revenue. While Mr. McCreight served as Chairman of the Board, the Company experienced three consecutive years of declining 
revenue, customer satisfaction, market share and stock price. By the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company’s board of directors became 
concerned regarding the product development execution by Mr. McCreight as CTO, among other matters.  In response to these trends, 
the Company’s board of directors took action to reduce Mr. McCreight’s operating role. Unfortunately, by January 2016, the board of 
directors was made aware that Mr. McCreight was not complying with his new role, and subsequently Mr. McCreight ceased to be an 
employee on January 13, 2016. 
 

The changes instituted by Mr. Dennis in the second half of 2015 have already begun to have a positive impact on the 
Company’s performance, as evidenced by strong sales performance in the fourth quarter with overall cybersecurity business revenue 
growth of 24% year-over-year. 
 

We believe Mr. McCreight’s launch of a proxy contest is not in the best interests of all shareholders, employees and customers 
and is a distraction from our goal of driving growth, cybersecurity market leadership and shareholder value. 
 
Executive Leadership 
 
Our executive management team includes: 
 

� Patrick Dennis — President and Chief Executive Officer; 
� Barry Plaga — Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer; 
� Michael Harris — Chief Marketing Officer; 
� Rasmus van der Colff — Chief Accounting Officer; 
� Alfredo Gomez — General Counsel and Secretary; 
� Ken Basore — Senior Vice President, Product Engineering; and 
� Stephanie Urbach — Senior Vice President, Human Resources. 

 
Our Board of Directors is composed of: 
 

� Patrick Dennis, President and CEO; 
� Robert van Schoonenberg, Chairman of the Board; 
� Max Carnecchia; 
� Shawn McCreight; and 
� Chris Poole. 
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Our Products and Services 
 

Our products and services give our customers the ability to conduct comprehensive, cost-effective, and precise digital 
investigations. Our EnCase software products provide the foundation to build an enterprise investigation infrastructure.  Furthermore, 
we believe our software products are the industry standard for searching, collecting, preserving, analyzing, and authenticating 
electronic computer forensic data for use in criminal and civil court proceedings. Our software and hardware products address the 
complete forensic process. We also offer a comprehensive array of investigative services and training to help our customers manage 
their internal digital investigations and learn how to effectively and efficiently use our software. 
 

In 2015, we changed our product strategy, which prior to Mr. Dennis’ arrival had abandoned future enhancements and releases 
to the existing EnCase product platform. Mr. Dennis’ changes have resulted in the delivery of a new product strategy with quarterly 
releases tied to customer requirements and net new revenue. 
 

EnCase Endpoint Security 
 

EnCase Endpoint Security provides crucial IT cybersecurity functionality to enterprises and government agencies through its 
incident response and sensitive data discovery capabilities. Integrated with leading security alerting tools from HP, Cisco, Blue Coat 
Systems, and FireEye, EnCase Endpoint Security helps automate the critical first steps in cybersecurity incident response from the 
moment of a first alert. It rapidly delivers forensic-level visibility of the relevant endpoint data, capturing a snapshot of valuable 
information from active memory that might otherwise expire which may serve as evidence for potential criminal prosecution. It also 
enables the rapid launch of an enterprise-wide search for identical or similar cybersecurity threats. This solution is designed to derive 
insights from the vast amounts of data generated by endpoint activity and to spot signs of unusual or unauthorized behavior on any 
endpoint. It leverages its unique, kernel-level access to provide the industry’s most comprehensive endpoint data collection, providing 
a repository of critical data for insights into undetected cybersecurity risks and threats. Through its interactive visual interface, this 
product compares current activity to regularly updated baselines of “normal” behavior and exposes suspicious patterns, 
commonalities, and anomalies to proactively identify cybersecurity threats, arrest attempted data breaches earlier in the “kill chain,” 
and minimize damage. These capabilities enable a cybersecurity team to remediate any malicious code or processes running on the 
affected computers and to return the affected endpoints to a trusted state. As an invaluable proactive planning measure, the sensitive 
data discovery capabilities enable security teams to rapidly identify IT assets (servers, desktops, laptops, etc.) holding sensitive data 
(such as credit card numbers, social security numbers, patient health information, and other personally identifiable information) in 
violation of legally mandated regulations, industry standards, and corporate policies. Further, they allow an organization to quickly 
remediate any identified violations and thereby improve and provide evidence of compliance. 
 

EnCase eDiscovery 
 

EnCase eDiscovery is our enterprise-wide e-discovery solution addressing the end-to-end e-discovery needs of corporations and 
government agencies. The e-discovery product portfolio includes capabilities such as: legal hold, identification, collection, 
preservation, processing, first-pass review, and early case assessment (ECA) review. The integrated offering deploys software 
intelligently, delivering the legal hold, identification, collection, preservation, and processing functions at the customer site, close to 
the sources of data and the data custodians, and the ECA, review, and production functions as subscription-as-a-service (SaaS) in the 
“cloud,” so that geographically dispersed inside and outside counsel can efficiently collaborate on the review of collected documents 
without special equipment or software other than a web browser and internet connectivity. 
 

Once the initial search has been conducted and the information has been collected, EnCase eDiscovery culls and processes the 
data to further reduce the volume of irrelevant or duplicate information. The solution distributes processing in an organized fashion so 
that several dozen machines can process terabytes of data without disrupting business and degrading network performance. The 
collected and processed data can then seamlessly be uploaded onto the available attorney review and production platform to complete 
the e-discovery process. 
 

EnCase eDiscovery provides: 
 

� Legal hold; 
 

� Pre-collection analytics; 
 

� Identification, preservation and collection; 
 

� Processing and analysis; 
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� Early and continuous case assessment 
 

� Cloud-based review and production 
 

EnCase eDiscovery Review is a powerful, highly secure, private cloud-hosted, multi-matter review platform with advanced 
analysis and technology assisted review (TAR) functionality, comprehensive production capabilities, and extensive project 
management and workflow features to enable efficient, effective, and defensible distributed review. 
 

EnCase Endpoint Investigator 
 

EnCase Endpoint Investigator provides an investigative platform that enables an organization to search, collect, preserve, and 
analyze data on the servers, desktops, and laptops across the network. EnCase Endpoint Investigator enables organizations to respond 
to electronic discovery requests and conduct internal investigations, including those related to human resources or those focused on 
compliance or fraud. Companies can also collect and preserve data in response to regulator requests or for civil litigation matters. 
 

EnCase Endpoint Investigator serves as the platform for an enterprise investigative infrastructure, to which additional products 
can be added to enhance and automate the search, collection, preservation, and analysis of data in order to accomplish specific 
business tasks such as: responding to electronic discovery requests; performing proactive, enterprise-wide data audits for sensitive 
information, including personally identifiable information, classified data, and intellectual property; and detecting, responding to, and 
remediating network threats or intrusions. These products, which can be added to perform the functions above, include, EnCase 
Endpoint Security and EnCase eDiscovery. 
 

EnCase Forensic 
 

EnCase Forensic is the industry-standard digital investigation solution that enables forensic practitioners to conduct efficient, 
forensically sound digital data collection and investigations. The EnCase Forensic solution lets examiners acquire data from a wide 
variety of devices, unearth potential evidence with disk-level forensic analysis, and craft comprehensive reports on their findings, all 
while maintaining the integrity of the evidence in a forensically sound and court-proven manner. 
 

EnCase Portable 
 

EnCase Portable is a triage and collection solution delivered on a USB device that allows forensic professionals and non-experts 
to quickly and easily triage and collect digital evidence in a forensically sound and court-proven manner. It enables personnel not 
trained in computer forensics to forensically acquire documents, internet history and artifacts, images, and other digital evidence, 
including entire hard drives, by connecting a USB device rather than a laptop. Also, law enforcement, government agencies, law 
firms, and corporate customers can cost-effectively, without a laptop, target systems that are not on the network or cannot be 
transported. EnCase Portable leverages the powerful search and acquisition capabilities of EnCase software. 
 

EnCase App Central 
 

EnCase App Central is an online marketplace that allows EnScript developers and investigations professionals the opportunity 
to share and discover the latest apps that complement the Company’s EnCase products. All apps are reviewed and tested by Guidance 
Software before being made available in the marketplace. 
 

EnForce Risk Manager 
 

EnForce Risk Manager, which we expect will be made available commercially in 2016, is a highly anticipated, new data risk 
and privacy solution.  It will allow organizations to implement a proactive approach to information governance, ensuring that sensitive 
data is identified, classified and remediated allowing organizations to reduce their cyber attack surface area, significantly mitigating 
potential damage from breaches and improving their ability to comply with global data protection mandates. 
 

Tableau Appliances 
 

Tableau appliances includes write blockers, forensic duplicators and storage devices. Write blockers and forensic duplicators 
are used to acquire forensically sound copies of digital storage devices such as hard disks and solid state drives.  Users will typically 
analyze this data with forensic software such as EnCase Forensic. Tableau storage products, which were only sold during the first and 
second quarters of 2013, are used in conjunction with write blockers or forensic duplicators, and provide high-performance, high-
availability storage for data acquired and produced during forensic examinations. 
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Professional Services and Training 
 

Professional Services provides various consulting services to our clients, including e-discovery,  cybersecurity incident 
response, civil/criminal digital investigation, implementation services, and a software advisory program. In addition, we offer certain 
packaged services based on the specific needs of our customers, including our government customers. 
 

Incident Response Services.  Using EnCase Endpoint Security, consultants investigate and remediate security breaches in an 
organization’s network infrastructure.  Consultants determine which methods of entry were used to break into the system, the extent 
and duration of the intrusion, and exactly which data were compromised. They can also “kill” malware and/or rogue processes. In the 
event a breach draws the attention of regulatory agencies, results and reports can be processed into a court-approved, forensically 
sound file format to help an organization provide accurate, defensible evidence and information to regulators. 
 

E-Discovery Services.  We offer complete, end-to-end e-discovery consulting and project management services, from litigation 
hold to the production of files for attorney review. Leveraging our industry-leading EnCase eDiscovery solution, our cost-effective e-
discovery services teams automate operations that other service providers perform manually, and are able to conduct large scale e-
discovery search, collection, and preservation from a central location, producing fast, accurate results with minimal business 
disruption. 
 

Implementation Services.  We provide implementation and consulting services in connection with the deployment of our EnCase 
software.  Our implementation typically takes one to two weeks, during which we conduct performance tests to ensure full 
functionality and integration with existing systems in the organization, and provide on-site training to ensure our customers can 
maximize the use of the technology. 
 

Guidance Software Advisory Program (GAP). GAP provides a comprehensive review of current policies and procedures, 
including a gap analysis, which identifies risk areas that could impact the customer. Dedicated advisory consultants work with the 
customer to build and implement a customized plan to help automate procedures and eliminate wasted resources; establish a 
documented, defensible and repeatable e-discovery, investigation, or incident response workflow; and align procedures with industry 
best practices. 
 

Cloud Review Services.  We provide expertise and project management for single or multiple case reviews for our EnCase 
eDiscovery Review  cloud-based hosting platform. We have industry-leading experience in managing large cases with hundreds of 
reviewers, as well as managing clients with thousands of cases through data targeting, initial review, production, and trial preparation. 
 

Training.  Training educates thousands of students per year in computer forensics principles and the use of our EnCase software 
products and methodology. We provide an array of training courses on topics such as computer forensics, incident response, endpoint 
security, digital investigations and the proper use of our software products. We operate two training classrooms in Pasadena, 
California; two near Washington, D.C.; one in Orlando, Florida; one near Chicago, Illinois; and two near London, England. In 
addition, through our training staff, our authorized training partners and our OnDemand training program, certain courses are offered 
at off-site locations throughout North, Central, and South America; Europe; Africa; the Middle East; and Asia/the Pacific Rim (as 
permitted by U.S. Export Regulations). 
 

Customer Service and Technical Support 
 

Customers typically purchase software maintenance services with each new product license for on-premise products.  Software 
maintenance services include software updates and upgrades, telephone and e-mail support, on a 24-hours-per-day, five-days-per-
week basis, as well as customer self-service on our website. Customers are given an option to renew their maintenance agreements at 
expiration of their contract which can be for a term of one, two or three years. Our technical support organization provides support for 
our on-premise products to our current customers with multi-tiered offerings and includes support availability 24 hours per day, five 
days per week, in English, and is also available during normal business hours in several other languages, including German and 
Spanish. Customers utilizing the eDiscovery Review product offering receive support services on a 24x7 basis, in English. Our 
customer service organization is available 7am-5pm PST, Monday through Friday. 
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Sales and Distribution 
 

We currently market our software and services through a worldwide network of value added resellers, direct sales, and inside 
sales. Our direct sales force is located throughout the Americas, Europe, the Middle East and Africa. In January 2016, management 
restructured the Company’s sales function in order to further accelerate sales growth. As part of that restructuring, Scott Skidmore was 
appointed Vice President, Global Sales Channel. Mr. Skidmore’s primary focus will be on expanding and improving the Company’s 
global channel program, and he will be responsible for the Company’s channel and inside sales routes in geographies where we do not 
have a direct sales force. 
 

Our revenues consist of product, services, and maintenance fees from our customers and distributors. Product revenue 
represented approximately 30%, 32% and 31% of our total revenue in fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Services 
revenue represented approximately 33% of our total revenue in fiscal year 2015, as compared to 32% in 2014, and 35% in 2013.  
Revenues from maintenance represented approximately 37%, 37%, and 34% of our total revenue in fiscal years 2015, 2014, and 2013, 
respectively. 
 

Sales to customers outside the United States totaled $26.4 million, representing 25% of our total revenue in fiscal year 2015. For 
a geographic breakdown of our revenue and property and equipment, see Note 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Marketing 
 

We use a mix of market research, analyst updates, seminars, direct mail, print advertising, trade shows, speaking engagements, 
public relations, customer newsletters, and internet marketing in order to achieve our marketing goals. Our marketing department also 
produces collateral material for distribution to potential customers, including websites, presentation materials, white papers, 
brochures, magazines, and fact sheets. We also host user events for our customers and provide support to our channel partners with a 
variety of programs, training, and product marketing support materials. In the third quarter of 2015, the Company executed a major 
brand re-fresh, including the implementation of a modern, mobile-ready, website, logo and messaging, which positioned the Company 
squarely in the cybersecurity space. 
 

In addition to our regional and vertical marketing initiatives, we also host the industry’s largest conference dedicated solely to 
the subject of digital investigations. The EnFuse Conference (formerly the Computer and Enterprise Investigation Conference, or 
CEIC) serves as our annual user conference and draws attendees from global law enforcement, government agencies, corporations, 
law firms, and the judicial bench. This event also draws industry analysts and experts and provides a valuable forum for users to 
connect, share information, and learn about important topics in the industry. EnForce enables us to efficiently connect with a broad 
range of customers, communicate our product offerings (products, services, training, etc.), and launch new products in a captive 
environment while simultaneously driving add-on sales to customers who have implemented one or more of our core platform 
products. 
 
Customers 
 

Our impressive customer list includes government agencies and global corporations in a wide variety of industries, such as 
financial and insurance services, technology, defense contracting, telecom, pharmaceutical, healthcare, manufacturing and retail. Our 
EnCase customer base currently includes more than 72 of the Fortune 100 and more than 40% of the Fortune 500 and many federal 
and international government agencies, and we have deployed our EnCase Forensic software to more than 1,000 government and law 
enforcement agencies and other customers worldwide. Our EnCase customers are primarily in North America, and also extend to 
Europe, Africa, the Middle East (as permitted by U.S. Export Regulations) and Asia/the Pacific Rim.  Sales to customers outside of 
the United States accounted for 25%, 23%, and 21% of our revenues for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, 
respectively. 
 
Research and Development 
 

Our research and development effort is focused on the advancement of our core products and the development of new products, 
as well as the quality assurance of both core and new products. For the past several years, the markets we serve have become more and 
more competitive. In 2015, it became increasingly clear that to better compete again, we needed to accelerate cybersecurity software 
development. In late 2015, we transferred responsibility for our research and development efforts to Ken Basore, Senior Vice 
President of Product Engineering, in order, among other matters, to improve the Company’s product delivery performance . In early 
2016, we introduced our first wholly new product in three years, EnForce Risk Manager, and also announced a cloud strategy that 
should yield other new products. We believe the changes in our research and development function were necessary in order to 
leverage and maximize our return on capital invested. 
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We conduct research on existing or new computer hardware or software technology to develop solutions for our law-

enforcement, government, or corporate markets. We conduct research on file-system support, search and analysis algorithms, 
hardware engineering and design, industry standards, technology integrations, and user productivity and performance features. Our 
research and development efforts are often aimed at creating new standards in our industry and streamlining current processes. Under 
our customer contracts, we typically obtain the rights to use any improvements to our technology developed or discovered on 
customer deployments. Our research and development expenses were $21.2 million, $23.0 million, and $27.7 million in 2015, 2014, 
and 2013, respectively. 
 
Competition 
 

The market for our products is highly competitive, quickly evolving, and subject to rapidly changing technology. In the 
cybersecurity market, we believe our EnCase Endpoint Security product provides certain unique capabilities, but we nevertheless 
compete for budget dollars against established endpoint security vendors such as FireEye/Mandiant and Bit9+CarbonBlack. We also 
compete with emerging vendors, which represent a variety of different and sometimes complementary approaches — none of which 
offers the depth of visibility into endpoint data provided by EnCase products. Gartner Research recently published a Competitive 
Landscape report for what it has named the Endpoint Detection and Response (EDR) market. It includes profiles of competitors such 
as Cisco AMP for Endpoints, Crowdstrike, Hexis Cyber, and Tanium. Noting the depth and breadth of data visibility as a competitive 
advantage, along with our key integrations with complementary technologies such as Cisco ThreatGRID, the Blue Coat Security 
Analytics Platform, FireEye MPS, and ThreatTrack Threat Analyzer, Gartner recognizes Guidance Software as a market leader for 
EDR tools. 
 

The market for software for electronic discovery is highly fragmented, and our EnCase eDiscovery product competes against 
enterprise search and content management vendors such as HP and EMC, as well as e-discovery point solutions such as StoredIQ, 
Clearwell, and Nuix; information and content management vendors including HP, (which acquired Autonomy); Symantec (which 
acquired Clearwell); EMC (which acquired Kazeon); as well as other privately held companies. 
 

In the computer forensics market we compete against a series of smaller, privately held companies, such as X-Ways Software, 
and Paraben. Additionally, in the broader enterprise market we compete with forensic vendors including Access Data and security 
software solution vendors including McAfee and Symantec. 
 

We currently compete on the basis of the breadth and depth of our products’ functionality. Additionally, we compete on the 
basis of certain other factors, including forensic technology, forensic soundness and acceptance in court, time required to complete an 
investigation, ability to scale across large networks, and expertise of consulting personnel. We believe that we currently compete 
favorably with respect to these factors.  For further discussion of our competition, see “Risk Factors—We face direct and indirect 
competition from other software companies, as well as other companies that provide training, consulting, and certification services in 
computer forensics, which could limit our growth and market share” in Item 1A. 
 
Seasonality 
 

Our business is influenced by seasonal factors, largely due to customer buying patterns. In recent years, we have generally had 
weaker demand for our software products and services in the first and second quarters of the year and stronger demand in the third 
quarter due to the federal government fiscal year end, and in the fourth quarter due to commercial or corporate fiscal year end. Our 
consulting and education services have sometimes been negatively impacted in the third and fourth quarters of the year due to the 
summer and holiday seasons, which result in fewer billable hours for our consultants and fewer education classes. 
 
Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights 
 

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trade secrets, trademarks, 
and patents, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology, processes and 
intellectual property. We currently have 24 issued patents and 11 patent applications pending in the United States, the European Union 
or under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (often more than one pending application relates to a single invention). We own registered 
copyrights on various versions of our products and associated instructional documentation. We have registered trademarks or 
trademarks in the United States and in certain other jurisdictions, including the mark EnCase® in the United States, Japan and the 
European Union, and in the marks EnScript®, FastBloc®, EnCE®, EnCEP®, Guidance Software™, LinkedReview™, EnPoint™, 
Tableau™, EnForce™ and EnFuseSM in the United States. 
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Others may develop products that are similar to our technology. We generally enter into confidentiality and other written 
agreements with our employees and partners, and through these and other written agreements, we attempt to control access to and 
distribution of our software, documentation and other proprietary technology and other information. Despite our efforts to protect our 
proprietary rights, third parties may, in an unauthorized manner, attempt to use, copy or otherwise obtain and market or distribute our 
intellectual property rights or technology or otherwise develop a product with the same functionality as our software. Policing 
unauthorized use of our software and intellectual property rights is difficult, and nearly impossible on a worldwide basis. Therefore, 
we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken or will take in the future will prevent misappropriation of our technology or 
intellectual property rights, particularly in foreign countries where we do business or where our software is sold or used, where the 
laws may not protect proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States or where the enforcement of such laws is not 
common or effective. 
 

Substantial litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in the software industry. From time to time, in the ordinary 
course of business, we may be subject to, or initiate, claims relating to our intellectual property rights or those of others, and we expect 
that third parties may commence legal proceedings or otherwise assert intellectual property claims against us in the future, particularly 
as we expand the complexity and scope of our business, the number of similar products increases and the functionality of these 
products further overlap. These claims and any resulting litigation could subject us to significant liability for damages. In addition, 
even if we prevail, litigation could be time-consuming and expensive to defend and could affect our business materially and adversely. 
Any claims or litigation from third parties may also limit our ability to use various business processes, software and hardware, other 
systems, technologies or intellectual property subject to these claims or litigation, unless we enter into license agreements with the 
third parties. However, these agreements may be unavailable on commercially reasonable terms, or not available at all. For a 
discussion of intellectual property claims that have recently been asserted against us, see “Item 3.  Legal Proceedings” and “Note 13 
— Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. 
 

In addition to our proprietary technology, we rely on technology that we license from third parties. (See Risk Factors: “Our 
success depends in part upon our ability to develop new products and enhance our existing products. Failure to successfully introduce 
new or enhanced products to the market may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations” in Item 1A of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K). 
 
Employees 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we employed approximately 420 full-time employees. We have never had any work stoppage and 
none of our employees are represented by a labor organization or are party to any collective bargaining arrangements. We consider our 
employee relations to be good. 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors 
 

You should consider each of the following factors as well as the other information in this Annual Report in evaluating our 
business and our prospects. The risks and uncertainties are described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of 
the following risks actually occurs, our business and financial results could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common 
stock could decline. You should also refer to the other information set forth in this Annual Report, including our financial statements 
and the related notes. 
 

Global market and economic conditions may adversely affect our business, results of operation and financial condition. 
 

We are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in global economic conditions, especially those in the US, Europe and 
the Asia-Pacific region. Economic conditions in the United States and worldwide macroeconomic conditions remained challenging 
during much of 2013, 2014 and 2015. If this economic weakness continues or worsens, customers may delay, reduce or forego 
technology purchases, both directly and through our channel partners and resellers. Delays in customer purchases in the future could 
lead to reductions in sales of our products, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition.  
Further, deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect our customers and their ability to pay amounts owed to us. Any of 
these events would likely harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Our operating results may fluctuate from period to period and within each period, which makes our operating results 
difficult to predict and could cause our revenues, expenses and profitability to fall short of expectations during certain periods. 
 

Our operating results may fluctuate from period to period or within certain periods as a result of a number of factors, many of 
which are outside of our control. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of future performance, as our operating 
results in the future may fall below expectations, expenses could increase and revenues could decrease. Each of the risks described in 
this section, as well as other factors, may affect our operating results. For example, our quarterly revenues and operating results may 
fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our lengthy sales cycle, the proportion of revenues attributable 
to license fees versus services and maintenance revenues, changes in the level of fixed operating expenses, demand for our products 
and services, the introduction of new products and product enhancements or upgrades by us or our competitors, changes in customer 
budgets and capital expenditure plans, competitive conditions in the industry and general economic conditions. In addition, many 
customers make major software acquisitions near the end of their fiscal years, which tends to cause our revenues to be higher in the 
third and fourth calendar quarters which coincide with the fiscal year ends of many government agencies and corporations, and lower 
in the first and second calendar quarters. In addition, many customers tend to make software acquisitions or purchases near the end of 
a particular quarter, which tends to make our revenues for a particular period unpredictable for a significant portion of the period in 
question until software purchase decisions have been made. Since certain of our software sales are large scale license agreements, a 
short delay in just one of these software sales from one quarter into a subsequent quarter or a loss of one of these potential sales could 
cause us to deliver results for a quarter that are below projections of securities analysts that follow our results. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to successfully address these risks, and we may not be profitable in any future period. 
 

If the corporate market for digital investigation software does not continue to develop, we will not be able to grow, and our 
revenues and results of operations will be adversely affected. 
 

The market for digital investigation software continues to evolve largely through our efforts. Our growth is dependent upon, 
among other things, the size and pace at which the market for such software develops. Our ability to achieve our anticipated growth 
rate may be impacted by a contraction in the global economy. If the market for such digital investigation software decreases, remains 
constant, or grows more slowly than we anticipate, we will not be able to maintain historical growth rates. Continued growth in the 
demand for our products is uncertain because of, among other things: 
 

� customers and potential customers may decide to use traditional methods of conducting enterprise investigations, such as 
reliance on in-house professionals or outside consultants to conduct manual investigations; 

 
� customers may experience technical difficulty in utilizing digital investigation software or otherwise not achieve their 

expected return on their investment in such software; and 
 

� marketing efforts and publicity related to digital investigation software may not be successful. 
 

Even if digital investigation software gains wide market acceptance, our software may not adequately address market 
requirements and may not continue to gain market acceptance. If digital investigation software generally, or our software specifically, 
do not gain wide market acceptance, we may not be able to grow and our revenues and results of operations would be adversely 
affected. 
 

If we are not able to effectively manage and support our growth or retain and attract highly skilled employees, our business 
strategy might not succeed. 
 

In the past we have grown rapidly and we will need to continue to grow in all areas of our operations to execute our business 
strategy. Managing and sustaining our growth will place significant demands on management as well as on our administrative, 
operational, technical and financial systems and controls and other resources. We may not be able to expand our product offerings, our 
customer base and markets, or implement other features of our business strategy at the rate or to the extent presently planned. In 
addition, our traditionally high level of customer service may suffer as we grow, which could cause our software sales to suffer. If we 
are unable to successfully manage or support our future growth, we may not be able to maximize revenues or profitability. 
 

In addition, in order to be able to effectively execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. We 
may need to hire personnel in virtually all operational areas, but primarily in selling and marketing, research and development, 
professional services, training and customer service. Competition in our industry for experienced and qualified personnel in these 
areas is extremely intense, especially for software developers with high levels of experience in designing and developing software 
products and sophisticated technical sales people experienced in selling our complex type of software products and selling into 
government agencies. In order to expand sales of our products, we may need to continue to hire highly qualified commissioned sales 
personnel to directly target potential customers. These new commissioned sales personnel require extensive training and experience 
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before being able to effectively market our software products, and, as a result of these hires, our sales and marketing expense may 
increase at a greater rate than our revenues, at least in the short term. The expense of hiring and training these commissioned sales 
personnel may never generate a corresponding increase in revenue. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining the necessary 
qualified personnel that our growth plan requires. In the past we have experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the 
future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. Many of the companies with which 
we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we fail to attract new personnel or retain and motivate 
our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be severely harmed. 
 

We also believe that a critical contribution to our successful growth will be our corporate culture which fosters innovation, 
teamwork and excellence. As our organization grows and we are required to implement more complex organizational structures and 
institutional programs, we may find it difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture, which could negatively 
affect our ability to attract and retain qualified and experienced personnel and therefore our future success in continuing to maintain 
our rapid growth. 
 

The failure of the legal community to continue to adopt our eDiscovery solution could negatively affect future sales, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 
 

We expect to derive a significant amount of sales from our EnCase eDiscovery solution. However, widespread adoption of e-
discovery best practices will require a shift in the way the legal community approaches discovery of electronic documents and other 
electronically stored data. Currently, most large scale electronic discovery projects are conducted by outsourced service providers that 
manually retrieve documents from each computer subject to review. These service providers have longstanding and entrenched 
relationships with the corporations that are subject to large-scale discovery inquiries or security breaches and the large law firms that 
are typically retained in connection with such discovery projects. Corporations and law firms may continue to prefer to use service 
providers because of these ongoing established relationships, and because the service providers are widely known and accepted within 
the legal community, and may resist adoption of our EnCase eDiscovery solution. Moreover, the expense of relying on an outsourced 
service provider may frequently be covered by the corporation’s insurance policy that is otherwise covering the expense of the 
litigation, including complying with requests for discovery, while implementation of our EnCase eDiscovery would require a 
significant unreimbursed capital expenditure by the corporation. The failure of corporations and law firms to adopt our EnCase 
eDiscovery solution for e-discovery could have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations. 
 

Courts could reject the use of our products, which would harm our reputation and negatively affect future sales of our 
products and services. 
 

Our software products and services are often used in connection with legal investigations, civil litigation and criminal 
prosecutions. The admissibility of results generated by our products as evidence in civil and criminal trials is a key component of our 
customer value proposition. Evidence and the manner used to collect evidence is regularly the subject of challenges in legal 
investigations and litigation, and our products or personnel may be the direct or indirect subject of such legal challenges. Persons 
involved in litigation may, for example, challenge the reliability of our products, the admissibility of evidence generated, discovered 
or collected using our products, and/or the expertise, credibility or reliability of our personnel. Other unpredictable legal challenges 
may be brought that could reflect upon the reputation of our products or personnel. To date, courts that have addressed challenges to 
our products or services have ruled against such challenges. If in the future a court were to find that our products are not reliable or 
that persons representing us or users of our product are not credible, reliable or lack the expertise necessary to serve as a witness or to 
authenticate evidence, or that our training and certification process does not adequately prepare individuals to conduct competent 
digital investigations, this could have a material adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations. 
 

A failure to attract and retain managerial, technical, and other key personnel could reduce our revenues and our 
operational effectiveness. 
 

Our future success depends in a large part upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key personnel, 
including without limitation, our existing research and development personnel. The loss of one or more of our key employees could 
seriously harm our business development, culture and strategic direction. The competition for attracting and retaining key employees 
is intense. Because of this competition, we may be unable to retain our existing personnel or attract additional qualified employees in 
the future to keep up with our business demands and changes, and our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash 
flows could be materially adversely affected. The risks involved in recruiting and retaining these key personnel may be increased by 
our lack of profitability and the volatility of our stock price. 
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Changes or reforms in the law or regulatory landscape could diminish the need for our solutions, and could have a negative 
impact on our business. 
 

One factor that drives demand for our products and services is the legal and regulatory framework in which our customers 
operate. Laws and regulations are subject to changes that could either help or hurt the demand for our products. Thus, certain changes 
in the law and regulatory landscape, such as tort law or legislative reforms that limit the scope and size of electronic discovery 
requests or the admissibility of evidence generated by such requests, as well as court decisions, could significantly harm our business. 
Changes in domestic and international privacy laws could also affect the demand and acceptance of our products, and such changes 
could have a material impact on our revenues. 
 

We face direct and indirect competition from other software companies, as well as other companies that provide incident 
response, consulting and certification services in computer forensics, which could limit our growth and market share. 
 

The markets for our software products and services are competitive, highly fragmented and subject to rapidly changing 
technology, shifting customer needs and frequent introductions of new products and services. We expect the intensity of competition 
to increase in the future as new companies enter our markets, existing competitors develop stronger capabilities and we expand into 
other markets. Many of our current competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, access to larger customer 
bases and substantially more extensive resources than we have. They may be able to devote greater resources to the development, 
promotion and sale of their products than we can to ours, which could allow them to respond more quickly than we can to new 
technologies and changes in customer needs and achieve wider market acceptance. Because the barriers to entry into software industry 
segments are generally low, we expect to continue to face competition from new entrants, particularly as we expand into other 
segments of the software industry. 
 

Several competing companies provide digital investigation software and applications that directly compete or will compete with 
our products, or offer solutions our products do not address. In addition, if the market for digital investigation software develops as we 
anticipate, other companies could enter this market through their own software development or through the acquisition of one of our 
current competitors. If these companies are more successful in providing similar, better or less expensive digital investigation 
solutions compared to those that we offer, we could experience a decline in customers and revenues. These companies include 
computer forensic companies, managed security services companies and consulting companies, such as international 
consulting/accounting firms, many of which have substantially greater resources and customer bases than we do. If our competitors 
are more successful than we are at generating professional services engagements, our growth rate or revenues may decline. 
 

We also compete with companies or organizations that have developed or are developing and marketing software and services 
that diminish the need for our solutions or the budget available to our customers to purchase our solutions. These companies include 
traditional security companies, data storage infrastructure and data archiving companies, information management, records 
management and internal IT organizations that develop their own solutions. 
 

Computer hackers may damage our products, services and systems, which could cause interruptions in our service and harm 
to our business and hackers could gain access to our customers’ personal information which could result in the loss of existing 
clients, negative publicity and legal liability. 
 

Computer hackers often attempt to access information, including personal information for purposes of identity theft and other 
criminal activity. In particular, due to the nature of our business, the products and services that we offer and the industry in which we 
operate, we are more likely to be the target of computer hackers who would like to undermine our ability to offer the products and 
services that we provide to our customers and possibly retaliate for the results or evidence that our products and services generate. 
 

For example, in December 2005, we became aware of a security breach of our electronic records which contained, among other 
things, credit card information of approximately 5,000 customers. We promptly notified law enforcement authorities as well as each of 
the customers whose information may have been compromised. We conducted a forensic examination of the incident and took a 
number of steps to both remediate the underlying cause and strengthen our internal security system, including enhancing our internal 
information technology security department and redesigning our network architecture. 
 

In early January 2006, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) commenced an inquiry into the December 2005 security 
breach. In September 2006, we executed a consent decree proposed by the FTC that includes no monetary penalties. The consent 
decree found that we failed to implement proper security measures to protect consumers’ data, and requires us to provide the FTC with 
initial and biennial third-party assessments of our IT security for a period of 10 years. Additionally, the consent decree requires us to 
maintain a comprehensive IT security program, retain documentation of such program and provide notice of the consent decree to our 
executives and employees for a period of 20 years. The FTC formally approved the consent decree on November 15, 2006 and 
subsequently issued a press release announcing the investigation and its conclusion. In April 2007, we received formal notice and 
service of the decree from the FTC, effectively ending the inquiry. In 2007, we timely filed the first compliance report required by the 
consent decree. In 2011, 2013, and 2015, we timely complied with our biennial monitoring and reporting responsibilities required by 
the consent decree. 
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Given the incident, any subsequent breach of our security could be especially damaging to our reputation and business and may 

result in monetary penalties if the FTC were to find that the circumstances that lead to the breach constituted a violation of our 
obligations under the consent decree. 
 

In addition, from time to time we may be the targets of computer hackers who, among other things, create viruses to sabotage or 
otherwise attack companies’ networks, products and services. For example, there was recently a spread of viruses, or worms that 
intentionally deleted anti-virus and firewall software. Our products, networks, websites and systems, may be the target of attacks by 
hackers. If successful, any of these events could damage our computer systems, force us to incur substantial costs to fix technical 
problems or result in hackers gaining access to our technical and other proprietary information, which could harm our business and 
results of operations. 
 

The complexity of accounting regulations and related interpretations and policies, particularly those related to revenue 
recognition, could materially affect our financial results for a given period. 
 

Although we use standardized sales agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria under accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States, we must often negotiate and revise terms and conditions of these standardized 
agreements, particularly in multi-product license and services transactions. As our transactions have increased in complexity, 
particularly with the sale of larger, multi-product licenses, negotiation of mutually acceptable terms and conditions may require us to 
defer recognition of revenue on such licenses. We believe that we are in compliance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 
Software Industry—Revenue Recognition topic (ASC 985-605); however, more complex, multi-product license transactions require 
additional accounting analysis to account for them accurately. The professional technical guidance available regarding the application 
of software revenue recognition is very conceptual, and silent to specific implementation matters. As a consequence of this, we have 
been required to make assumptions and judgments, in certain circumstances, regarding the application of software revenue 
recognition. Incorrect assumptions or judgments as well as changes in, or clarification to accounting interpretations, could lead to 
unanticipated changes in our revenue accounting practices and may affect the timing of revenue recognition, which could adversely 
affect our financial results for any given period. If we discover that we have interpreted and applied revenue recognition 
rules differently than prescribed by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, we could be required to devote 
significant management resources, and incur the expense associated with an audit, restatement or other examination of our financial 
statements. 
 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
jointly issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supercedes the revenue recognition requirements in 
ASC 605 Revenue Recognition.  ASU 2014-09 is a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard that will supercede nearly all 
existing revenue recognition guidance under US GAAP. The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when 
it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, companies will need to use more judgment and make more estimates 
than under current authoritative guidance. These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the 
amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance 
obligation. The standard was originally effective beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption was not permitted under US 
GAAP. However, on July 9, 2015, the FASB approved to defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year, beginning after 
December 15, 2017, with an option to adopt as of the original effective date, beginning after December 15, 2016. We are currently 
evaluating the financial statement impact of the new standard. 
 

Our effective tax rate may fluctuate, which could increase our income tax expense and reduce our net income. 
 

In preparing our quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements, we estimate our income tax liability in each of the 
foreign and domestic jurisdictions in which we operate by estimating our actual current tax exposure and assessing temporary 
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial statement purposes. Our judgments, assumptions and 
estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current tax laws and our interpretation of current tax laws. 
Although we believe our judgments, assumptions and estimates are reasonable, changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws 
and the resolution of any future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisions based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results 
reflected in income tax returns filed during the subsequent year. Adjustments based on filed returns are generally recorded in the 
period when the tax returns are filed and the global tax implications are known and could significantly impact the amounts provided 
for income taxes. 
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Due to uncertainty in the application and interpretation of applicable state sales tax laws, we may be exposed to additional 
sales tax liability. 
 

The Company’s sales and use tax filings are subject to customary audits by authorities in the jurisdictions where it conducts 
business in the United States, which may result in assessments of additional taxes. In March 2011, we determined that additional sales 
taxes were probable of being assessed by a certain state as a result of the preliminary findings specific to a sales and use tax audit.  
The assessment including interest is approximately $1.2 million as of December 31, 2015. The estimated incremental sales and use tax 
liability was based on a similar model that was being used by the state conducting the sales and use tax audit. Should other states 
where we have not imposed sales and use taxes determine that the sale of our products or services are subject to sales and use taxes, 
we could incur future assessments, which would require charges to operations. 
 

Our operating results and business would be seriously impaired if our revenues from our software product offerings, which 
include EnCase Endpoint Security and EnCase eDiscovery, were to decline. 
 

Historically, we have derived substantially all of our license revenues from sales of our EnCase product offerings. Although we 
have introduced new software modules, we expect that our EnCase product offerings will account for the largest portion of our 
software product revenue for the foreseeable future. We believe that the degree of penetration for our EnCase Forensic product in the 
law enforcement market makes it unlikely that revenue from sales of EnCase Forensic will contribute dramatically to future revenue 
growth. For this reason, we are dependent on increased sales of our EnCase Endpoint Security and eDiscovery product offerings to 
drive future growth. 
 

As a result, if for any reason revenue from our EnCase product offerings declines further or does not increase as anticipated, our 
operating results and our prospects for growth will be significantly impaired. Further, if these products fail to meet the needs of our 
existing and target customers, or if they do not compare favorably in price and performance to competing products, our business will 
be adversely affected. 
 

We may be limited in our ability to utilize indirect sales channels, such as value-added resellers, corporate resellers, 
professional services firms and other third-party distributors for the sale and distribution of our products, which may limit our 
ability to expand our customer base and our revenues. 
 

We may be limited in our ability to market and distribute our products through value-added resellers, corporate resellers, 
professional services firms and other third-party distributors, which we collectively refer to as third-party resellers, due to various 
factors. Due to the complex nature of our products, sales professionals generally require a significant amount of time and effort to 
become sufficiently familiar with our products in order to be able to market them effectively, which makes our products unattractive 
to third-party resellers. In addition, our competitors include professional services organizations, such as accounting, consulting and 
law firms, that would otherwise serve as a natural distribution channel for our products and related services. 
 

Moreover, there is significant competition in our industry for qualified third-party resellers. Even if we were to succeed in 
attracting qualified and capable third-party resellers, agreements with such third-party resellers are generally renewable annually, are 
not exclusive and contain no minimum purchase commitments. Such agreements may be terminated by either party: (a) for U.S. and 
Canadian resellers, with 30 days written notice after the initial one-year period; and (b) for non-U.S. or Canadian resellers, within 30 
days after the initial six-month period of the agreement, and with 30 days’ notice after the initial one-year period. If we are not able to 
recruit new qualified third-party resellers, our sales growth may be constrained and our results of operations would suffer. 
 

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and if we are unable to protect our proprietary technologies and defend 
infringement claims, we could lose our competitive advantage and our business could be adversely affected. 
 

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary products and services and to defend against infringement 
claims. If we are unable to do so, our business and financial results may be adversely affected. To protect our proprietary technology, 
we rely upon a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret law, confidentiality restrictions in contracts with 
employees, customers and other third parties, software security measures, and registered copyrights, trademarks and patents. If we fail 
to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, our competitors may gain access to our technology, and our business may be 
harmed. Any of our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated 
through administrative process or litigation proceedings. In addition, we may be unable to obtain patent, copyright or trademark 
protection on products that we spend significant time and expense to develop in the future. Despite our efforts to protect our 
proprietary technology, unauthorized persons may be able to copy, reverse engineer or otherwise use some of our proprietary 
technology. Furthermore, existing patent and copyright laws may afford only limited protection, and the laws of certain countries in 
which we operate do not protect proprietary technology as well as established law in the United States. For these reasons, we may 
have difficulty protecting our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use. If any of these events happen, there could 
be a material adverse effect on the value of our proprietary technology and on our business and financial results. In addition, litigation 
may be necessary to protect our proprietary technology. This type of litigation is often costly and time-consuming, with no assurance 
of success. 
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Claims that we misuse the intellectual property of others could subject us to significant legal liability and disrupt our 

business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Because of the nature of our business, we may become subject to material claims of infringement by competitors and other third 
parties with respect to our current or future software applications, trademarks or other proprietary rights. The legal framework for 
software patents is rapidly evolving and we expect that software developers will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the 
number of software applications and competitors in our industry segment grows. In certain circumstances, the owners of proprietary 
software could make copyright and/or patent infringement claims against us in connection with such activity. Any such claims, 
whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming and difficult to defend against, result in costly litigation, cause shipment delays 
or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements with third parties, which may not be available on terms that we deem 
acceptable, if at all. Any of these claims could disrupt our business, make it difficult to add or retain important features in our products 
and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. For a discussion of intellectual property claims 
that have recently been asserted against us, see “Item 3.  Legal Proceedings” and “Note 13 —  Contractual Obligations, Commitments 
and Contingencies” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 

If we are unable to continue to obtain government licenses, approvals or authorizations regarding the export of our products 
abroad, or if current or future export laws limit or otherwise restrict our business, we could be prohibited from shipping our 
products to certain countries, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

We must comply with United States laws regulating the export of our products to other countries. Our products contain 
encryption and decryption technologies that require us to obtain certain licenses from the United States government in order to export 
certain of our products abroad. In addition, we are required to obtain licenses from foreign governments in order to import our 
products into these countries. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in obtaining such licenses, approvals and other 
authorizations required from applicable governmental authorities to export our products. The export regimes and the governing 
policies applicable to our business are subject to change, and we cannot assure you that such export approvals or authorizations will be 
available to us or for our products in the future. Our failure to receive any required export license, approval or authorization would 
hinder our ability to sell our products and could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Our software applications may be perceived as, or determined by the courts to be, a violation of privacy rights. Any such 
perception or determination could adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. 
 

Because of the nature of digital investigations, our potential customers and purchasers of our products or the public in general 
may perceive that use of our products for these investigations result in violations of individual privacy rights. In addition, certain 
courts, legislative and regulatory authorities could determine that the use of our software solutions or similar products is a violation of 
privacy rights, particularly in jurisdictions outside of the United States. Any such determination or perception by potential customers, 
the general public, government entities or the judicial system could harm our reputation and adversely affect the sales of our products 
and our results of operations. 
 

Our business depends, in part, on sales to governments and governmental entities and significant changes in the contracting 
or fiscal policies of governments and governmental entities could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
 

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from contracts with federal, state, local and foreign governments and 
government agencies, and we believe that the success and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful 
procurement of government contracts. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we derived approximately 13.8% of our revenues from 
the sales of products and services from the U.S. Government. In 2015, 2014 and 2013, our business was adversely affected by 
government budgeting constraints. Changes in government contracting policies or additional or continued government budgetary 
constraints could directly affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Among the factors that could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations are: 
 

� changes in fiscal policies or decreases in available government funding; 
 

� changes in government programs or applicable requirements; 
 

� the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations; 
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� changes in political or social attitudes with respect to security issues, computer crimes, discovery of computer files and 
digital investigations; 

 
� potential delays or changes in the government appropriations process; and 

 
� delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices. 

 
These and other factors could cause governments and governmental agencies to refrain from purchasing the products and 

services that we offer in the future, the result of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In addition, many of our government customers are subject to stringent budgetary constraints. The award of additional 
contracts from government agencies could be adversely affected by spending reductions or budget cutbacks at government agencies 
that currently use or are likely to utilize our products and services. 
 

Because we offer our EnScript programming language for customization of and the creation of add-ons for EnCase, 
customers or third-party programmers may be able to develop products that compete with our products or reduce the marketability 
or value of our products. 
 

We have developed many of our major products, including EnCase Endpoint Security and EnCase eDiscovery,  to function as 
applications running on the EnCase platform. In order to enhance the attractiveness of EnCase to potential customers and position 
EnCase as a standard software for digital investigations, we have made available without charge the EnScript programming language, 
which permits users of EnCase to develop customized add-on features for their own or others’ use, and we have trained our customers 
on how to write add-on programs using the EnScript programming language, which is similar to Java or C++. As part of this strategy, 
we have encouraged the development of an active community of EnScript programmers similar to those which have emerged for other 
software products. While we believe widespread use of our EnScript programming language will ultimately create demand for our 
products, customers in the past have developed, and may in the future develop, software for use with EnCase using the EnScript 
programming language, rather than purchasing certain of our product offerings. Losses of sales to potential customers could have a 
material adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations. 
 

Our success depends in part upon our ability to develop new products and enhance our existing products. Failure to 
successfully introduce new or enhanced products to the market may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 
 

Our future success depends in part on our ability to develop enhancements to our existing products and to introduce new 
products that keep pace with rapid technological developments and changes in customers’ needs. Although our products are designed 
to operate on a variety of network hardware and software platforms, we must continue to modify and enhance our products to keep 
pace with changes in network platforms, operating systems, software technology and changing customer demands. We may not be 
successful in developing and documenting these modifications and enhancements or in bringing them to market in a timely manner. 
Any failure of our products to operate effectively with future network platforms and technologies could reduce the demand for our 
products and result in customer dissatisfaction. 
 

Furthermore, any new products that we develop may not be released in a timely manner and may not achieve the market 
acceptance necessary to generate significant sales revenues. As a result, we may expend significant time and expense towards research 
and development for new or enhanced products, which may not gain market acceptance or generate sufficient sales to offset the costs 
of research and development. If we are unable to successfully develop new products or enhance and improve our existing products, or 
if we fail to position or price our products to meet market demand, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be 
adversely affected. 
 

Errors in our products could adversely affect our reputation, result in significant costs to us, impair our ability to market our 
products and expose us to legal liability, any of which may adversely affect our operating results. 
 

Products as complex as ours may contain undetected errors or failures. Despite extensive testing by us and by our customers, we 
have in the past discovered errors in our software applications and will likely continue to do so in the future. As a result of past 
discovered errors, we experienced delays and lost revenues while we corrected the problems in those software applications. In 
addition, customers in the past have brought to our attention “bugs” in our software exposed by the customers’ unique operating 
environments. Although we have been able to fix these software bugs in the past, we may not always be able to do so in the future. In 
addition, our products may also be subject to intentional attacks by viruses that seek to take advantage of these bugs, errors or other 
weaknesses. Any of these events may result in the loss of, or delay in, market acceptance of our products and services, which would 
seriously harm our sales, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Furthermore, we believe that our reputation and name recognition are critical factors in our ability to compete and generate 
additional sales of our products and services. Promotion and enhancement of our brand name will depend largely on our success in 
continuing to provide effective software applications and services. The occurrence of errors in our software applications or the 
detection of bugs by our customers may damage our reputation in the market as well as our relationships with existing customers, 
which may result in our inability to attract or retain customers. 
 

In addition, because our products are used in security and forensic functions that are often critical to our customers, the licensing 
and support of our products makes us potentially subject to product liability claims. Any product liability insurance we carry may not 
be sufficient to cover our losses resulting from any such product liability claims. The successful assertion of one or more large product 
liability claims against us could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. 
 

Incorrect or improper use of our products, our failure to properly train customers on how to utilize our software products or 
our failure to properly provide consulting and implementation services could result in negative publicity and legal liability. 
 

Our products are complex and are deployed in a wide variety of network environments. The proper use of our software requires 
the end user to undergo extensive training and, if our software products are not used correctly or as intended, inaccurate results may be 
produced. Our customers or our professional services personnel may incorrectly implement or use our products. Our products may 
also be intentionally misused or abused by customers or non-customer third parties who obtain access and use of our products. 
Because our customers rely on our product and service offerings to manage a wide range of sensitive investigations and security 
functions, the incorrect or improper use of our products, our failure to properly train customers on how to efficiently and effectively 
use our products or our failure to properly provide consulting and implementation services to our customers may result in negative 
publicity or legal claims against us. 
 

We cannot predict our future capital needs and we may be unable to obtain additional financing to develop new products, 
enhance existing products, offer additional services or fund strategic acquisitions, the failure of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

We may need to raise additional funds in the future in order to develop new products, enhance existing products, offer additional 
services or make strategic acquisitions of complementary businesses, technologies, products or services. Any required additional 
financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, existing 
security holders will experience dilution of their ownership interest, which could be significant, and the newly-issued securities may 
have rights senior to those of the holders of our common stock. If we raise additional funds by obtaining loans from third parties, the 
terms of those financing arrangements may include negative covenants or other restrictions on our business that could impair our 
operational and financial flexibility and would also require us to incur additional interest expense.  If additional financing is not 
available when required or is not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop or enhance our software 
products and services through internal research and development or acquisitions in order to take advantage of business opportunities 
or respond to competitive pressures, which could negatively impact our software products and services offerings and sales revenues, 
the failure of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Acquisitions that we may undertake in the future involve risks that could adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 
 

We may pursue strategic acquisitions of businesses, technologies, products or services that we believe complement or expand 
our existing business, products and services. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

� diversion of management’s attention during the acquisition and integration process; 
 

� the possibility that acquisitions will not be completed successfully, or at all, and our potential exposure to termination fees 
and/or other costs associated therewith; 

 
� the incurrence of substantial legal, accounting, financial advisory and/or other costs; 

 
� costs, delays and difficulties of integrating the acquired company’s operations, technologies and personnel into our 

existing operations and organization; 
 

� adverse impact on earnings as a result of amortizing the acquired company’s intangible assets or impairment charges 
related to write-downs of goodwill related to any acquisition; 

 
� issuance of equity securities to pay for acquisitions, which may be dilutive to existing stockholders; 
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� potential loss of customers or key employees of acquired companies; 

 
� impact on our financial condition due to the timing of the acquisition or our failure to meet operating or synergy 

expectations for any acquired business; and 
 

� assumption of unknown liabilities of the acquired company. 
 

Any acquisitions of businesses, technologies, products or services that we may undertake in the future may not generate 
sufficient revenues or cost-saving synergies necessary to offset the associated costs of the acquisitions or may result in other material 
adverse effects. 
 

Our international sales and operations are subject to factors that could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 
 

We have significant sales and services operations outside the United States, and derive a substantial portion of our revenues 
from these operations. We also continue to expand and diversify our international operations which will increase our global reach. For 
the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we derived approximately 25%, 23%, and 21%, respectively, of our revenues 
from sales of products and services outside the United States. 
 

Our international operations are subject to risks related to the differing legal, political, social and regulatory requirements and 
economic conditions of many countries, which risks include, but are not limited to: 
 

� difficulties in staffing and managing our international operations; 
 

� the fact that foreign countries may impose additional withholding taxes or otherwise tax our foreign income, impose 
tariffs or adopt other restrictions on foreign trade or investment, including currency exchange controls; 

 
� the general economic conditions in the countries in which we operate could have an adverse effect on our earnings from 

operations in those countries; 
 

� the imposition of, or unexpected adverse changes in, foreign laws or regulatory requirements, including those pertaining 
to export duties and quotas, trade and employment restrictions; 

 
� longer payment cycles for sales in foreign countries and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable; 

 
� US and foreign import and export laws; 

 
� difficulty in monitoring or effectively preventing business practices which may violate US laws including the Foreign 

Corrupt Practices Act; 
 

� fluctuations in currency exchange rates; 
 

� compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including tax, privacy and data 
protection laws and regulations; 

 
� costs and delays associated with developing software, documentation and training materials in multiple languages; and 

 
� political unrest, war or acts of terrorism occurring in the foreign countries in which we currently operate or intend to 

operate in the future. 
 

We may not continue to succeed in developing and implementing policies and strategies that will be effective in each location 
where we currently do business or intend to do business in the future. Furthermore, the occurrence of any of the foregoing factors may 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Insiders control a substantial amount of our outstanding stock, and this may delay or prevent a change of control of our 
company or adversely affect our stock price. 
 

As of February 22, 2016, our executive officers, directors and affiliated entities together beneficially own approximately 38% of 
our common stock outstanding, including approximately 30% of our outstanding common stock held by trusts affiliated with our 
founder and former Chairman of the Board and Chief Technology Officer, Shawn McCreight, and his wife. As a result, these 
stockholders may have control over matters that require approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and approval 
of significant corporate transactions. Corporate actions favored by these stockholders might be taken even if other stockholders oppose 
them. This concentration of ownership might also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control that other stockholders 
may view as beneficial. 
 

Our business could be negatively affected as a result of a proxy contest. 
 

We have received a notice of nomination from trusts affiliated with Shawn McCreight regarding his intention to nominate five 
individuals for election to the Company’s board of directors at the Company’s 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to solicit 
proxies from stockholders in support of his five nominees. If Mr. McCreight does not withdraw the nominations and the proxy contest 
continues, our business could be adversely affected because: 
 

� responding to the proxy contest, including, but not limited to, issues related to the qualifications of our board of directors and 
management, can be disruptive, costly and time-consuming, and divert the attention of our management and employees; 

 
� perceived uncertainties as to our future direction, including, but not limited to, uncertainties related to our board of directors 

and management, may lead to the perception of a change in the direction of the business, instability or lack of continuity 
which may be exploited by our competitors, cause concern to our current or potential customers, may result in the loss of 
potential business opportunities and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners and 
may affect our relationships with vendors, customers and other third parties; 

 
� if individuals are elected to our board of directors with a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively 

implement our business strategy and create additional value for our stockholders; and 
 

� these types of actions could cause significant fluctuations in our stock price based on temporary or speculative market 
perceptions or other factors that do not necessarily reflect the underlying fundamentals and prospects of our business. 

 
If Mr. McCreight is successful in his proxy contest, part of his agenda may include further changes to our executive 

management. 
 

Mr. McCreight’s proxy contest may have a negative impact on our ability to retain key executives and employees, which 
could have a material negative impact on our operations and financial results. During 2015, we hired executives as CEO, CMO, and 
General Counsel, among others, and appointed two of the five current members onto our board of directors. We cannot provide 
assurances that further changes to our board of directors or executive management will be effectively managed to transition into 
control over our businesses. Furthermore, any changes to our management and board of directors will impact our ability to retain 
remaining executives and employees, which would harm our sales and operations and negatively impact the prospects of our business. 
 

Our charter documents and Delaware law may deter potential acquirers of our business and may thus depress our stock 
price. 
 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of 
control of our company that our stockholders might consider favorable. In addition, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may discourage, delay or prevent certain business combinations with stockholders 
owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our charter documents may make it more difficult 
for stockholders or potential acquirers to initiate actions that are opposed by the then-current board of directors, including delaying or 
impeding a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest or other change of control transaction involving our company. Any delay or 
prevention of a change of control transaction could cause stockholders to lose a substantial premium over the then current market price 
of their shares. 
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The trading price of our common stock is volatile. 
 

The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have historically been highly volatile. Accordingly, the trading 
price of our common stock has been subject to wide fluctuations since our initial public offering in December 2006. Factors that may 
affect the trading price of our common stock include: 
 

� variations in our financial results; 
 

� announcements of technological innovations, new solutions, pricing models, strategic alliances or significant agreements 
by us or by our competitors; 

 

� recruitment or departure of key personnel; 
 

� changes in the estimates of our financial results or changes in the recommendations of any securities analysts that elect to 
follow our common stock; and 

 

� market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole. 
 

In addition, if the market for software or other technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences continued or greater 
loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business or financial 
results. The trading price of our common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry 
even if these events do not directly affect us. 
 

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline. 
 

All of our outstanding shares are eligible for sale in the public market, subject in certain cases to volume limitations under 
Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Also, shares subject to outstanding options and rights under our Second Amended 
and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various 
vesting agreements and Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act. If these shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold 
in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline. 
 

In addition, our founder, Shawn McCreight, and his wife, continue to hold a substantial number of shares of our common stock. 
Sales by Mr. McCreight or his wife of a substantial number of shares, or the expectation that such sales may occur, could significantly 
reduce the market price of our common stock. 
 

Disruption in component supplies or a breakdown in the manufacturing supply chain could adversely impact hardware 
revenues. 
 

Tableau brand hardware products typically incorporate hundreds or more components from a wide range of manufacturing 
sources. In some cases these components are “sole source”, so it is possible for a disruption at a single supplier to constrain or entirely 
halt production of one of more Tableau brand products, perhaps for an extended period. 
 

Additionally, we use offshore contract manufacturing facilities for most of the assembly work related to Tableau brand 
hardware products. A breakdown in international transportation or political or economic upheaval could negatively impact our ability 
to manufacture or transport products leading to a loss of hardware product revenue. 
 

Our balance sheet contained finite-lived intangible assets and goodwill totaling $20.8 million at December 31, 2015 that are 
subject to impairment review annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value may not be 
recoverable, resulting in write-downs or write-offs. Such write-downs or write-offs could adversely impact our future earnings and 
stock price, our ability to obtain financing and our customer relationships. 
 

At December 31, 2015, we had $14.6 million in indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill on our balance sheet. Accounting 
Standards Codification Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (ASC 350) requires that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets be 
tested for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value may not be recoverable. Such 
testing could result in write-downs or write-offs to our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Impairment is measured as the 
excess of the carrying value of the goodwill or intangible assets over the implied fair value of the underlying asset. Accordingly, we 
may, from time to time, incur impairment charges, which are recorded as operating expenses when they are incurred and would reduce 
our net income and adversely affect our operating results in the period in which they are incurred. One customer represents 59% of our 
subscription revenue for the year ended 2015. If we were to lose this specific customer, our subscription operations would be 
adversely affected, and this might result in an impairment of the goodwill and intangible assets in this reporting unit. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we had $6.2 million of other net intangible assets, consisting of core technology, existing and 
developed technology, customer relationships and tradenames that we amortize over time. Any material impairment to any of these 
items could adversely affect our results of operations and could affect the trading price of our common stock in the period in which 
they are incurred. 
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 
 

None. 
 
Item 2. Properties 
 

Our corporate headquarters is located in Pasadena, California.  From January to July of 2013, we leased approximately 70,000 
square feet in two locations. In July 2012, we entered into an Office Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) to lease approximately 90,000 
rentable square feet of an office building, also located in Pasadena, California. The Lease began on August 1, 2013 and has an initial 
term of ten years and ten months. The Lease allowed the Company to consolidate its Pasadena operations into a single location. 
 

We also lease approximately 62,000 square feet at facilities in: Houston, Texas; New York City, New York; Waukesha, 
Wisconsin; San Francisco, California; Dulles, Virginia; Chicago, Illinois; Orlando, Florida, Chandler, Arizona and near London, 
England. We also maintain regional facilities in Singapore, Japan, and Brazil. These leases expire at various points through 2019. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 

On May 20, 2011, MyKey Technology Inc. (“MyKey”) filed a complaint against us and certain other parties for patent 
infringement in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. With respect to the Company, the complaint alleged that 
certain of our data acquisition forensic hardware products that we acquired as a result of our acquisition of certain assets of Tableau, 
LLC (“Tableau”) infringe three of MyKey’s patents relating to write blocking, duplication and data removal technologies, 
respectively. The complaint sought a declaration of infringement, a finding of willful infringement, compensatory damages, treble 
damages, injunctive relief, interest, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees. 
 

On July 22, 2011, MyKey also filed a complaint with the United States International Trade Commission (the “ITC”), alleging 
infringement by the Company and certain other parties of the three patents discussed in the preceding paragraph and requesting that 
the ITC commence an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930. The complaint sought injunctive relief barring 
the Company from the importation of products that allegedly infringed the three patents of MyKey. On August 24, 2011, the ITC 
commenced an investigation of the Company and certain other parties related to the complaint by MyKey. On August 31, 2011 the 
proceeding in the District Court was stayed pending the resolution of the ITC matter. On August 1, 2012, MyKey amended its ITC 
complaint to remove allegations that its duplication patent had been infringed by the Company and to reduce the number of claims it 
alleged the Company had infringed related to MyKey’s data removal patent. In August 2012, the parties completed a trial on the 
remaining patent claims at issue. 
 

On December 28, 2012, the ITC released a final determination and Order holding that no violation of Section 337 of the 
Tariff Act of 1930 occurred as a result of the Company’s importation into the United States and sale of the products at issue. This 
Order effectively ended the ITC proceeding in the Company’s favor. 
 

On February 20, 2013, the U.S. District Court of Delaware lifted the stay of the proceedings in the MyKey matter. Effective 
April 8, 2013, the parties stipulated to a transfer of the matter to the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California. On 
April 16, 2013, the Company filed its Answer and Counterclaim. MyKey filed a petition to consolidate a number of related cases, 
including the case against the Company in the Central District of California, into a Multi-District Litigation (“MDL”) proceeding. On 
August 16, 2013, the MDL panel approved the petition and assigned the MDL consolidated cases to the judge who is also presiding 
over the individual case against the Company. The MDL case will dispose of certain issues common to the consolidated cases, such as 
the validity of patents being asserted against the joint defendants. On May 23, 2014, the parties completed a Markman hearing related 
to claim construction of the patents at issue. 
 

On March 26, 2014, MyKey also filed a complaint against the United States of America alleging that the United States had 
infringed U.S. Patents No. 6,813,682, 7,159,086 and 7,228,379 by or through its acceptance, receipt and/or use of write blocker 
products, data duplication products and data removal products. The complaint alleges that such products were supplied to the 
government by the Company and certain of its co-defendants in the MDL proceeding. No damages amount is stated in the complaint. 
The government could assert a claim for indemnification against the Company but has not done so yet. Although a financial loss is 
reasonably possible, the Company is unable to estimate the range of potential loss at this time. 
 



 

25 

On October 16, 2014, MyKey filed a Notice of Status on Claim Construction Issues in the MDL action in which it 
acknowledged that MyKey will not be able to prove that the Company’s data duplication products infringed U.S. Patent 7,159,086. In 
the same filing, MyKey acknowledged that certain claims of United States Patent 6,813,682 are invalid and therefore cannot be 
infringed by any product. On July 8, 2015, the judge in the Central District Court of California denied the motions of the Company 
and other defendants for summary judgment on the validity of the patents remaining in the case. This matter is ongoing, and we 
anticipate it will go to trial in 2017. 
 

We intend to defend the remaining MyKey matters vigorously and, at this time, are unable to estimate what, if any, liability 
we may have in connection with these matters. We are unable to estimate a range of reasonably possible financial losses due to 
various reasons, including, among others, that (1) certain of the proceedings are at an early stage; (2) there is uncertainty as to the 
outcome of pending appeals, motions, or settlements; (3) there are significant factual issues to be resolved; (4) there are unresolved 
negotiations with certain indemnitors or indemnitees of the Company, related to the actions; and (5) we have meritorious defenses that 
we intend to assert. 
 

From time to time, we may become involved in various other lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course 
of business. Litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time 
that may harm our business. We are not currently aware of any such other legal proceedings or claims that are likely to have a material 
impact on our business. 
 
Item 4. Removed & Reserved 
 

(not applicable) 
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PART II 
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
 

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GUID”.  The following table sets forth the 
range of high and low sales prices on the NASDAQ Global Market of the common stock for the periods indicated. 
 
  Fiscal 2015  Fiscal 2014  
  High  Low  High  Low  
First Quarter ...............................................................   $ 7.23 $ 5.31  $ 11.54  $ 8.92 
Second Quarter ..........................................................   9.22  5.45  11.25  8.12 
Third Quarter .............................................................   10.07  5.80  10.09  6.41 
Fourth Quarter............................................................   6.75  4.93  7.26  5.33 
 

As of January 31, 2016, there were 20 holders of record of our common stock.  On February 22, 2016, the last sale price 
reported on the NASDAQ Global Market for our common stock was $5.00 per share. 
 

We anticipate that any future earnings will be retained to finance continuing development of our business. Accordingly, we do 
not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will 
be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon our results of operation, financial condition and other factors as the 
Board of Directors, in its discretion, deems relevant. 
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer 
 

In August 2008, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock having an aggregate 
value of up to $8.0 million. As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $3.6 million remaining under this authorization. The 
authorization allows us to repurchase our common stock from time to time through open market purchases and negotiated 
transactions, or otherwise. There were no open market purchases during 2015, 2014, or 2013. The timing, nature and amount of such 
transactions will depend on a variety of factors, including market conditions, and the program may be suspended, discontinued or 
accelerated at any time. The sources of funds for the purchases under the remaining authorization are our existing cash on hand and 
cash from operations. Purchases are made in the open market, through block trades and other negotiated transactions. Repurchased 
shares are held in Treasury Stock and have not been retired. 
 

Employee transactions listed in the table below consist of shares withheld by the Company to satisfy employee personal income 
tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of share awards issued under our equity compensation plans.  Withholdings are limited 
to minimum statutory requirements.  As of January 2014, the Company no longer withholds shares to satisfy employee personal 
income tax withholding requirements upon vesting. 
 

Period  

Total Number 
of Shares 

Repurchased 
(in thousands)  

Average 
Price Paid 
Per Share  

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased as 
Part of Publicly 

Announced 
Program  

Approximate 
Dollar Value of 
Shares that May 

Yet Be Purchased 
under the 
Program  

January 1 to December 31, 2013 ................................          
Employee transactions ...........................................   284  $ 9.96  —  — 

Total Employee transactions ......................................   284  $ 9.96  —  — 
 



27 

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return 

The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock for each of the last 
five fiscal years with two indices: (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index (symbol: ^IXIC) and (ii) the NASDAQ Computer Index 
(symbol: ^IXCO). The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 at the beginning of the five year period and that all dividends have 
been reinvested.  No cash dividends have been declared on our common stock.  The quotes were obtained from 
http://finance.yahoo.com. The comparisons in the graph are required by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of 
the possible future performance of our common stock. 

 

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN 

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data 

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data.”  The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the 
selected consolidated statement of operations data for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, have been 
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which are included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data” to this Annual Report.  The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and selected 
consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 have been derived from our audited 
consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report.  Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to 
be expected in the future. 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011  

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:            
Revenues:            

Product revenue ........................................................   $ 31,897  $ 34,412  $ 34,203 $ 56,116 $ 52,345 
Services revenue .......................................................   35,264  34,333  38,506  37,095  22,765  
Maintenance revenue ................................................   39,845  39,911  37,815  36,259  29,491  

Total revenues ...............................................................   107,006  108,656  110,524  129,470  104,601  
Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and 

amortization, shown below):            
Cost of product revenue ............................................   8,869  8,427  7,450  7,982  5,973  
Cost of services revenue ...........................................   24,349  25,385  28,055  26,499  19,914  
Cost of maintenance revenue ....................................   2,428  2,194  2,015  1,956  2,539  

Total cost of revenues (excluding depreciation  35,646  36,006  37,520  36,437  28,426  
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  2012  2011  

and amortization, shown below) ...............................  
Operating expenses:            

Selling and marketing ...............................................   38,710  39,011  41,486  42,278  36,992  
Research and development .......................................   21,180  22,998  27,744  24,459  18,882  
General and administrative .......................................   19,131  18,350  17,403  21,224  16,432  
Depreciation and amortization ..................................   6,403  7,426  7,678  6,859  5,424  

Total operating expenses ...............................................   85,424  87,785  94,311  94,820  77,730  
Operating loss ...............................................................   (14,064 ) (15,135 ) (21,307 ) (1,787 ) (1,555 ) 
Other income and expense:            

Interest income ..........................................................   11  13  22  39  53  
Interest expense .........................................................   (9 ) (12 ) (34 ) (72 ) (9 ) 
Other income, net ......................................................   27  669  36  25  20  

Total other income and expense ....................................   29  670  24  (8 ) 64  
Loss before income taxes ..............................................   (14,035 ) (14,465 ) (21,283 ) (1,795 ) (1,491 ) 
Income tax provision.....................................................   360  264  217  188  158  
Net loss .........................................................................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729 ) $ (21,500) $ (1,983) $ (1,649) 
Net loss per share:            

Basic .........................................................................   $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55 ) $ (0.83) $ (0.08) $ (0.07) 
Diluted ......................................................................   $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55 ) $ (0.83) $ (0.08) $ (0.07) 

Weighted average number of shares used in per 
share calculations(1):            
Basic .........................................................................   27,953  26,758  25,757  24,577  23,252  
Diluted ......................................................................   27,953  26,758  25,757  24,577  23,252  

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  2012  2011  
Share-Based Compensation Data(2):           
Cost of product revenue ....................................   $ 106  $ 131 $ 137  $ 101 $ 82 
Cost of services revenue ...................................   1,125  1,398  1,347  1,100  813 
Cost of maintenance revenue ............................   157  149  126  83  85 
Selling and marketing .......................................   1,375  1,308  2,100  1,639  1,613 
Research and development ...............................   1,648  1,783  2,044  1,428  1,373 
General and administrative ...............................   2,351  1,925  1,872  1,500  1,566 
Total share-based compensation .......................   $ 6,762  $ 6,694 $ 7,626  $ 5,851 $ 5,532 
 
  As of December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  2012  2011  
Balance Sheet Data:           
Cash and cash equivalents ................................   $ 18,967  $ 18,355 $ 19,919  $ 32,606 $ 37,048 
Total assets ........................................................   $ 82,290  $ 85,827 $ 89,231  $ 100,574 $ 77,328 
Capital leases and other long term liabilities ....   $ 649  $ 712 $ 340  $ 574 $ 113 
Deferred revenues .............................................   $ 49,795  $ 45,360 $ 41,663  $ 43,452 $ 39,582 
Total stockholders’ equity .................................   $ 11,238  $ 17,184 $ 24,040  $ 39,020 $ 24,311 
 

 
(1) See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the determination of the number of shares used to 

compute basic and diluted per share amounts. 
 
(2) Non-cash compensation recorded for each of the last five years five years ended December 31, 2015 relates to stock options and 

restricted stock granted to employees measured under the fair value method and includes costs related to nonvested share grants. 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the financial 
statements and related notes that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion may contain forward- 
looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties.  Our actual results may differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” or 
in other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Overview 
 

We develop and provide a leading software and hardware solutions for digital investigations, including EnCase Endpoint 
Security, EnCase eDiscovery, and EnCase Endpoint Investigator, which are network-enabled products primarily for corporations and 
government agencies, and EnCase Forensic, a desktop-based product primarily for law enforcement agencies and digital investigators. 
 

We were incorporated and commenced operations in 1997.  From 1997 through 2002, we generated a substantial portion of our 
revenues from the sale of our EnCase Forensic products and related services.  We have experienced increases in our revenues as a 
result of the release of our EnCase Enterprise product in late 2002 (which was replaced by our EnCase Endpoint Investigator in 2015), 
which expanded our customer base into corporate enterprises and federal government agencies.  In addition, the releases of our 
EnCase eDiscovery solution in late 2005 and EnCase Information Assurance solution in late 2006 (which was replaced by our EnCase 
Cybersecurity solution in 2009) have increased our revenues.  In May 2010, we added a family of data acquisition forensic hardware 
products including forensic duplicators, multiple write blockers and other hardware through our acquisition of Tableau, LLC 
(“Tableau”).  In February 2012, we added cloud-based document review and production software-as-a-service for corporations and 
law firms through our acquisition of CaseCentral, Inc.  In September 2013, we introduced EnCase Analytics, a security intelligence 
solution that exposes threats that evade detection using insights from endpoint data.  In 2015, we combined EnCase Cybersecurity and 
EnCase Analytics to form our EnCase Endpoint Security solution.  We anticipate that sales of our EnCase products and related 
services, in particular our EnCase Endpoint Security , EnCase eDiscovery, and EnCase Forensic solutions, and sales of our forensic 
hardware products will comprise a substantial portion of our future revenues. 
 
Important Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations 
 

There are a number of trends that may affect our business and our industry.  We have identified factors that we expect to play an 
important role in our future growth and profitability.  Some of these trends or other factors include: 
 

� Legislative and regulatory developments. Our digital investigation solutions allow law enforcement agencies, government 
organizations and corporations to conduct investigations within the legal and regulatory framework.  Historically, the 
implementation of new laws and regulations surrounding digital investigations has helped create demand for our products. 
Future changes in applicable laws or regulations could enhance or detract from the desirability of our products. 

 
� Information technology budgets. Deployment of our solutions may require a substantial capital expenditure by our 

customers.  Budgets for information technology-related capital expenditures at corporations and all levels of government 
organizations are typically cyclical in nature, with generally higher budgets in times of improving economic conditions 
and lower budgets in times of economic slowdowns. 

 
� Law enforcement agency budgets. We sell our EnCase Forensic products and training services primarily to law 

enforcement agencies.  Because of the limited nature of law enforcement budgets, funds are typically initially allocated 
toward solving issues perceived to be the most pressing.  Sales of our products could be impacted by changes in the 
budgets of law enforcement agencies or in the relative priority assigned to digital law enforcement investigations. 

 
� Prevalence and impact of security breaches, hacking incidents and spread of malicious software. The increasing 

sophistication of security breaches and hacking attacks on government and private networks and the global spread of 
malicious software, such as viruses, worms and rootkits, have increased the focus of corporations and large government 
organizations on digital investigations and other aspects of network security, which has, in turn, increased demand for our 
products.  Future changes in the number and severity of such breaches, attacks or the spread of malicious software could 
have an effect on the demand for our products. 
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� Seasonality in revenues. We experience seasonality in our revenues, with the third and fourth quarters typically having the 
highest revenues for the year.  We believe that this seasonality results primarily from our customers’ budgeting cycles.  
The federal government budget year ends in the third calendar quarter of the year and a majority of corporate budget years 
end in the fourth calendar quarter of the year.  In addition, our customers also tend to make software purchases near the 
end of a particular quarter, which tends to make our revenues for a particular period unpredictable for a significant portion 
of that period.  We expect that this seasonality within particular years and unpredictability within particular quarterly 
periods will continue for the foreseeable future. 

 
� Amount of commercial litigation. Because commercial litigation often involves e-discovery, an increase in commercial 

litigation could increase demand for our products and services, while a decrease in commercial litigation could decrease 
demand. 

 
Summary of Results of Operations 
 

Our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $107.0 million, a decrease of $1.7 million, or 2%, from $108.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  Product revenue was $31.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease 
of $2.5 million, or 7%, from $34.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  Services revenue was $35.3 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2015, an increase of $1.0 million, or 3%, from $34.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  
Maintenance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 remained essentially flat year over year at $39.9 million as compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease in our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to 2014 was 
primarily due to a decrease in product revenue, partially offset by an increase in services revenue. 
 

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $14.4 million, or $0.51 per share, compared to a net loss of $14.7 
million, or $0.55 per share, for 2014.  Our future profitability is primarily dependent upon revenue from the sale of our products.  The 
primary contributor to the increase in our net loss for 2015 was a decrease in revenues compared with 2014. 
 
Sources of Revenue 
 

Our software product sales transactions typically include the following elements: (i) a software license fee paid for the use of 
our products under a perpetual license term, or for a specific term; (ii) an arrangement for first-year support and maintenance, which 
includes unspecified software updates, upgrades and post-contract support; (iii) and professional services for installation, 
implementation, consulting and training. We also generate revenues from cloud-based document review and production software sold 
as subscription services. We derive the majority of our revenues from sales of our software products. We sell our software products 
and services primarily through our direct sales force and increasingly through resellers. We sell our hardware products primarily 
through resellers. 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)  2015  Change %  2014  Change %  2013  
Product revenue ................................................   $ 31,897  (7)%  $ 34,412  1%  $ 34,203 
Services revenue ...............................................   35,264  3%  34,333  (11)%  38,506 
Maintenance revenue ........................................   39,845  —%  39,911  6%  37,815 
Total revenues ...................................................   $ 107,006  (2)%  $ 108,656  (2)%  $ 110,524 
 
Product Revenue 
 

We generate product revenue principally from two product categories: Enterprise products and Forensic products.  Our 
Enterprise products include revenue related to licenses of our EnCase Endpoint Security, EnCase eDiscovery, and EnCase Endpoint 
Investigator sales.  Our Forensic products include revenue related to EnCase Forensic, EnCase Portable, and forensic appliance sales.  
During the first two quarters of each fiscal year, we typically experience our lowest levels of product sales due to the seasonal 
budgetary cycles of our customers.  The third quarter is typically the strongest quarter for sales to our federal government customers. 
Typically, sales to our corporate customers are highest in the fourth quarter. 
 

Product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased $2.5 million, or 7%, to $31.9 million from $34.4 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease was primarily due to $1.2 million decrease, or 8%, to $12.6 million from $13.8 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014 in Enterprise products due to the timing of our transition to a more channel-focused 
sales model for our Enterprise products and a $1.0 million decrease, or 10%, to $8.9 million from $9.9 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 in forensic software sales due to weakness in government spending. 
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Product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $0.2 million, or 1%, to $34.4 million from $34.2 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2013.  The increase was due to a $1.1 million increase, or 11%, to $10.7 million from $9.6 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2013,  in hardware revenues due to new versions of our hardware products being released, partially 
offset by a $0.9 million decrease, or 8%, to $9.9 million from $10.8 million, in forensic products revenues resulting from continued 
weakness in spending by our government customers. 
 
Services Revenue 
 

We generate services revenue from professional services, training and subscription services.  Our professional services provides 
various consulting services to our clients, including network security incident response, e-discovery, civil/criminal digital 
investigation, implementation services, as well as a software advisory program. Our training services educate students in computer 
forensics principles and the use of our EnCase software products and methodology. Subscription service customers have the right to 
access our cloud-based document review and production software; however, they may not take possession of the software at any time 
during the term of the agreement. We generate subscription revenue principally from two types of customers: corporate or large 
enterprise customers who typically use our cloud-based software to host multiple legal cases on an ongoing basis, and law firm 
customers, who typically use our cloud-based software to host single cases. 
 

Services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $1.0 million, or 3%, to $35.3 million from $34.3 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2014.  The increase is primarily due to a $2.0 million increase in our professional services revenue due 
to increased case work and incident response work, partially offset by a $1.0 million decrease in subscription revenue due to 
reductions in single-case law firm engagements. 
 

Services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased $4.2 million, or 11%, to $34.3 from $38.5 for the year ended 
December 31, 2013.  The decrease is due to a $2.9 million decrease in subscription revenue due to downward facing pricing pressure 
in the eDiscovery sector and reduced revenue as a result of single-use law firm customers transitioning their cases from production to 
archive status, and a $1.3 million decrease in professional services revenue due to a decrease in case work and incident response for 
our cloud-based subscriptions due to lower demand for our services from hosting customers. 
 
Maintenance Revenue 
 

Maintenance revenue is generated from customers who purchase software maintenance services with new product license for 
on-premise products. Software maintenance includes software updates and upgrades, telephone and e-mail support, as well as self-
service on our website. 
 

Maintenance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 remained essentially flat year over year at $39.9 million as 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to revenue from additional maintenance contracts during the year being 
offset by maintenance contract non-renewals. 
 

Maintenance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $2.1 million, or 6%, to $39.9 million from $37.8 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The increase is primarily due to sustained increases in our installed product base and 
customers desiring to continue maintenance support on our products. 
 
Cost of Revenues 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)  2015  Change %  2014  Change %  2013  
Cost of product revenue ....................................   $ 8,869  5%  $ 8,427  13%  $ 7,450 
Cost of services revenue ...................................   24,349  (4)%  25,385  (10)%  28,055 
Cost of maintenance revenue ............................   2,428  11%  2,194  9%  2,015 
Total cost of revenues .......................................   $ 35,646  (1)%  $ 36,006  (4)%  $ 37,520 
Share-based compensation included above:           

Cost of product revenue ................................   $ 106    $ 131    $ 137 
Cost of services revenue ...............................   $ 1,125    $ 1,398    $ 1,347 
Cost of maintenance revenues.......................   $ 157    $ 149    $ 126 
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Gross Margin Percentage            
 
Products ............................................................   72.2 %   75.5 %   78.2 % 
Services .............................................................   31.0 %   26.1 %   27.1 % 
Maintenance ......................................................   93.9 %   94.5 %   94.7 % 
Total ..................................................................   66.7 %   66.9 %   66.1 % 
 
Cost of Product Revenue 
 

The cost of product revenue consists principally of the cost of producing our software products, the cost of manufacturing our 
hardware products and product distribution costs, including the cost of packaging, shipping, customs duties, and compensation and 
related overhead expenses.  While these costs are primarily variable with respect to sales volumes, they remain low in relation to the 
revenue generated and result in higher gross margins than our services and maintenance businesses.  Our gross margins can be 
affected by product mix, as our enterprise products are generally higher margin products than our forensic products, which include 
software and hardware. 
 

The cost of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $0.5 million, or 5%, to $8.9 million from $8.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The increase was primarily due to a $0.4 million increase in appliance costs which 
resulted in a lower gross margin of 72.2% in 2015 as compared to 75.5% in 2014. 
 

The cost of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $1.0 million, or 13%, to $8.4 million from $7.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The increase was primarily due to a $0.8 million increase in hardware costs and a $0.3 
million increase in Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) royalty expense associated with higher sales of hardware.  Product 
gross margin decreased to 75.5% in 2014 from 78.2% in 2013 primarily due to the increase in hardware sales which have a lower 
gross margin than our enterprise and forensic software sales. 
 
Cost of Services Revenue 
 

The cost of services revenue consists principally of employee compensation costs, including share-based compensation and 
related overhead, travel, facilities cost, software maintenance paid to third party vendors, and SaaS hosting infrastructure costs 
associated with professional services, training, and subscription services. 
 

The cost of services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased $1.1 million, or 4%, to $24.3 million from $25.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease was primarily due to a $0.8 million decrease in cost of subscription 
revenue and a $0.2 million decrease in cost of training, while cost of professional services remained essentially flat year over year. 
 

The $0.8 million decrease in the cost of subscription revenue is primarily due to a $0.5 million reduction in employee related 
costs associated with a reduction in headcount that occurred in 2014, as well as a $0.2 million decrease in rent expense due to the 
relocation of our data center to a less expensive location in the second quarter of 2014. 
 

The decrease in the cost of training was primarily related to a $0.1 million decrease in compensation and employee related costs 
associated with a reduction in headcount that occurred in 2014 and a $45,000 reduction in realignment expense that occurred in 2014 
that did not reoccur in 2015. 
 

The cost of services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased $2.7 million, or 10%, to $25.4 million from $28.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The decrease was primarily due to a $2.6 million decrease in the cost of professional 
services revenue due to a decrease in compensation and related expenses associated with a reduction in headcount. 
 

Services gross margin increased to 31.0% in 2015 from 26.1% in 2014, primarily due to a higher utilization rates in our 
professional services business. 
 
Cost of Maintenance Revenue 
 

The cost of maintenance revenue includes third-party outsourcing fees, employee compensation costs for customer technical 
support and related overhead costs. 
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The cost of maintenance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $0.2 million, or 11%, to $2.4 million from 
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The increase was primarily due to $0.2 million increase in compensation and 
employee-related costs due to annual merit increases and an increase in headcount. 
 

The cost of maintenance revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $0.2 million, or 9%, to $2.2 million from $2.0 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation and employee-related 
costs.  Maintenance gross margin was 93.9% in 2015, compared to 94.5% in 2014.  The lower gross margin was primarily a result of 
higher costs of maintenance while revenues remained essentially flat. 
 
Operating Expenses 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)  2015  Change %  2014  Change %  2013  
Selling and marketing expenses ........................   $ 38,710  (1)%  $ 39,011  (6)%  $ 41,486 
Research and development expenses ................   $ 21,180  (8)%  $ 22,998  (17)%  $ 27,744 
General and administrative expenses ................   $ 19,131  4%  $ 18,350  5%  $ 17,403 
Depreciation and amortization expenses ...........   $ 6,403  (14)%  $ 7,426  (3)%  $ 7,678 
As a percent of revenue:            

Selling and marketing expenses ....................   36.2 %   35.9 %   37.5 % 
Research and development expenses ............   19.8 %   21.2 %   25.1 % 
General and administrative expenses ............   17.9 %   16.9 %   15.7 % 
Depreciation and amortization expenses .......   6.0 %   6.8 %   6.9 % 

Share-based compensation included above:            
Selling and marketing expenses ....................   $ 1,375    $ 1,308    $ 2,100 
Research and development expenses ............   $ 1,648    $ 1,783    $ 2,044 
General and administrative expenses ............   $ 2,351    $ 1,925    $ 1,872 

 
Selling and Marketing Expenses 
 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and costs related to our sales force and marketing staff.  
Selling and marketing expenses also include expenses relating to advertising, brand building, marketing promotions and trade show 
events (net of amounts received from sponsors and participants), product management, travel and allocated overhead. 
 

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased $0.3 million, or 1%, to $38.7 million from 
$39.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease was primarily due to $1.0 million realignment expense associated 
with our reduction in headcount that occurred in 2014 that was not as large in 2015, partially offset by a $0.6 million increase in 
compensation and other employee-related costs due to a focused investment in our selling and marketing leadership. 
 

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased $2.5 million, or 6%, to $39.0 million from 
$41.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The decrease was primarily due to a $3.5 million decrease in compensation and 
other employee-related costs due to lower headcount, partially offset by an increase of $1.0 million in related realignment expense. 
 
Research and Development Expenses 
 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation, including share-based compensation and related 
overhead expenses. 
 

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased $1.8 million, or 8%, to $21.2 million 
from $23.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease is primarily related to a $1.2 million decrease in 
compensation and other employee-related expenses due to lower headcount and $0.8 million in realignment expense associated with 
our reduction in headcount that occurred in 2014 that was not as large in 2015, partially offset by an increase of $0.2 million of 
software maintenance related to increased usage of third-party licenses. 
 

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased $4.7 million, or 17%, to $23.0 million 
from $27.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The decrease is primarily related to a $5.5 million decrease in 
compensation and other employee-related expenses due to lower headcount, partially offset by an increase of $0.8 million of related 
realignment expense. 
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General and Administrative Expenses 
 

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related costs for accounting, legal, information systems, human 
resources and other administrative functions.  In addition, general and administrative expenses include professional service fees, bad 
debt expense, and other corporate expenses and related overhead. 
 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $0.7 million, or 4%, to $19.1 million from 
$18.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable 
to $2.1 million in compensation and employee-related costs due to merit increases that occurred during the second quarter of 2015 and 
the recruiting and hiring of our new CEO partially offset by a $1.2 million decrease in realignment expense associated with our 
reduction in headcount that occurred in 2014. 
 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $1.0 million, or 5%, to $18.4 million from 
$17.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable 
to $1.6 million in realignment expense associated with our reduction in headcount, partially offset by $0.6 million decrease in 
compensation costs, rent and other employee-related expenses associated with a lower headcount. 
 
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 
 

Depreciation and amortization expenses consist of depreciation and amortization of our leasehold improvements, furniture, 
computer hardware and software and intangible assets.  In 2015, 2014 and 2013, we invested $3.8 million, $1.9 million and $13.2 
million, respectively, in capital equipment and leasehold improvements. 
 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased $1.0  million, or 14%, to $6.4 million 
from $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of $0.3 million in 
amortization expenses as a result of certain of our acquired intangible assets being fully amortized and a decrease of $0.5 million due 
to fixed assets being fully depreciated. 
 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased $0.3 million, or 3%, to $7.4 million 
from $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of $0.3 million in 
amortization expenses as a result of certain of our acquired intangible assets being fully amortized. 
 
Other Income and Expense 
 

Total other income and expense consists of interest earned on cash balances, interest expense paid and other miscellaneous 
income and expense items.  For the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded income of $29,000 as compared with income of $0.7 
million for the same period in 2014.  The decrease was primarily due to a $0.6 million gain related to the sale of a domain name in 
2014 that did not reoccur in 2015.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded income of $0.7 million as compared with 
income of $24,000 for the same period in 2013.  The increase was primarily due to a $0.6 million gain related to the sale of a domain 
name in May 2014. 
 
Income Tax Provision 
 

The effective tax rate in years 2015, 2014, and 2013 was 2.6%, 2.0%, and 1.0%, respectively. The effective tax rate in 2015, 
2014, and 2013 differed from the federal statutory rate of 34% primarily due to the tax impact of deferred income tax adjustments, 
foreign tax adjustments, certain share-based compensation, and the impact of providing a valuation allowance against Federal and 
California research and development credits and deferred tax assets. See Note 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for 
additional information. 
 
Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we had $19.0 million in cash and cash equivalents.  We believe that our cash flow from operations 
and our cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 
12 months. 
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Changes in Cash Flow 
 

We generate cash from operating activities primarily from cash collections related to the sale of our products and services.  Net 
cash provided by operating activities was $2.8 million in 2015, compared with $0.6 million of cash used in operating activities in 
2014. The net cash provided by operating activities in 2015 included a net loss of $14.4 million, $6.4 million in depreciation and 
amortization, a decrease of $2.6 million in accounts payable, a decrease of $2.2 million in prepaid expenses and other assets, and an 
increase of $0.7 million in accrued liabilities.  This compares to cash used in operating activities in 2014 which included a $14.7 
million net loss, an increase of $1.2 million in trade receivables, an increase of $1.5 million in prepaid expenses and other assets and 
an increase of $3.7 million in deferred revenues in 2014. 
 

Net cash used in operating activities was $0.6 million in 2014, compared with $2.9 million of cash provided by operating 
activities in 2013. The net cash used in operating activities in 2014 included a $14.7 million net loss, an increase of $1.2 million in 
trade receivables, an increase of $1.5 million in prepaid expenses and other assets and an increase of $3.7 million in deferred revenues 
in 2014. This compares to cash provided by operating activities of $2.9 million in 2013 which included a $21.5 million net loss, a 
decrease of $3.9 million in trade receivables, a decrease of $1.8 million in prepaid expenses and other assets, an increase of $2.7 
million in accrued liabilities, and a decrease of $1.8 million in deferred revenues in 2013. 
 

Net cash used in investing activities was $3.8 million in 2015 compared to $1.9 million in 2014 and $13.2 million in 2013.  The 
increase in cash used in investing activities during 2015 was primarily due to the purchase of $3.8 million of property and equipment 
related to new servers and technology equipment.  Purchase of property and equipment was $1.9 million in 2014 compared to $13.2 
million in 2013.  The decrease was primarily due to the purchase of property and equipment related to the relocation to our new 
headquarters in 2013. 
 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.6 million in 2015 and $1.0 million in 2014 compared to cash used in financing 
activities of $2.3 million in 2013.  Cash provided by financing activities in 2015 included $1.7 million in proceeds from the exercise 
of our stock options, partially offset by $80,000 in principal payments on capital leases and other obligations. Cash provided by 
financing activities in 2014 included $1.2 million in proceeds from the exercise of our stock options, partially offset by $0.2 million in 
principal payments on capital leases and other obligations.  Cash used in financing activities in 2013 included $2.8 million repurchases 
and withholding of common stock, and $1.2 million of principal payments on capital leases and other obligations, partially offset by 
$1.7 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options. 
 

On August 29, 2014, we entered into a three year, Senior Secured Revolving Line of Credit (“Revolver”) with a bank. The 
maximum principal amount that may be outstanding at any given time under the Revolver, which includes up to $3.0 million of 
standby letters of credit, is $10.0 million. Any borrowings under the Revolver would be collateralized by substantially all of our 
assets, as well as pledges of capital stock. The Revolver requires that, if we suffer an event of default or have borrowed more than 
75% of the maximum principal amount permitted to be outstanding, we maintain an Adjusted Quick Ratio of at least 1.15 to 1.0. If the 
Adjusted Quick Ratio falls below 1.5 to 1.0, any collections received by the bank on behalf of the Company will be applied to 
outstanding loan balances before being remitted to the Company’s operating account. The Adjusted Quick Ratio is calculated by 
dividing Quick Assets (cash less restricted cash plus accounts receivable) by current liabilities (current liabilities plus outstanding 
standby letter of credit less the current portion of deferred revenue). Borrowings under the Revolver bear interest at a floating rate 
ranging from 1.25% to 3.25% above the Prime Rate depending on the Company’s Adjusted Quick Ratio. We are obligated to pay a 
commitment fee of $0.2 million over the three year term of the Revolver. Any principal, interest and any other fees will be due and 
payable in full on or prior to August 29, 2017. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all the covenants of the Revolver.  We had letters of credit outstanding 
against the Revolver in the amount of $1.2 million, resulting in the maximum available borrowing under the Revolver to be $8.6 
million.  Availability is calculated as 80% of eligible accounts receivable, with a maximum of $10.0 million.  To date we have not 
borrowed under the Revolver. 
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments 
 

At December 31, 2015, our outstanding contractual cash commitments were largely limited to our non-cancelable lease 
obligations, primarily relating to office facilities, as follows: 
 
  Payments Due by Period  

(Dollars in thousands)  Total  
Less than 

1 Year  
1-3 

Years  
3-5 

Years  
More than 

5 Years  
Capital lease obligations, including interest ........   $ 158  $ 75  $ 83  $ —  $ — 
Non-cancelable operating lease obligations ........   $ 30,969  $ 4,222  $ 12,708  $ 5,803  $ 8,236  
Purchase obligations ...........................................   $ 2,370  $ 2,370  $ —  $ —  $ —  
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Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our selling 
and marketing activities, the timing and extent of research and development spending to support product development and 
enhancement efforts, costs associated with expansion into new territories or markets, the timing of the introduction of new products 
and services, the enhancement of existing products and the continuing market acceptance of our products and services.  To the extent 
that our existing cash, cash from operations or the availability of cash under our line of credit are insufficient to fund our future 
activities and planned growth, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings.  Additional 
funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.  Furthermore, although we cannot accurately anticipate the effect of 
inflation or foreign exchange markets on our operations, we do not believe these external economic forces have had, or are likely in 
the foreseeable future to have, a material impact on our results of operations.  We have omitted unrecognized tax benefits from this 
table due to the inherent uncertainty regarding the timing and recognition related to these unrecognized tax benefits. See “Note 7—
Income Taxes” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 for further information regarding the 
unrecognized tax benefits. 
 

Effective April 1, 2014, we entered into a Colocation Lease Agreement (the “Colocation Lease”) to rent space in a building 
located in Chandler, Arizona.  The Colocation Lease expires on June 30, 2018.  The Colocation Lease will serve as our new data 
center, replacing our former San Francisco location obtained in the CaseCentral acquisition.  Rent is based on power allocation and 
ranges from approximately $236,000 for the first year to approximately $265,000 for the final year. 
 

On July 3, 2014, we entered into an Office Lease Agreement (the “San Francisco Lease”) to lease approximately 6,000 rentable 
square feet of an office building located in San Francisco, California.  The office building is the new location of our San Francisco 
office.  The San Francisco Lease commenced on January 1, 2015 and expires in January 2020.  The total annual rent under the San 
Francisco Lease ranges from approximately $295,000 for the first year to approximately $332,000 for the final year. 
 

On November 13, 2014, the Company entered into a $1.5 million third-party software license agreement authorizing the 
Company to integrate software as a component of its products through March 2018.  The agreement also provides for maintenance and 
support over a three-year period, which may be renewed by the Company at the expiration of the three-year period ending 
March 2018.  The $1.5 million is payable in three annual installments of $492,000, with the final installment being paid in 
November 2016.  The license, maintenance and remaining liability have been recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. 
 

On March 31, 2015, we amended our Office Lease Agreement (the “Pasadena Lease”) dated July 26, 2012 to expand our 
headquarters by approximately 3,600 rentable square feet. The amendment commences on June 1, 2016 and the Pasadena Lease 
expires on May 31, 2024. Total annual rent under the Pasadena Lease ranges from approximately $2.5 million for the first year to 
approximately $3.4 million for the final year of the lease. The expansion increases the annual base rent by a range of approximately 
$110,000 for the first year to approximately $140,000 for the final year. 
 

Effective July 7, 2015, we entered into a renewal of our Office Lease Agreement (the “UK Lease”) to lease approximately 8,000 
rentable square feet of an office building located in Slough, United Kingdom, which is used primarily as a training center. The UK 
Lease commences on January 9, 2016 and expires on January 8, 2021, with an option to exit the lease on January 9, 2019. The total 
annual rent under the UK Lease is approximately $267,000. 
 

Other than the items stated above, we currently have no other material cash commitments, except our normal recurring trade 
payables, expense accruals, leases and license obligations, all of which are currently expected to be funded through existing working 
capital and future cash flows from operations. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K.  
We do not have material relationships or transactions with persons or entities that derive benefits from their non-independent 
relationship with us or our related parties except as disclosed in this report. 
 
Stock Repurchases 
 

In August 2008, our Board of Directors authorized management to repurchase up to $8.0 million of our outstanding common 
stock.  Under the authorization, the timing and actual number of shares subject to repurchase are at the discretion of management and 
are contingent on a number of factors, such as levels of cash generation from operations, market conditions and our share price.  
Repurchased shares are held in Treasury Stock and have not been retired.  As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $3.6 
million remaining under this authorization. 
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In addition to the shares we have repurchased on the open market, we withheld zero shares from employees to satisfy their 
personal income tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of share awards issued under our equity compensation plans during 
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  For the year ended December 31, 2013 we withheld approximately 284,000 common 
shares.  Withheld shares are held in Treasury Stock and have not been retired.  The Company may engage in similar transactions from 
time to time related to future vesting of employee restricted stock awards. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 

In preparing our financial statements, we make estimates, assumptions and judgments that can have a significant impact on our 
net revenue, operating income or loss and net income or loss, as well as on the value of certain assets and liabilities on our balance 
sheet.  We believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in the accounting policies described below and in Note 2 to 
our Consolidated Financial Statements, included herein at Item 8, have the greatest potential impact on our financial statements, so we 
consider them to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. 
 

Revenue Recognition 
 

We generate revenues principally from the sale of our EnCase software products. Our software products include perpetual 
licenses and are related to our EnCase Endpoint Investigator, EnCase Endpoint Security, EnCase eDiscovery, EnCase Forensic, 
EnCase Portable, and forensic appliance sales. Revenue associated with the sale of software licenses and revenue associated with 
forensic appliance sales are referred to as product revenue. Revenues are also generated from training courses and consulting services 
in which we assist customers with the performance of digital investigations and train their IT and legal professionals in the use of our 
software products, as well as subscription revenues associated with cloud-based document review and production SaaS, which we 
collectively refer to as services revenue. Our proprietary products are generally sold with one to three years of maintenance, which can 
be renewed at a stated renewal rate and is referred to as maintenance revenues. 
 

We recognize revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Unit (“ASU”) 2009-13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue 
Arrangements, (amendment to Accounting Standards Codification, “ASC” Topic 605, Revenue Recognition ), Revenue Recognition - 
Software topic (ASC 985-605) and Revenue Recognition (ASC 605). While the standards govern the basis for revenue recognition, 
significant judgment and the use of estimates are required in connection with the allocation of revenue between product, services and 
maintenance revenues, as well as the amount of deferred revenue to be recognized in each accounting period. 
 

Revenue Recognition Criteria: We recognize revenue when the following criteria have been met: 
 

� Persuasive evidence of an arrangement: When we either enter into contracts or receive written purchase orders issued by a 
customer that legally bind us and the customer. 

 
� Delivery : We deem delivery of products to have occurred when the title and risk of ownership have passed to the buyer. 

Services revenues are considered delivered as they are performed. 
 

� Fixed or determinable fee: We consider the fee to be fixed or determinable if the fee is not subject to refund or adjustment and 
the payment terms are within normal established practices. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, we recognize revenues 
as amounts become due and payable with respect to transactions with extended payment terms, or as refund rights lapse 
with respect to transactions containing such provisions, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. 

 
� Collection is deemed probable: We conduct a credit review for all significant transactions at the time of the arrangement to 

determine the credit-worthiness of the customer. Collection is deemed probable if we have a reasonable basis to expect 
that the customer will pay amounts under the arrangement as payments become due. 

 
We report our revenues in three categories: product revenue, services revenue, and maintenance revenue. Product revenue 

includes revenues from software products and hardware products. Services revenue includes revenue from professional services, 
training, and subscriptions. Maintenance revenue includes maintenance revenue associated with our hardware and software products. 
Accounting treatment for each category of revenue and our most significant contract structures is further described below. 
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Revenue Recognition for Software Products and Software-Related Services (Software Elements) 
 

Software product revenue . The timing of software product revenue recognition is dependent on the nature of the product sold 
or the structure of the license. 
 

EnCase Software Products: Revenue associated with these arrangements, exclusive of amounts allocated to maintenance and 
other undelivered elements, for which we have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), is recognized upon 
delivery, provided that all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met. Revenue associated with term licenses are recognized 
ratably over the term of the license because we have not established VSOE for post-contract customer support in term license 
arrangements. 
 

Services revenue. The majority of our consulting and implementation services are performed under per hour or fixed fee 
arrangements. Revenue from such services is recognized as the services are provided or upon expiration of the contractual service 
period. 
 

Training revenue is either recognized on a per-class basis upon a participant’s attendance or, for those customers who have 
subscribed to our Annual Training Passport program, revenue is recognized ratably over the annual period. 
 

Maintenance revenue. Maintenance revenue includes technical support and software updates on a when-and-if-available basis. 
We recognize maintenance revenue ratably over the applicable maintenance period. We determine the amount of maintenance revenue 
to be allocated through reference to substantive maintenance renewal provisions contained in multiple element arrangements. We 
consider substantive maintenance provisions to be provisions where the cost of the maintenance renewal is stated in the contract with 
our customer as a percentage of the net license fee, provided the rate is substantive. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Software Products and Software-Related Services (Software 
Arrangements) 

 
We often enter into arrangements with customers that purchase both software products and software-related services from us at 

the same time, or within close proximity of one another (referred to as software-related multiple-element arrangements). Such 
software-related multiple-element arrangements may include the sale of our software products, software maintenance services, which 
include license updates and product support, consulting/implementation services and training whereby the software license delivery is 
followed by the subsequent delivery of the other elements. For those software-related multiple-element arrangements, we have applied 
the residual method to determine the amount of software license revenues to be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Under the 
residual method, if VSOE exists for the undelivered elements, this amount is deferred with the remaining, or residual, portion of the 
arrangement consideration recognized upon delivery of the software license, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Hardware and Subscription Revenues (Nonsoftware Elements) 
 

Hardware product revenue. Revenue associated with the sale of forensic appliances is recognized upon shipment to the 
customers, which include certain resellers, provided that all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met. 
 

Subscription services revenue. Customers pay subscription fees to access our cloud-based document review and production 
software; however, they may not take possession of the software at any time during the term of the agreement. In general, we 
recognize revenue for subscription fees on a straight-line basis over the contract period commencing on the date the subscription is 
made available to the customer. Usage-based fees, which are determined monthly, are recognized when incurred. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Hardware, Subscription, and Nonsoftware-Related Services 
(Nonsoftware Arrangements) 

 
We enter into arrangements with customers that purchase both nonsoftware-related subscription services and nonsoftware-

related services, such as consulting services, at the same time or within close proximity of one another (referred to as nonsoftware 
multiple-element arrangements). Each element within a nonsoftware multiple-element arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit 
of accounting provided the following criteria are met: the delivered products or services have value to the customer on a standalone 
basis; and for an arrangement that includes a general right of return relative to the delivered products or services, delivery or 
performance of the undelivered product or service is considered probable and is substantially controlled by us. We consider a 
deliverable to have standalone value if the product or service is sold separately by us or another vendor, or could be resold by the 
customer. Further, our revenue arrangements generally do not include a general right of return relative to the delivered products. 
Where the aforementioned criteria for a separate unit of accounting are not met, the deliverable is combined with the undelivered 
element and treated as a single unit of accounting for the purposes of allocation of the arrangement consideration and revenue 
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recognition. For those units of accounting that include more than one deliverable but are treated as a single unit of accounting, we 
generally recognize revenues ratably over the delivery period. For the purposes of revenue classification of the elements that are 
accounted for as a single unit of accounting, we allocate revenue to the respective revenue line items within our consolidated 
statements of operations based on a rational and consistent methodology utilizing our best estimate of relative selling prices of such 
elements. 
 

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangements, we allocate revenue to each element based on a selling price hierarchy at 
the arrangement’s inception. The selling price for each element is based upon the following selling price hierarchy: VSOE, if 
available; third party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available; or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”) if neither VSOE nor TPE 
are available. A description as to how we determine VSOE, TPE and BESP is provided below: 
 

� VSOE . VSOE is determined based on its historical pricing and discounting practices for the specific product or service 
when sold separately. In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the selling prices for these services fall 
within a reasonably narrow pricing range. 

 
� TPE . When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in a multiple element arrangement, judgment is applied with 
respect to whether we can establish a selling price based on TPE. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for similar 
deliverables when sold separately. Generally, our go-to-market strategy differs from that of our peers, and our offerings 
contain a significant level of differentiation such that comparable pricing of services with similar functionality has not been 
obtained. Furthermore, we have been unable to reliably determine selling prices of similar competitive services on a stand-
alone basis. As a result, we have not been able to establish selling prices based on TPE. 

 
� BESP . When VSOE or TPE cannot be established, we use BESP in our allocation of arrangement consideration. The 
objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the service were sold on a stand-alone basis. 
We determine BESP for deliverables by considering multiple factors including but not limited to prices we charge for similar 
offerings, market conditions, competitive landscape and pricing practices. 

 
Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Arrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements 

 
We also enter into multiple-element arrangements that may include a combination of our various software-related and 

nonsoftware-related products and services. In such arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangement consideration based on the 
relative selling prices to the software group of elements as a whole and to the nonsoftware group of elements. We then further allocate 
consideration allocated to the software group and nonsoftware group to the respective elements within that group following the 
guidance in ASC 985-605, ASC 605-25, and our policies described above. After the arrangement consideration has been allocated to 
the elements, we recognize revenue for each respective element in the arrangement as described above. 
 

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles 
 

We account for our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (ASC 
350).  Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired and is assigned to a reporting unit at the 
date the goodwill is initially recorded.  Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but evaluated for impairment 
annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value may not be recoverable.  Commencing on January 1, 
2013, the Company adopted the ASU 2011-08 issued by the FASB for the revised guidance on “Testing of Goodwill for 
Impairment.”  Under this guidance, the Company has the option to choose whether it will apply the qualitative assessment first before 
the quantitative assessment.  We performed a quantitative assessment for our goodwill and indefinite-lived assets as of October 1, 
2015, and determined they were not impaired. 
 

Our goodwill impairment analysis for the year ended December 31, 2015 indicated that the estimated fair value of all but one of 
our reporting units with goodwill was in excess of the carrying value by approximately 150% to over 440%, and are not considered by 
management to be at risk of failing step one of the impairment test. The estimated fair value of the subscription reporting unit, with 
$6.9 million of goodwill, exceeded its carrying value by 33%. The significant assumptions that drive the estimated fair value are 
projected future cash flows, growth rates, and weighted average cost of capital and market multiples. Due to the subjectivity of these 
assumptions, the subscription reporting unit may be at greater risk for goodwill impairment if actual results differ from our projections 
or there are significant changes in market and economic factors affecting fair value.  Deterioration in estimated future cash flows in 
this reporting unit could result in future goodwill impairment. Additionally, one customer represents approximately 59% of our 
subscription revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015.  If we were to lose this specific customer, our subscription operations and 
therefore future cash flows would be adversely affected. 
 



 

40 

If a quantitative assessment is necessary a two-step test is performed at the reporting unit level to assess goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets for impairment.  First, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value.  If the fair value 
exceeds the carrying value, the reporting unit is not impaired and no further testing is performed.  The second step is performed if the 
carrying value exceeds the fair value.  If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss 
equal to the difference will be recorded.  Indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed for impairment by comparing the carrying 
value of the assets with their fair values.  If the carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its implied fair value, an 
impairment loss equal to the difference will be recorded.  Application of the impairment test requires significant judgment to estimate 
the fair value.  Changes in estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and/or impairment. 
 

We primarily use the income approach and the market approach valuation methods, which include the discounted cash flow 
method, the guideline company method, as well as other generally accepted valuation methodologies to determine the fair value of our 
reporting units. Upon completion of our annual impairment assessments, we determined that no impairment was indicated as the 
estimated fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded its respective carrying value. The Company will continue to monitor 
events and circumstances which may affect the fair values of its reporting units prior to its next annual assessment date. 
 

Significant management judgment is required in the forecasts of future operating results that are used in our impairment 
evaluations. The estimates we have used are consistent with the plans and estimates that we use to manage our business. It is possible, 
however, that the plans may change and estimates used may prove to be inaccurate. If our actual results, or the plans and estimates 
used in future impairment analyses, are lower than the original estimates used to assess the recoverability of these assets, we could 
incur future impairment charges. 
 

Share-Based Compensation 
 

We account for share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock-based 
awards in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, which requires that share-based payments be recognized 
in our consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values.  We recognize stock-based compensation expense, net of an 
estimated forfeiture rate, on a straight-line basis over the service period of the award, which is generally four years. 
 

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value of stock option awards and use the closing 
price on the date of grant for the grant date fair value for our restricted stock awards.  The determination of the grant date fair value of 
stock option awards using the Black-Scholes model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of 
complex and subjective variables. These variables include the estimated number of years that we expect employees to hold their stock 
options (the option “term”) and our expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rates and dividends to be paid on our stock over 
that term. 
 

If we change the terms of our employee share-based compensation programs, refine future assumptions or if we change to other 
acceptable valuation models, the stock-based compensation expense that we record in future periods may differ significantly from 
historical trends and could materially affect our results of operations.  During the year-ended December 31, 2014, we recorded $0.7 
million in additional stock compensation expense for modified terms related to certain terminated employees’ stock options and 
restricted stock awards, offset by a reversal of $0.9 million of stock compensation expense related to the cancellations associated with 
the terminations of awards that did not vest. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, there was approximately $2.3 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost related to 
stock options that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.5 years and approximately $11.7 million of total 
unrecognized share-based compensation cost related to restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.6 years.  We expect to record approximately $6.2 million in share-based compensation in 2016 related to options 
and restricted stock awards outstanding at December 31, 2015.  See Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information regarding share-based compensation. 
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make 
required payments. The allowance is established through a provision for bad debt expense.  We determine the adequacy of this 
allowance by evaluating individual customer accounts receivable, through consideration of the customer’s financial condition, credit 
history and current economic conditions.  In addition, we analyze our historical credit loss history and apply these loss rates to our 
current accounts receivable balances to verify the reasonableness of our allowance.  If the financial condition of our customers were to 
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required in the future, which 
would result in increased general and administrative expense. 
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Accounting for Income Taxes 
 

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we estimate our income tax liability in each of the foreign and domestic 
jurisdictions in which we operate by estimating our actual current tax exposure and assessing temporary differences resulting from 
differing treatment of items for tax and financial statement purposes.  Our judgments, assumptions and estimates relative to the current 
provision for income tax take into account current tax laws, our interpretation of current tax laws and possible outcomes of audits 
conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities.  Reserves for income taxes to address potential exposures involving tax positions 
that could be challenged by tax authorities will be established if necessary.  Although we believe our judgments, assumptions and 
estimates are reasonable, changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of any future tax audits could 
significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our consolidated financial statements. 
 

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisions based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results 
reflected in income tax returns filed during the subsequent year.  Adjustments based on filed returns are generally recorded in the 
period when the tax returns are filed and the global tax implications are known, which can significantly impact our effective tax rate. 
Tax law and rate changes are reflected in the income tax provision in the period in which such changes are enacted. 
 

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.  We 
consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated 
with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation 
allowance.  In the event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the 
future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be charged to earnings in the period in which we make such a determination. 
Likewise, if we later determine that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets would be realized, we would reverse the 
applicable portion of the previously provided valuation allowance. 
 

We account for uncertainty in income taxes which contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax 
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely 
than not that the tax position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes.  The second 
step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.  The 
standard also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for tax 
contingencies. 
 

Commitments and Contingencies 
 

We are subject to certain legal proceedings, as well as demands, claims and threatened litigation that arise in the normal course 
of our business.  We periodically evaluate all pending or threatened contingencies and commitments, if any, that are reasonably likely 
to have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial position.  We assess the probability of an adverse outcome and 
determine if it is remote, reasonably possible or probable as defined in accordance with the provisions of Contingencies (ASC 450).  If 
management determines that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of our financial 
statements, and the amount of the loss, or the range of probable loss can be reasonably estimated, we record an accrued liability and an 
expense for the estimated loss.  If no accrual is made for a loss contingency because one or both of the conditions pursuant to 
Contingencies are not met, but the probability of an adverse outcome is at least reasonably possible, we would disclose the nature of 
the contingency, if material, and provide an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or state that such an estimate cannot be 
made. 
 

Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the determination of whether an exposure is 
reasonably estimable.  Because of uncertainties related to these matters, any accruals recorded are based on the best information 
available at the time.  As additional information becomes available, we would reassess the potential liability related to our pending 
claims and litigation and may revise our estimates favorably or unfavorably.  Potential legal liabilities and the revision of estimates of 
potential legal liabilities could have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations. 
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

In May 2014, the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) jointly issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, which supercedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC 605 Revenue Recognition.  ASU 
2014-09 is a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard that will supercede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance 
under US GAAP. The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services 
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. In doing so, companies will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under current authoritative guidance. 
These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in 
the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The standard was originally effective 
beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption was not permitted under US GAAP. However, on July 9, 2015, the FASB 
approved to defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year, beginning after December 15, 2017, with an option to adopt as of 
the original effective date, beginning after December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluating the financial statement impact of the new 
standard. 
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In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40), 

Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. This standard sets forth management’s 
responsibility to evaluate, each reporting period, whether there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, 
and if so, to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for annual and interim reporting periods ending after 
December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluating this new standard and expect it to have no impact on our financial position and 
results of operations. 
 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, to simplify the 
presentation of deferred income taxes.  The amendments require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a 
classified statement of financial position. The amendments apply to all entities that present a classified statement of financial position. 
The current requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a 
single amount is not affected by the amendments.  The new guidance has been adopted on a prospective basis for the year ended 
December 31, 2015.  The adoption resulted in the reclassification of an immaterial deferred tax asset and noncurrent deferred tax 
liability of $0.5 million as of December 31, 2015.  Prior periods presentation of deferred tax assets has not been retrospectively 
adusted. 
 
Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

Our Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has pre-approved all non-audit services including tax compliance services. 
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 

Market Risk. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in the 
financial market prices and rates.  Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and credit risk. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. 
 

Foreign Currency Risk. To date, substantially all of our international sales have been denominated in US dollars, and therefore, 
the majority of our revenues are not subject to foreign currency risk.  Our operating expenses and cash flows are subject to 
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, but historically have had relatively little impact on our operating 
results and cash flows.  A strengthening of the dollar could make our products and services less competitive in foreign markets and 
therefore could reduce our revenues.  In the future, an increased portion of our revenues and costs may be denominated in foreign 
currencies.  We do not enter into derivative instrument transactions for trading or speculative purposes. 
 

Interest Rate Risk.  Our investment portfolio, consisting of highly liquid debt instruments of the US government at 
December 31, 2015, is subject to interest rate risk.  The fair value of our investment portfolio would not be significantly impacted by 
either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature of the major portion of our investment 
portfolio. 
 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
 

Our financial statements and supplementary data are included at the end of this report, beginning on page F-1. 
 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

None. 
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
 

Management, with the participation of the interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has performed an 
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934).  This evaluation includes consideration of the controls, processes and procedures that are designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information 
is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating and Financial 
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Operating and Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2015, our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective. 
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Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Our internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that: 
 

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of our assets; 

 
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and 

 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 

our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and 
the circumvention or overriding of controls.  Accordingly, even an effective internal control system may not prevent or detect 
misstatements and can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.  Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, utilizing the 
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (COSO) in Internal 
Controls—Integrated Framework.  Based on the results of this assessment, management (including our Chief Executive Officer and 
our Chief Operating and Financial Officer) has concluded that, as of that date, our internal control over financial reporting was 
effective. 
 

The attestation report concerning the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, 
issued by our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst and Young, LLP, is included under Item 9B. 
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
Item 9B. Other Information 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Guidance Software, Inc. 
 

We have audited Guidance Software, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Guidance Software, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included 
in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements. 
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 

In our opinion, Guidance Software, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria. 
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheet of Guidance Software, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 of Guidance 
Software, Inc. and our report dated February 25, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
 
Los Angeles, California 
February 25, 2016 
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Officer and Director Share Purchase Plan 
 

At a meeting on February 19, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved, effective February 19, 2016, an Officer 
and Director Share Purchase Plan (the “Plan”), which allows executive officers and directors of the Company to purchase shares of the 
Company’s common stock at fair market value in lieu of salary or, in the case of directors, director fees. Eligible individuals may 
voluntarily participate in the Plan by authorizing payroll deductions or, in the case of directors, deductions from director fees for the 
purpose of purchasing Company shares. Elections to participate in the Plan may only be made during open trading windows under the 
Company’s insider trading policy when the participant does not otherwise possess material non-public information concerning the 
Company. The Board of Directors has authorized 200,000 shares to be made available for purchase by officers and directors under the 
Plan. 
 

The foregoing description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Plan and the election form under the Plan, a copy of 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.45 and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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PART III 
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 
 

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated in this report 
by reference. 
 
Item 11.  Executive Compensation 
 

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated in this report 
by reference. 
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated in this report 
by reference. 
 
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
 

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated in this report 
by reference. 
 
Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
 

The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated in this report 
by reference. 
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PART IV 
 
Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 
 

The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
 
  Page 
  Number 
(a) Financial Statements: 
  

(1) Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms ..............................................................................  F-2
 Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2015 and 2014 ............................................................................  F-3
 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 .......................  F-4
 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 ......  F-5
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 .....................  F-6
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ........................................................................................................  F-7
 

(2) Signatures .............................................................................................................................................................  S-1
 Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ...............................................................................................  II-1

 
Financial statement schedules other than those listed above have been omitted because they are either not required, not 

applicable or the information is otherwise included. 
 

(3) List of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. See part (b) below  
 
(b) Exhibits: 
 

The following exhibits are filed or furnished herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC 
(the original Exhibit number is included parenthetically). 
 
Exhibit 
Number  Description of Documents 
3.1(2)  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Guidance Software, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2) 
3.2(10)  Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Guidance Software, Inc. (Exhibit 3.4) 
10.2(7)  Guidance Software, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. (Exhibit 10.27) # 
10.3(8) Guidance Software, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Retention and Severance Plan, dated as of 

December 19, 2008. (Exhibit 10.3) # 
10.4(9)  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 23, 2011, by and between Guidance 

Software, Inc. and Victor Limongelli. # 
10.5(3)  Amended and Restated Stock Option Agreement, dated January 19, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. 

and Victor Limongelli. (Exhibit 10.9) # 
10.6(3) Stock Option Agreement, dated January 19, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Victor Limongelli. 

(Exhibit 10.10) # 
10.7(3) Restricted Stock Cancellation Agreement, dated January 19, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and 

Victor Limongelli. (Exhibit 10.11) # 
10.8(3)  Restricted Stock Agreement, dated January 19, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Victor 

Limongelli. (Exhibit 10.12) # 
10.9(4)  Form of Offer Letter, dated August 5, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Barry J. Plaga. 

(Exhibit 99.2) # 
10.10(2)  Form of Tax Matters Agreement. (Exhibit 10.10) 
10.11(16)  Oracle PartnerNetwork Embedded Software License Distribution Agreement dated as of November 28, 2008, by 

and between Oracle USA, Inc. and Guidance Software, Inc., as amended February 29, 2012. 
10.12(2) Form of Indemnification Agreement. (Exhibit 10.13) 
10.13(11)  Form of Second Amendment to Guidance Software, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive 

Plan. (Appendix 1) # 
10.14(5) Form of Amendment to Employment Letter (the Non-Participant Amendment). (Exhibit 99.1) # 
10.15(5)  Form of Amendment to Employment Letter (the Participant Amendment). (Exhibit 99.2) # 
10.16(6)  Form of Amendment to Restricted Stock Agreement. (Exhibit 99.1) # 
10.17(8)  Form of Second Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Agreement. (Exhibit 10.21) # 
10.18(8)  Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 18, 2008, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Barry J. 
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Exhibit 
Number  Description of Documents 

Plaga.(Exhibit 10.22) # 
10.19(8)  Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2004 by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Mark E. Harrington. 

(Exhibit 10.23) # 
10.20(12)  Offer Letter, dated March 9, 2009, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Rasmus van der Colff. 

(Exhibit 10.22) # 
10.21(12) Employment Agreement, dated March 9, 2009, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Rasmus van der Colff. 

(Exhibit 10.23) # 
10.22(13) Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 12, 2012, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Bank of the West. 

(Exhibit 10.1) 
10.23(17)  Modification Agreement, dated October 30, 2013, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Bank of the West. 

(Exhibit 20.1) 
10.24(14) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 7, 2012, by and among CaseCentral, Inc., Guidance 

Software, Inc., Cloud Acquisition Corp. and Shareholder Representative Services, LLC. (Exhibit 2.1) 
10.25(15) Office Lease Agreement by and between 1055 East Colorado — Pasadena, CA L.P. and Guidance Software, Inc., 

dated July 26, 2012. (Exhibit 10.1) 
10.26(16) Employment Agreement dated June 1, 2009 by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Amanda Berger. # 
10.27(16)  Amendment to Employment Terms, dated November 5, 2009 by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and 

Amanda Berger. # 
10.28(16)  Offer Letter, dated April 15, 2009, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Amanda Berger. # 
10.30(18)  Colocation License Agreement, dated December 18, 2013, by and between Digital 2121 South Price, LLC and 

Guidance Software, Inc. 
10.31(18)  Office Lease, dated June 30, 2014, by and between OTR and Guidance Software, Inc. 
10.32(19)  Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 29, 2014, by and among Guidance Software, Inc., Guidance Tableau 

LLC, CaseCentral, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank. 
10.34 (20)  Second Amendment to Employment Terms, dated December 1, 2014 by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and 

Barry Plaga. # 
10.35 (21)  Modification Letter to Extend Expiration Date for Bank of the West Loan and Security Agreement. 
10.36 (21)  MongoDB Software License Distribution Agreement dated as of November 13, 2014, by and between MongoDB 

and Guidance Software, Inc. 
10.37 (22)  Mutual Separation Agreement between Guidance Software, Inc. and Amanda Berger, dated February 3, 2015. # 
10.38 (23)  Offer Letter, dated March 11, 2015, by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Max Carnecchia. 
10.39 (23)  Indemnification Agreement, dated March 11, 2015 by and between Guidance Software, Inc. and Max Carnecchica. 
10.40 (24) Offer Letter, dated April 14, 2015, between Guidance Software, Inc. and Patrick Dennis. # 
10.41 (24) At Will Employment Agreement, dated April 14, 2015, between Guidance Software, Inc. and Patrick Dennis. # 
10.42 (25) Second Amendment to Office Lease, by and between 1055 East Colorado — Pasadena, CA L.P. and Guidance 

Software, Inc., dated March 31, 2015. 
10.43 (26)  Transition and Mutual Separation Agreement between Guidance Software, Inc. and Mark Harrington, effective 

July 15, 2015. # 
10.44 Separation Agreement between Guidance Software, Inc. and Shawn McCreight, effective January 15, 2016. 
10.45 Guidance Software, Inc. Officer and Director Share Purchase Plan, dated February 19, 2016 
21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant 
23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 † 
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 † 
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document 
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
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(1) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Form S-1 Registration Statement (File No. 333-137381) filed on 

September 15, 2006. 
(2) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 4 to Guidance Software Inc.’s Form S-1 Registration Statement (on Form S-1/A) 

filed on November 22, 2006. 
(3) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. 
(4) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 7, 2008. 
(5) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2009. 
(6) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 24, 2009. 
(7) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on March 30, 2010. 
(8) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. 
(9) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2011. 
(10) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2014. 
(11) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on March 23, 2012. 
(12) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
(13) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 17, 2012. 
(14) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2012. 
(15) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 27, 2012. 
(16) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 
(17) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2013. 
(18) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2014. 
(19) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2014. 
(20) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2014. 
(21) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
(22) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 9, 2015. 
(23) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2015. 
(24) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 15, 2015. 
(25) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2015. 
(26) Incorporated by reference to Guidance Software, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2015. 
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan. 
† These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this Annual Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not 

being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into 
any filing of Guidance Software, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation 
language in such filing. 
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Schedules not listed above have been omitted since they are not applicable or are not required, or the information required to be 
set therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Guidance Software, Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Guidance Software, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2015. Our audit also included the financial statements schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2).  These financial 
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements and schedule based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Guidance Software, Inc. at December 31, 2015, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Also, in our opinion, 
the related financial statements schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly 
in all material respects the information set forth therein. 
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
Guidance Software, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) 
and our report dated February 25, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
 
Los Angeles, California 
February 25, 2016 
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GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands, except share data) 
 
  December 31,  
  2015  2014  
ASSETS     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents ..............................................................................................................   $ 18,967 $ 18,355 
Restricted cash ................................................................................................................................   —  153 
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $376 and $634, respectively ...........   21,434  20,255 
Inventory .........................................................................................................................................   2,543  2,684 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ......................................................................................   3,335  5,054 

Total current assets .....................................................................................................................   46,279  46,501 
Long-term assets:     

Property and equipment, net ...........................................................................................................   13,513  14,558 
Intangible assets, net .......................................................................................................................   6,157  7,766 
Goodwill .........................................................................................................................................   14,632  14,632 
Other assets .....................................................................................................................................   1,709  2,370 

Total long-term assets .................................................................................................................   36,011  39,326 
Total assets ..................................................................................................................................   $ 82,290 $ 85,827  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable ............................................................................................................................   $ 3,335 $ 5,919  
Accrued liabilities ...........................................................................................................................   9,815  8,407 
Capital lease obligations .................................................................................................................   69  67 
Deferred revenues ...........................................................................................................................   41,553  39,128 

Total current liabilities ................................................................................................................   54,772  53,521 
Long-term liabilities:     

Deferred rent ...................................................................................................................................   6,947  7,661 
Other long-term liabilities ...............................................................................................................   580  645 
Deferred revenues ...........................................................................................................................   8,242  6,232 
Deferred tax liabilities.....................................................................................................................   511  584 

Total long-term liabilities ...........................................................................................................   16,280  15,122 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9 and 13) .............................................................................      
Stockholders’ equity:     

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or 
outstanding ..................................................................................................................................   —  — 

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 32,306,000 and 
31,155,000 shares issued, respectively; 30,526,000 and 29,376,000 shares 
outstanding, respectively .............................................................................................................   25  25 

Additional paid-in capital ...............................................................................................................   118,714  110,265 
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,779,000 and 1,779,000 shares, respectively ...........................................   (11,479 ) (11,479) 
Accumulated deficit ........................................................................................................................   (96,022 ) (81,627) 

Total stockholders’ equity ...........................................................................................................   11,238  17,184 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ....................................................................................   $ 82,290 $ 85,827  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
Revenues:       

Product revenue ..................................................................................................  $ 31,897  $ 34,412  $ 34,203 
Services revenue .................................................................................................  35,264  34,333  38,506 
Maintenance revenue ..........................................................................................  39,845  39,911  37,815 

Total revenues .........................................................................................................  107,006  108,656  110,524 
       
Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization, shown below):       

Cost of product revenue ......................................................................................  8,869  8,427  7,450 
Cost of services revenue .....................................................................................  24,349  25,385  28,055 
Cost of maintenance revenue ..............................................................................  2,428  2,194  2,015 

Total cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization, shown 
below) .................................................................................................................  35,646  36,006  37,520 

       
Operating expenses:       

Selling and marketing .........................................................................................  38,710  39,011  41,486 
Research and development .................................................................................  21,180  22,998  27,744 
General and administrative .................................................................................  19,131  18,350  17,403 
Depreciation and amortization ............................................................................  6,403  7,426  7,678 

Total operating expenses .........................................................................................  85,424  87,785  94,311 
       
Operating loss .........................................................................................................  (14,064 ) (15,135 ) (21,307) 
       
Other income and expense:       

Interest income ....................................................................................................  11  13  22 
Interest expense ...................................................................................................  (9 ) (12 ) (34) 
Other income, net ................................................................................................  27  669  36 

Total other income ..................................................................................................  29  670  24 
       
Loss before income taxes ........................................................................................  (14,035 ) (14,465 ) (21,283) 
Income tax provision...............................................................................................  360  264  217 
Net loss ...................................................................................................................  $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729 ) $ (21,500) 
       
Net loss per common share—basic .........................................................................  $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55 ) $ (0.83) 
Net loss per common share—diluted ......................................................................  $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55 ) $ (0.83) 
       
Shares used in the calculation of net loss per common share— basic ....................  27,953  26,758  25,757 
Shares used in the calculation of net loss per common share— diluted .................  27,953  26,758  25,757 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2014, and 2015 
(in thousands) 

 
              Total  
      Additional        Stockholders’  
  Common Stock  Paid-in  Treasury Stock  Accumulated  (Deficit)  
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Shares  Amount  Deficit  Equity  
Balances at December 31, 2012 ...................   27,792  25  93,037  1,495  (8,644 ) (45,398) 39,020 

Share-based compensation .......................   —  —  7,626  —  —  — 7,626 
Exercise of stock options .........................   293  —  1,729  —  —  — 1,729 
Grant of restricted stock awards, net 

of forfeitures ........................................   959  —  —  —  —  — — 
Common stock repurchased or 

withheld ...............................................   (284 ) —  —  284  (2,835 ) — (2,835) 
2013 net loss ............................................   —  —  —  —  —  (21,500) (21,500) 

Balances at December 31, 2013 ...................   28,760  25  102,392  1,779  (11,479 ) (66,898) 24,040 
Share-based compensation .......................   —  —  6,694  —  —  — 6,694 
Exercise of stock options .........................   244  —  1,179  —  —  — 1,179 
Grant of restricted stock awards, net 

of forfeitures ........................................   372  —  —  —  —  — — 
2014 net loss ............................................   —  —  —  —  —  (14,729) (14,729) 

Balances at December 31, 2014 ...................   29,376  25  110,265  1,779  (11,479 ) (81,627) 17,184 
Share-based compensation .......................   —  —  6,762  —  —  — 6,762 
Exercise of stock options .........................   371  —  1,687  —  —  — 1,687 
Grant of restricted stock awards, net 

of forfeitures ........................................   779  —  —  —  —  — — 
2015 net loss ............................................             (14,395) (14,395) 

Balances at December 31, 2015 ...................   30,526  $ 25  $ 118,714  1,779  $ (11,479 ) $ (96,022) $ 11,238 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands) 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
Operating Activities:       
Net loss .....................................................................................................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729 ) $ (21,500) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities:       
Depreciation and amortization ..............................................................   6,403  7,426  7,678 
(Benefit) provision for doubtful accounts .............................................   (150 ) —  600 
Share-based compensation ....................................................................   6,762  6,694  7,626 
Reduction in contingent consideration payable ....................................   —  —  (600) 
Gain on sale of domain name ................................................................   —  (630 ) — 
Deferred taxes .......................................................................................   82  87  78 
Loss on disposal of assets .....................................................................   60  249  184 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Restricted cash ..................................................................................   153  (153 ) — 
Trade receivables ..............................................................................   (1,029 ) (1,228 ) 3,931 
Inventory ...........................................................................................   141  (756 ) 80 
Prepaid expenses and other assets .....................................................   2,225  (1,453 ) 1,798 
Accounts payable ..............................................................................   (2,555 ) 1,296  2,104 
Accrued liabilities .............................................................................   694  (1,138 ) 2,663 
Deferred revenues .............................................................................   4,435  3,697  (1,789) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ..............................   2,826  (638 ) 2,853 
       
Investing Activities:       

Purchase of property and equipment .....................................................   (3,776 ) (1,911 ) (13,231) 
Purchase of intangible asset ..................................................................   (45 ) —  — 
Net cash used in investing activities .....................................................   (3,821 ) (1,911 ) (13,231) 

       
Financing Activities:       

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options .........................................   1,687  1,179  1,729 
Common stock repurchased or withheld ...............................................   —  —  (2,835) 
Principal payments on capital leases and other obligations ..................   (80 ) (194 ) (1,203) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ..............................   1,607  985  (2,309) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...............................   612  (1,564 ) (12,687) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year...........................................   18,355  19,919  32,606 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year .....................................................   $ 18,967  $ 18,355  $ 19,919 
       
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:       

Interest expense paid .............................................................................   $ 9  $ 13  $ 38 
Income taxes paid .................................................................................   $ 137  $ 94  $ 43 

       
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing 

activities:       
Purchase of equipment included in accounts payable and accrued 

expenses ............................................................................................   $ 210  $ 281  $ 409 
Capital lease obligations incurred to acquire assets ..............................   $ 58  $ 76  $ 141 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1.    Description of the Business 
 

General 
 

Guidance Software, Inc. was incorporated in the state of California in 1997 and reincorporated in Delaware on December 11, 
2006.  Guidance and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as “Guidance,” “we,” “our,” or the “Company.” Headquartered 
in Pasadena, California, Guidance is a technology company and a leading global provider of forensic security solutions, providing 
endpoint investigation solutions for cybersecurity, security incident response, e-discovery, data privacy and forensic analysis. 
 

Our main products are: EnCase Endpoint Security, which provides the ability to identify potential threats and analyze them, 
identify other advanced hacking techniques that evade traditional network or host-based defenses, provides investigative capabilities 
that target confidential or sensitive data, and mitigates risk by removing sensitive data from unauthorized locations; EnCase 
eDiscovery, which automates the search, collection, preservation and processing of electronically stored information for litigation and 
compliance purposes; EnCase Endpoint Investigator, a comprehensive, network-enabled digital investigative solution that enables 
corporations and government agencies to search, collect, preserve and analyze data across all of the servers, desktops and laptops that 
comprise their entire network from a single location;  EnCase Forensic, a desktop-based product primarily used by law enforcement 
and government agencies for collecting, preserving, analyzing and authenticating electronic computer forensic data for use in criminal 
and civil court proceedings.  In 2009, we launched EnCase Portable, a data acquisition solution that enables customers to leverage the 
search and acquisition capabilities of EnCase software in a wide range of field applications through the use of a portable device and in 
May 2010, we added a family of data acquisition forensic appliance products including forensic duplicators, multiple write blockers 
and other appliances through our acquisition of Tableau, LLC (“Tableau”).  In February 2012, we added cloud-based document 
review and production software-as-a-service for corporations and law firms through our acquisition of CaseCentral, Inc.  In addition, 
we complement our offerings with a comprehensive array of professional and training services including technical support and 
maintenance services to help our customers implement our solutions, conduct investigations and train their IT and legal professionals 
to effectively and efficiently use our products. 
 
Note 2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States (“GAAP”), and include the accounts of Guidance and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  All intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
 

Reclassification of Revenues and Expenses 
 

We have reclassified certain revenues and expenses to conform to the current period’s presentation for all periods presented in 
our consolidated statements of operations. Services revenue now includes professional services, training, and subscription revenues. 
Similarly, cost of services revenue includes cost of professional services revenue, cost of training revenue, and cost of subscription 
revenue.  The reclassification has no impact to our consolidated revenues, cost of revenues, loss before income taxes, and net loss. 
 

Use of Estimates and Assumptions 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  On 
an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, share-based compensation, bad debts, 
income taxes, contingent consideration, goodwill and long-lived asset impairment, non-monetary transactions, commitments, 
contingencies and litigation.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

We invest excess cash in money market funds and highly liquid debt instruments of the US government and its agencies.  
Highly liquid investments with stated maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase are classified as cash and cash 
equivalents. 
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Restricted Cash 

 
As of December 31, 2014, we had $0.2 million of restricted cash held as collateral on outstanding letters of credit, related to our 

San Francisco office lease.  As of December 31, 2015 we no longer held restricted cash. 
 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the 
short-term maturities of these instruments.  Based on borrowing rates currently available to us for borrowings with similar terms, the 
carrying values of our capital lease obligations also approximate fair value. 
 

Trade Receivables 
 

Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for doubtful accounts.  The allowance is established 
through a provision for bad debt expense.  We determine the adequacy of this allowance by evaluating individual customer accounts 
receivable, through consideration of the customer’s financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions.  In addition, 
we analyze our historical credit loss history and apply these loss rates to our current accounts receivable balances to verify the 
reasonableness of our allowance.  Trade receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible.  A trade receivable is generally 
considered past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than 30 days unless alternate terms are provided. 
 

Inventory 
 

Inventory is comprised of hardware components, packaged software components and finished goods and is valued at the lower 
of cost or market, using the weighted average cost method.  We conduct quarterly inventory reviews for obsolescence, and inventory 
considered unlikely to be sold is adjusted to net realizable value. 
 

Property and Equipment 
 

The cost of property and equipment, less applicable estimated residual values, is depreciated over the shorter of their estimated 
useful lives or the life of the lease (if applicable), on the straight-line method, from the date the specific asset is completed, installed, 
and ready for use, as follows: 
 

 Estimated Useful Life 
Leasehold improvements ...............................................   Shorter of life of asset or lease term 
Furniture and fixtures ....................................................   5 years 
Computer hardware and software and equipment 

(tooling, engineering, etc.) .........................................  
 

3-5 years 
 

Also included in property and equipment is software maintained for internal use.  Internally used software, whether purchased or 
developed, is capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of two to five years. 
 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 

We review our long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with Property, Plant and Equipment (ASC 360).  Long-lived 
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to 
future net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the asset.  If such assets are considered to be 
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair 
value of the assets.  Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.  To date, 
we have not determined that any of our long-lived assets have been impaired. 
 

Amortization of Intangible Assets with Finite Lives 
 

Intangible assets with finite lives are recorded at the fair value of such assets at the time of acquisition.  With the exception of 
our customer relationships intangible assets, which are amortized on a double-declining basis, the acquisition date fair value of such 
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. 
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Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangibles 
 

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired and is assigned to a reporting unit at the 
date the goodwill is initially recorded.  Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but evaluated for impairment 
annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value may not be recoverable.  Commencing on January 1, 
2013, the Company adopted the ASU 2011-08 issued by the FASB for the revised guidance on “Testing of Goodwill for Impairment.” 
Under this guidance, the Company has the option to choose whether it will apply the qualitative assessment first before the 
quantitative assessment.  If a quantitative assessment is necessary a two-step test is performed at the reporting unit level to assess 
goodwill for impairment.    First, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value.  If the fair value exceeds the 
carrying value, the reporting unit is not impaired and no further testing is performed.  The second step is performed if the carrying 
value exceeds the fair value.  If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss equal to the 
difference will be recorded.  Indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the 
assets with their fair values.  If the carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment 
loss equal to the difference will be recorded. 
 

Application of the impairment test requires significant judgment to estimate the fair value.  Changes in estimates and 
assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and/or impairment.  See Note 6 — Goodwill and Other Intangibles. 
 

Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts receivable.  We restrict our investments in cash and cash equivalents to financial institutions, US government 
or federal agency instruments and obligations of corporations with high credit standing.  At December 31, 2015, the majority of our 
cash balances were held at financial institutions located in California, in accounts that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation up to $250,000.  Uninsured balances aggregate approximately $18.5 million as of December 31, 2015.  At December 31, 
2015, all of our cash equivalents consisted of financial institution obligations.  We periodically perform credit evaluations of our 
customers and maintain reserves for potential losses on our accounts receivable.  We do not believe we are subject to concentrations of 
credit risk with respect to such receivables. 
 

Revenue Recognition 
 

We generate revenues principally from the sale of our EnCase software products. Our software products include perpetual 
licenses and are related to our EnCase Endpoint Investigator, EnCase Endpoint Security, EnCase eDiscovery, EnCase Forensic, 
EnCase Portable, and forensic appliance sales. Revenue associated with the sale of software licenses and revenue associated with 
forensic appliance sales are referred to as product revenue. Revenues are also generated from training courses and consulting services 
in which we assist customers with the performance of digital investigations and train their IT and legal professionals in the use of our 
software products, as well as subscription revenues associated with cloud-based document review and production SaaS, which we 
collectively refer to as services revenue. Our proprietary products are generally sold with one to three years of maintenance, which can 
be renewed at a stated renewal rate and is referred to as maintenance revenues. 
 

We recognize revenue in accordance with ASU 2009-13 , Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, (amendment to ASC 
Topic 605, Revenue Recognition ), Revenue Recognition - Software topic (ASC 985-605) and Revenue Recognition (ASC 605). While 
the standards govern the basis for revenue recognition, significant judgment and the use of estimates are required in connection with 
the allocation of revenue between product, services and maintenance revenues, as well as the amount of deferred revenue to be 
recognized in each accounting period. 
 

Revenue Recognition Criteria: We recognize revenue when the following criteria have been met: 
 

� Persuasive evidence of an arrangement: When we either enter into contracts or receive written purchase orders issued by a 
customer that legally bind us and the customer. 

 
� Delivery : We deem delivery of products to have occurred when the title and risk of ownership have passed to the buyer. 

Services revenues are considered delivered as they are performed. 
 

� Fixed or determinable fee: We consider the fee to be fixed or determinable if the fee is not subject to refund or adjustment and 
the payment terms are within normal established practices. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, we recognize revenues 
as amounts become due and payable with respect to transactions with extended payment terms, or as refund rights lapse 
with respect to transactions containing such provisions, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. 
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� Collection is deemed probable: We conduct a credit review for all significant transactions at the time of the arrangement to 
determine the credit-worthiness of the customer. Collection is deemed probable if we have a reasonable basis to expect 
that the customer will pay amounts under the arrangement as payments become due. 

 
We report our revenues in three categories: product revenue, services revenue, and maintenance revenue. Product revenue 

includes revenues from software products and hardware products. Services revenue includes revenue from professional services, 
training, and subscriptions. Maintenance revenue includes maintenance revenue associated with our hardware and software products. 
Accounting treatment for each category of revenue and our most significant contract structures is further described below. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and Software-Related Services (Software Elements) 
 

Software product revenue . The timing of software product revenue recognition is dependent on the nature of the product sold 
or the structure of the license. 
 

EnCase Software Products: Revenue associated with these arrangements, exclusive of amounts allocated to maintenance and 
other undelivered elements, for which we have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), is recognized upon 
delivery, provided that all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met. Revenue associated with term licenses are recognized 
ratably over the term of the license because we have not established VSOE for post-contract customer support in term license 
arrangements. 
 

Services revenue. The majority of our consulting and implementation services are performed under per hour or fixed fee 
arrangements. Revenue from such services is recognized as the services are provided or upon expiration of the contractual service 
period. 
 

Training revenue is either recognized on a per-class basis upon a participant’s attendance or, for those customers who have 
subscribed to our Annual Training Passport program, revenue is recognized ratably over the annual period. 
 

Maintenance revenue. Maintenance revenue includes technical support and software updates on a when-and-if-available basis. 
We recognize maintenance revenue ratably over the applicable maintenance period. We determine the amount of maintenance revenue 
to be allocated through reference to substantive maintenance renewal provisions contained in multiple element arrangements. We 
consider substantive maintenance provisions to be provisions where the cost of the maintenance renewal is stated in the contract with 
our customer as a percentage of the net license, provided the rate is substantive. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Software Products and Software-Related Services (Software 
Arrangements) 

 
We often enter into arrangements with customers that purchase both software products and software-related services from us at 

the same time, or within close proximity of one another (referred to as software-related multiple-element arrangements). Such 
software-related multiple-element arrangements may include the sale of our software products, software maintenance services, which 
include license updates and product support, consulting/implementation services and training whereby the software license delivery is 
followed by the subsequent delivery of the other elements. For those software-related multiple-element arrangements, we have applied 
the residual method to determine the amount of software license revenues to be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Under the 
residual method, if VSOE exists for the undelivered elements, this amount is deferred with the remaining, or residual, portion of the 
arrangement consideration recognized upon delivery of the software license, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met. 
 

Revenue Recognition for Hardware and Subscription Revenues (Nonsoftware Elements) 
 

Hardware product revenue. Revenue associated with the sale of forensic appliances is recognized upon shipment to the 
customers, which include certain resellers, provided that all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met. 
 

Subscription services revenue. Customers pay subscription fees to access our cloud-based document review and production 
software; however, they may not take possession of the software at any time during the term of the agreement. In general, we 
recognize revenue for subscription fees on a straight-line basis over the contract period commencing on the date the subscription is 
made available to the customer. Usage-based fees, which are determined monthly, are recognized when incurred. 
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Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Hardware, Subscription, and Nonsoftware-Related Services 
(Nonsoftware Arrangements) 

 
We enter into arrangements with customers that purchase both nonsoftware-related subscription services and nonsoftware-

related services, such as consulting services, at the same time or within close proximity of one another (referred to as nonsoftware 
multiple-element arrangements). Each element within a nonsoftware multiple-element arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit 
of accounting provided the following criteria are met: the delivered products or services have value to the customer on a standalone 
basis; and for an arrangement that includes a general right of return relative to the delivered products or services, delivery or 
performance of the undelivered product or service is considered probable and is substantially controlled by us. We consider a 
deliverable to have standalone value if the product or service is sold separately by us or another vendor, or could be resold by the 
customer. Further, our revenue arrangements generally do not include a general right of return relative to the delivered products. 
Where the aforementioned criteria for a separate unit of accounting are not met, the deliverable is combined with the undelivered 
element and treated as a single unit of accounting for the purposes of allocation of the arrangement consideration and revenue 
recognition. For those units of accounting that include more than one deliverable but are treated as a single unit of accounting, we 
generally recognize revenues ratably over the delivery period. For the purposes of revenue classification of the elements that are 
accounted for as a single unit of accounting, we allocate revenue to the respective revenue line items within our consolidated 
statements of operations based on a rational and consistent methodology utilizing our best estimate of relative selling prices of such 
elements. 
 

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangements, we allocate revenue to each element based on a selling price hierarchy at 
the arrangement’s inception. The selling price for each element is based upon the following selling price hierarchy: VSOE, if 
available; third party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available; or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”) if neither VSOE nor TPE 
are available. A description as to how we determine VSOE, TPE and BESP is provided below: 
 

� VSOE . VSOE is determined based on its historical pricing and discounting practices for the specific product or service 
when sold separately. In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the selling prices for these services fall 
within a reasonably narrow pricing range. 

 
� TPE . When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in a multiple element arrangement, judgment is applied with 
respect to whether we can establish a selling price based on TPE. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for similar 
deliverables when sold separately. Generally, our go-to-market strategy differs from that of our peers, and our offerings 
contain a significant level of differentiation such that comparable pricing of services with similar functionality has not been 
obtained. Furthermore, we have been unable to reliably determine selling prices of similar competitive services on a stand-
alone basis. As a result, we have not been able to establish selling prices based on TPE. 

 
� BESP . When VSOE or TPE cannot be established, we use BESP in our allocation of arrangement consideration. The 
objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the service were sold on a stand-alone basis. 
We determine BESP for deliverables by considering multiple factors including but not limited to prices we charge for similar 
offerings, market conditions, competitive landscape and pricing practices. 

 
Revenue Recognition for Multiple-Element Arrangements — Arrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements 

 
We also enter into multiple-element arrangements that may include a combination of our various software-related and 

nonsoftware-related products and services. In such arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangement consideration based on the 
relative selling prices to the software group of elements as a whole and to the nonsoftware group of elements. We then further allocate 
consideration allocated to the software group and nonsoftware group to the respective elements within that group following the 
guidance in ASC 985-605, ASC 605-25, and our policies described above. After the arrangement consideration has been allocated to 
the elements, we recognize revenue for each respective element in the arrangement as described above. 
 

Deferred Revenue 
 

Deferred revenue consists primarily of payments received in advance of delivery of products and services associated with the 
sale of EnCase product and service offerings including deferral of annual post contract support agreements.  Deferred revenue also 
includes revenue related to undelivered elements that may or may not have been sold in conjunction with the sale of EnCase products 
for which VSOE of the undelivered elements exists. 
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Research and Development 
 

We maintain a research and development staff to develop new products and enhance or maintain existing products.  In 
accordance with Software Industry—Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed (ASC 985-20) software costs are expensed as 
incurred until technological feasibility of the software is determined and the recovery of the cost can reasonably be expected, after 
which any additional costs are capitalized.  To date, we have expensed all software development costs because the establishment of 
technological feasibility of products and their availability for sale has substantially coincided. 
 

Commissions 
 

Although we expense our sales commissions at the time a sale is invoiced to the customer, revenues from certain of our products 
are recognized over the relevant performance or license period.  Accordingly, for those products, we generally experience a delay 
between when sales commissions are expensed and when we recognize the corresponding revenue. 
 

Leases 
 

We lease office facilities under operating leases and certain equipment under capital leases, and account for those leases in 
accordance with Leases (ASC 840).  For operating leases that contain rent escalation or rent concession provisions, the total rent 
expense during the lease term is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, with the difference between rent payments 
and the straight-line rent expense recorded as deferred rent in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
 

Advertising Costs 
 

Advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred and were $0.3 million and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively, and not significant for the year ended December 31, 2013. 
 

Accounting for Income Taxes 
 

We account for income taxes in accordance with Income Taxes (ASC 740).  Deferred income taxes are recorded for the expected 
tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts 
recognized for income tax purposes.  We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount of future tax 
benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. 
 

We account for uncertainty in income taxes in accordance with Income Taxes, which requires companies to determine whether 
it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of 
the benefit can be recorded in the financial statements.  The standard also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, 
accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for tax contingencies.  In addition, we have applied the standards in 
determining whether a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax benefits. 
 

Foreign Currency Transactions 
 

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are remeasured at the balance sheet date. Resulting exchange rate gains 
or losses, which were not material to any years presented, are included as a component of general and administrative expense in 
current period earnings. 
 

Commitments and Contingencies 
 

We periodically evaluate all pending or threatened litigation and contingencies or commitments, if any, that are reasonably 
likely to have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial position.  In so doing, we assess the probability of an outcome 
and determine if it is remote, reasonably possible or probable as defined in accordance with the provisions of Contingency (ASC 450).  
If information available prior to the issuance of our financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or 
a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements, and the amount of the loss, or the range of probable loss can be 
reasonably estimated, then such loss is accrued and charged to operations.  If no accrual is made for a loss contingency because one or 
both of the conditions are not met, but the probability of an outcome is at least reasonably possible, we disclose the nature of the 
contingency and provide an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or state that such an estimate cannot be made. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

In May 2014, the FASB and the IASB jointly issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which 
supercedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC 605 Revenue Recognition. ASU 2014-09 is a comprehensive new revenue 
recognition standard that will supercede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under US GAAP. The standard’s core 
principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, companies 
will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under current authoritative guidance. These may include identifying 
performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and 
allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The standard was originally effective beginning after 
December 15, 2016, and early adoption was not permitted under US GAAP. However, on July 9, 2015, the FASB approved to defer 
the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year, beginning after December 15, 2017, with an option to adopt as of the original effective 
date, beginning after December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluating the financial statement impact of the new standard. 
 

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40), 
Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. This standard sets forth management’s 
responsibility to evaluate, each reporting period, whether there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, 
and if so, to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for annual and interim reporting periods ending after 
December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluating this new standard and expect it to have no impact on our financial position and 
results of operations. 
 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, to simplify the 
presentation of deferred income taxes.  The amendments require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a 
classified statement of financial position. The amendments apply to all entities that present a classified statement of financial position. 
The current requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a 
single amount is not affected by the amendments.  The new guidance has been adopted on a prospective basis for the year ended 
December 31, 2015.  The adoption resulted in the reclassification of an immaterial deferred tax asset and noncurrent deferred tax 
liability of $0.5 million as of December 31, 2015. Prior periods presentation of deferred tax assets has not been retrospectively 
adjusted. 
 

Realignment Expense 
 

As a result of reducing headcount and consolidating office space during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we have 
incurred realignment expenses of $0.5 million and $3.6 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we incurred $0.5 
million in realignment expense related to severance costs included in cost of services revenue, selling and marketing, research and 
development and general and administrative expenses, based on the employees’ cost center assignment prior to termination. 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we incurred realignment expense of $3.2 million related to severance costs and $0.4 
million for the present value of lease payments for abandoned office space.  The severance costs are included in cost of services and 
maintenance revenues, selling and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses, based on the 
employees’ cost center assignments prior to termination.  Lease abandonment charges are included in general and administrative 
expenses. 
 
Note 3.    Net Loss Per Share 
 

Earnings Per Share (ASC 260) defines unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends as 
participating securities that should be included in computing EPS using the two-class method.  The Company’s nonvested restricted 
stock awards qualify as participating securities. 
 

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common 
shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares consist of the shares 
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and upon the vesting of restricted stock awards under the treasury stock method.  In net 
loss periods, basic net loss per share and diluted net loss per share are identical since the effect of potential common shares is anti-
dilutive and therefore excluded. 
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share data): 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
Basic loss per common share:       

Numerator:       
Net loss ................................................................................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729) $ (21,500) 
Net income allocated to participating securities ..................   —  —  — 
Net loss allocated to common stockholders .........................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729) $ (21,500) 

Denominator:       
Basic weighted average shares outstanding .........................   27,953  26,758  25,757 
Net loss per basic common share .........................................   $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55) $ (0.83) 

 
Diluted loss per common share:       

Numerator:       
Net loss ................................................................................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729) $ (21,500) 
Net income allocated to participating securities ..................   —  —  — 
Net loss allocated to common stockholders .........................   $ (14,395 ) $ (14,729) $ (21,500) 

Denominator:       
Basic weighted average shares outstanding .........................   27,953  26,758  25,757 
Effect of dilutive share-based awards ..................................   —  —  — 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding ......................   27,953  26,758  25,757 
Net loss per diluted common share ......................................   $ (0.51 ) $ (0.55) $ (0.83) 

 
Antidilutive securities, which consist of stock options and restricted stock awards that are not included in the diluted net loss per 

share calculation, consisted of an aggregate of approximately 1,824,000, 1,765,000 and 2,132,000 shares as of December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013, respectively. 
 
Note 4. Inventory 
 

Inventory is comprised of hardware components, packaged software components and finished goods and is valued at the lower 
of cost or market, using the weighted average cost method. The following table sets forth inventory by major classes: 
 

 December 31,  
 2015  2014  
 (in thousands)  

Components ..............................................................................................   $ 1,082  $ 1,121 
Finished goods ..........................................................................................   1,461  1,563 

Total inventory .............................................................................................   $ 2,543  $ 2,684 
 
Note 5. Property and Equipment 
 

Property and equipment, including assets held under capital leases, consist of the following: 
 

 December 31,  
 2015  2014  
 (in thousands)  

Leasehold improvements .............................................................................   $ 11,728 $ 11,762 
Computer hardware and software ................................................................   24,278  22,376 
Office equipment and furniture ...................................................................   4,587  4,138 
Computers and office equipment under capital leases .................................   301  395 
Assets not yet placed in service ...................................................................   988  250 
  41,882  38,921 

    
Accumulated depreciation ...........................................................................   (28,369 ) (24,363) 
Property and equipment, net ........................................................................   $ 13,513 $ 14,558 
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Accumulated amortization related to capital leases was $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 
 

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment, including equipment under capital leases, was $4.7 
million, $5.2 million and $5.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
 
Note 6. Goodwill and Other Intangibles 
 

The Company’s goodwill balance has been assigned to its reportable segments as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Products  Subscription  
Professional 

Services  Training  Maintenance  Total  
Goodwill balance, 

December 31, 2013 .....   $ 3,711  $ 6,935  $ 3,986  $ —  $ —  $ 14,632 
Goodwill balance, 

December 31, 2014 .....   $ 3,711  $ 6,935  $ 3,986  $ —  $ —  $ 14,632 
Goodwill balance, 

December 31, 2015 .....   $ 3,711  $ 6,935  $ 3,986  $ —  $ —  $ 14,632 
 

The following table summarizes goodwill (in thousands): 
 

 Goodwill  
Balance, December 31, 2013 .............................................   $ 14,632  
Additions ...........................................................................   —  
Balance, December 31, 2014 .............................................   $ 14,632  
Additions ...........................................................................   —  
Balance, December 31, 2015 .............................................   $ 14,632  

 
We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if we believe indicators of impairment exist, by 

comparing the carrying value of each of our reporting units to their estimated fair value. We have six reporting units: Hardware 
Products, Software Products, Subscription, Professional Services, Maintenance, and Training. 
 

If a quantitative assessment is necessary a two-step test is performed at the reporting unit level to assess goodwill for 
impairment. First, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, the 
reporting unit is not impaired and no further testing is performed. The second step is performed if the carrying value exceeds the fair 
value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss equal to the difference will be 
recorded. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the assets with their fair 
values; however, there were no indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 

Our goodwill impairment analysis for the year ended December 31, 2015 indicated that the estimated fair value of all but one of 
our reporting units with goodwill was in excess of the carrying value by approximately 150% to over 440%, and are not considered by 
management to be at risk of failing step one of the impairment test. The estimated fair value of the subscription reporting unit, with 
$6.9 million of goodwill, exceeded its carrying value by 33%. The significant assumptions that drive the estimated fair value are 
projected future cash flows, growth rates, and weighted average cost of capital and market multiples. Due to the subjectivity of these 
assumptions, the subscription reporting unit may be at greater risk for goodwill impairment if actual results differ from our projections 
or there are significant changes in market and economic factors affecting fair value.  Deterioration in estimated future cash flows in 
this reporting unit could result in future goodwill impairment. Additionally, one customer represents approximately 59% of our 
subscription revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015.  If we were to lose this specific customer, our subscription operations and 
therefore future cash flows would be adversely affected. 
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Amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives was $1.7 million, $2.2 million and $2.5 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  The following table summarizes cumulative amortization expense related to 
intangible assets subject to amortization as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands): 
 
  December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014  

  Gross Costs  
Accumulated 
Amortization  Net  Gross Costs  

Accumulated 
Amortization  Net  

Core technology ..................................   $ 5,800  $ (3,211 ) $ 2,589  $ 5,800  $ (2,430 ) $ 3,370 
Existing and developed technology ....   2,300  (2,300 ) —  2,300  (2,300 ) — 
Customer relationships........................   6,475  (3,779 ) 2,696  6,475  (3,143 ) 3,332 
Trade names ........................................   2,100  (1,317 ) 783  2,100  (1,122 ) 978 
Covenant not-to-compete ....................   200  (154 ) 46  200  (114 ) 86 
Domain name ......................................   45  (2 ) 43  —  —  — 

Total ................................................   $ 16,920  $ (10,763 ) $ 6,157  $ 16,875  $ (9,109 ) $ 7,766 
 

The following table summarizes the estimated remaining amortization expense through the year 2020 and thereafter (in 
thousands): 
 

Year ending  
Amortization 

Expense  
2016 ......................................................................................................................   $ 1,508  
2017 ......................................................................................................................   1,408  
2018 ......................................................................................................................   1,401  
2019 ......................................................................................................................   826  
2020 ......................................................................................................................   539  
Thereafter .............................................................................................................   475  
Total amortization expense ..................................................................................   $ 6,157  

 
Note 7. Income Taxes 
 

We are subject to federal, state and foreign corporate income taxes. The provision for income taxes consists of the following: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  

 (in thousands)  
Current:       

Federal ..........................................................   $ —  $ —  $ — 
State ..............................................................   33  9 38  
Foreign ..........................................................   245  168 101  

 278  177 139  
Deferred:       

Federal ..........................................................   82  84 84  
State ..............................................................   6  6 8  
Foreign ..........................................................   (6 ) (3) (14 ) 

  82  87 78  
  $ 360  $ 264  $ 217 

 
A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the federal statutory rate compared to our actual tax provision is as follows: 

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Federal income tax benefit at statutory rate .....................   $ (4,772 ) $ (4,918 ) $ (7,236) 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ........................   (790 ) (1,131 ) (1,302 ) 
Foreign income taxes, net of federal benefit ....................   156  107  53  
Share-based compensation...............................................   400  (9 ) 221  
Change in valuation allowance affecting income 

tax expense ..................................................................   5,411  6,483  10,804  
Research and development tax credits .............................   (248 ) (437 ) (1,254 ) 
Other tax credits...............................................................   —  —  (898 ) 
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Nondeductible meal and entertainment expense ..............   78  74  108  
Deferred income tax adjustments ....................................   105  82  (77 ) 
Other, net .........................................................................   20  13  (202 ) 

 $ 360  $ 264  $ 217 
 

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 

 December 31,  
 2015  2014  
 (in thousands)  

Deferred tax assets:     
Accrued expenses ........................................................................................   $ 3,836  $ 4,122 
Deferred revenues ........................................................................................   3,461  1,567 
Share-based compensation...........................................................................   1,416  2,035 
Tax credits ...................................................................................................   8,449  7,707 
Net operating losses .....................................................................................   28,258  25,761 
Depreciable assets........................................................................................   1,121  361 
Prepaids/other ..............................................................................................   201  281 

Total deferred tax assets ..................................................................................   46,742  41,834 
Deferred tax liabilities:     

Intangible assets ...........................................................................................   (832 ) (1,282) 
Goodwill ......................................................................................................   (510 ) (418) 

Total deferred tax liabilities .............................................................................   (1,342 ) (1,700) 
Net deferred tax assets prior to valuation allowance .......................................   45,400  40,134 
Valuation allowance ........................................................................................   (45,911 ) (40,552) 
Net deferred tax liabilities ...............................................................................   $ (511 ) $ (418) 

 
Our foreign income is not a material component of total loss before provision for income taxes.  We intend to reinvest the 

earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiary. 
 

Our valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased by $5.4 million to $45.9 million from $40.6 million 
as of December 31, 2014.  Our valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased $5.5 million to $40.6 million 
from $35.1 million as of December 31, 2013.  We have fully reserved against our deferred tax assets based on our assessment of the 
future realizability of our deferred tax assets.  In performing these assessments, we consider whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  We consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, 
including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income in assessing the need 
for a valuation allowance.  A cumulative taxable loss in recent years makes it more difficult for us to realize our deferred tax assets.  
We have had three years of cumulative U.S. tax losses and cannot rely on common tax planning strategies to use U.S. tax losses and 
we are precluded from relying on projections of future taxable income to support the recognition of deferred tax assets.  As such, the 
ultimate realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon the existence of sufficient taxable income generated in the 
carryforward periods. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we have federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4.6 
million and $6.0 million, respectively.  The federal tax credits begin to expire in 2027.  The state tax credit carryforward can be 
carried forward indefinitely. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes are approximately 
$78.3 million and $62.0 million, respectively, which expire at various dates through 2035.  Our federal and California NOLs have 
increased significantly as a result of acquired NOL carryforwards through our stock acquisition of CaseCentral Inc. in 2012.  The 
utilization of NOL carryforwards to reduce taxable income is subject to certain statutory limitations as defined in section 382 of the 
Internal Revenue Code, as amended. 
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Included in the NOL deferred tax asset above is approximately $4.0 million of deferred tax asset attributable to excess stock 
option deductions.  Due to a provision within ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, concerning when tax benefits related 
to excess stock option deductions can be credited to paid in capital, the related valuation allowance cannot be reversed, even if the 
facts and circumstances indicate that it is not more likely than not that the deferred tax asset can be realized.  The valuation allowance 
will only be reversed as the related deferred tax asset is applied to reduce taxes payable.  The Company follows Income Taxes (ASC 
740) ordering to determine when such NOL has been realized. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we intend to indefinitely reinvest the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries.  Undistributed earnings in 
our foreign subsidiaries are not significant. 
 

We file income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service, and the taxing authorities of various state and foreign 
jurisdictions.  We adopted the provisions of accounting for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the Income Taxes (ASC 740) 
topic on January 1, 2007 and, accordingly, performed a comprehensive review of our uncertain tax positions as of that date.  In this 
regard, an uncertain tax position represents our expected treatment of a tax position taken in a filed tax return, or planned to be taken 
in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in measuring income tax expense for financial reporting purposes.  A reconciliation of 
our total unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 follows: 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Balance at beginning of year ..............................................   $ 971  $ 703  $ 507 
Additions based on tax positions in the current period .......   94  268  196 
Balance at end of year .........................................................   $ 1,065  $ 971  $ 703 

 
Our unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2015 is $1.1 million.  We are subject to routine corporate income tax audits in 

the United States and foreign jurisdictions.  Due to the net operating loss carryforwards, the Company’s United States federal and state 
returns are generally open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state jurisdictions when such net operating losses are 
utilized.  Most foreign jurisdictions have statute of limitations that range from three to six years. 
 

Since we have fully reserved against our deferred tax assets, the liability for uncertain tax positions is merely a reduction to our 
deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance which is reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  Any subsequent reduction 
of the valuation allowance and the recognition of the associated tax benefit would affect our effective tax rate.  Our policy is to 
recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, in the income tax provision.  Interest and penalties are 
computed based upon the difference between our uncertain tax positions under Income Taxes and the amount deducted or expected to 
be deducted in our tax returns. Due to the overall tax loss position of the Company, we have not accrued or paid for interest and 
penalties in 2015, 2014 and 2013.  The Company does not expect its uncertain income tax positions to have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements within the next twelve months. 
 
Note 8. Debt Obligations 
 

On August 29, 2014, we entered into a three year, Senior Secured Revolving Line of Credit (“Revolver”) with a bank. The 
maximum principal amount that may be outstanding at any given time under the Revolver, which includes up to $3.0 million of 
standby letters of credit, is $10.0 million. Any borrowings under the Revolver would be secured by substantially all of our assets, as 
well as pledges of capital stock. The Revolver requires that, if we suffer an event of default or have borrowed more than 75% of the 
maximum principal amount permitted to be outstanding, we maintain an Adjusted Quick Ratio of at least 1.15 to 1.0. If the Adjusted 
Quick Ratio falls below 1.5 to 1.0, any collections received by the bank on behalf of the Company will be applied to outstanding loan 
balances before being remitted to the Company’s operating account. The Adjusted Quick Ratio is calculated by dividing Quick Assets 
(cash less restricted cash plus accounts receivable) by current liabilities (current liabilities plus outstanding standby letter of credit less 
the current portion of deferred revenue). Borrowings under the Revolver bear interest at a floating rate ranging from 1.25% to 3.25% 
above the Prime Rate depending on the Company’s Adjusted Quick Ratio. We are obligated to pay a commitment fee of $0.2 million 
over the three year term of the Revolver. All principal, interest and any other fees will be due and payable in full on or prior to 
August 29, 2017. 
 

As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all the covenants of the Revolver.  We had letters of credit outstanding 
against the Revolver in the amount of $1.2 million, resulting in the maximum available borrowing under the Revolver to be $8.6 
million.  Availability is calculated as 80% of eligible accounts receivable, with a maximum of $10.0 million.  To date we have not 
borrowed under the Revolver. 
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Note 9. Leases 
 

We lease certain facilities and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases extending through 2024.  The present value of 
the remaining future minimum lease payments under capital leases is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The following is a 
schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases and operating leases (in thousands): 
 

Years Ending December 31,  

Future Minimum 
Capital Lease 

Payments  

Future Minimum 
Operating Lease 

Payments  

Future 
Minimum Lease 

Payments  
2016 .......................................................................................   $ 75  $ 4,222 $ 4,297 
2017 .......................................................................................   52  4,388  4,440 
2018 .......................................................................................   28  4,343  4,371 
2019 .......................................................................................   3  3,977  3,980 
2020 .......................................................................................   —  3,580  3,580 
Thereafter ...............................................................................   —  10,459  10,459 
Total .......................................................................................   $ 158  $ 30,969 $ 31,127 

Less amounts representing interest (2.5%—8.0%) ............   (9 )    
  $ 149     
 

Rent expense related to operating leases for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $4.3 million, $4.9 million and $6.2 
million, respectively.  During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we did not have sublease rental income. 
 
Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans 
 
Equity Incentive Plan 
 

At our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our stockholders approved the Third Amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to 
the Guidance Software, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  The Third Amendment 
increased the aggregate number of shares of our common stock available for awards under the Plan by an additional 3,000,000 shares, 
from approximately 800,000 shares to a total of 3,800,000 shares.  The Third Amendment was approved by our Board of Directors in 
March 2015.  At December 31, 2015, approximately 3,263,000 shares were available for grant as options or nonvested restricted stock 
awards under the Plan. 
 
Stock Options 
 

The terms of the options granted under the Second Amended and Restated Plan are determined at the time of grant, and 
generally vest 25% annually over a four-year service period and typically must be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant. 
 

A summary of stock option activity follows: 
 

  

Number of 
Options 

(in thousands)  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 
(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands)  

         
Outstanding, December 31, 2014 ...............................   1,415  $ 8.36  2.8  $ 1,589 
Granted ......................................................................   903  6.00     
Exercised ....................................................................   (371 ) 4.55     
Forfeited or expired....................................................   (272 ) 10.21     
         
Outstanding, December 31, 2015 ...............................   1,675  7.63  6.6  $ 239 
         
Exercisable, December 31, 2015 ................................   672  $ 10.09  2.3  $ 145 
 



 

F-20 

We define in-the-money options at December 31, 2015 as options that had exercise prices that were lower than the $6.02 fair 
market value of our common stock at that date.  The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding at December 31, 2015 is 
calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the fair market value of our common stock for the 
approximately 1,067,000 options that were in-the-money at that date, of which approximately 166,000 were exercisable.  The total 
intrinsic value of stock options exercised, determined as of the date of exercise, was $0.6 million, $1.1 million and $1.5 million during 
the years 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
 

The following summarizes information about options unvested at December 31, 2015 that, based on current forfeiture rates, are 
expected to ultimately vest: 
 

  

Number of 
Options 

(in thousands)  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 
(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands)  

Options expected to vest ............................................   748  $ 5.98  9.4  $ 70 
 
Restricted Stock Awards 
 

We issue restricted stock awards to certain directors, officers and employees.  The terms of the awards granted under the Second 
Amended and Restated Plan are determined at the time of grant, and vest 25% annually over a four-year service period.  A summary 
of restricted stock awards activity follows: 
 

  

Number of 
Shares 

(in thousands)  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair Value  
      
Outstanding, December 31, 2014 ..................................................   2,059  $ 8.60  
Granted ..........................................................................................   1,231  6.11  
Vested and issued ..........................................................................   (789 ) 8.46  
Forfeited ........................................................................................   (452 ) 7.97  
      
Outstanding, December 31, 2015 ..................................................   2,049  $ 7.30  

 
The total grant date fair value of shares vested under such grants during 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $6.7 million, $8.3 million and 

$6.3 million, respectively. 
 
Share-Based Compensation 
 

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with Compensation-Stock Compensation (ASC 718).   Compensation 
expense for stock options is recognized using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value of share-
based payments and recognize that cost, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period. Stock awards generally vest 25% annually over a four-year service period.  The determination of the grant date fair 
value of share-based awards using that model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and 
subjective variables. These variables include the estimated number of years that we expect employees to hold their stock options (the 
option “expected term”) and our expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rates and dividends to be paid on our stock over that 
term. 
 

The fair values of stock options granted under the Second Amended and Restated Plan were estimated at the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions (no stock options were awarded in 2013): 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2015  2014  

Risk-free interest rate ...................................   1.63%  1.81%  
Dividend yield ..............................................   —%  —%  
Expected life (years) ....................................   5.76  5.81  
Volatility ......................................................   43.33%  47.46%  
Weighted average grant date fair value ........   $2.55  $2.72  
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When historical data is available and relevant, the expected term of options granted is determined by calculating the average 
term from historical stock option exercise experience.  The volatility of our common stock is estimated at the date of grant based on 
the volatility of our publicly traded common stock over the prior 24 months.  The volatility is calculated based on the adjusted close 
price each day from a composite index. The risk-free interest rate used in option valuation is based on the implied yield in effect at the 
time of each option grant, based on US Treasury zero-coupon issues with equivalent expected terms. We use a dividend yield of zero 
in the Black-Scholes model, as we have no expectation we will pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. 
Compensation-Stock Compensation (ASC 718) also requires that we estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates 
in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures 
and record share-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. Quarterly changes in the estimated 
forfeiture rate can potentially have a significant effect on reported share-based compensation, as the cumulative effect of adjusting the 
forfeiture rate for all expense amortization after the grant date is recognized in the period the forfeiture estimate is changed. 
 

The following table summarizes the share-based compensation expense we recorded: 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Stock option awards ..................................................................................   $ 382  $ 54  $ 156 
Restricted stock awards .............................................................................   6,380  6,640  7,470 
Share-based compensation expense ..........................................................   $ 6,762  $ 6,694  $ 7,626 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Cost of product revenue ............................................................................   $ 106  $ 131  $ 137 
Cost of services revenue ...........................................................................   1,125  1,398  1,347 
Cost of maintenance revenue ....................................................................   157  149  126 
Selling and marketing ...............................................................................   1,375  1,308  2,100 
Research and development .......................................................................   1,648  1,783  2,044 
General and administrative .......................................................................   2,351  1,925  1,872 
Total share-based compensation ...............................................................   $ 6,762  $ 6,694  $ 7,626 
 

As of December 31, 2015, there was approximately $2.3 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost related to 
stock options that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.5 years and approximately $11.7 million of total 
unrecognized share-based compensation cost related to restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted- 
average period of 2.6 years.  We expect to record approximately $6.2 million in share-based compensation in 2016 related to options 
and restricted stock awards outstanding at December 31, 2015. 
 
Defined Employee Contribution Plans 
 

The Company has a 401(k) plan that allows all full-time eligible employees to contribute up to 75% of their semi-monthly 
earnings, up to the maximum limit set by the IRS each year.  We match $0.50 on each dollar up to the first 6% of the employee’s 
eligible compensation.  Additionally, the Company may make discretionary contributions to the Plan regardless of profitability.  We 
recorded contribution related expense of approximately $1.0 million, $0.9 million and $1.1 million in the years 2015, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively. 
 
Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity 
 

In August 2008, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock having an aggregate 
value of up to $8.0 million.  As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $3.6 million remaining under this authorization.  
Acquisitions of shares may be made from time-to-time at management’s discretion, at prevailing prices in the open market, or in 
privately negotiated transactions, as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements, and are subject to market conditions 
and other factors.  As of January 1, 2014, we no longer withheld common shares from employees for personal income tax purposes 
upon the vesting of restricted stock awards, and for the year ended December 31, 2013 we withheld 284,000 common shares. 
Collectively, these shares are recorded as treasury stock, at cost, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
 



 

F-22 

Note 12. Fair Value Measurements 
 

In accordance with Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820) for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820) requires disclosure that establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. Under this standard, fair value is defined as the price that 
would be received in exchange for selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures(ASC 820) establishes a hierarchy for inputs 
used in measuring fair value that minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring the use of observable market data when 
available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on active market data. 
Unobservable inputs would be inputs that reflect our assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the 
asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. The statement requires fair value measurements be 
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories: 
 

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, 
unrestricted assets and liabilities. 

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active or financial instruments for which all significant inputs are 
observable, either directly or indirectly, and corroborated by market data. 

Level 3: Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and 
unobservable. 

 
The following table sets forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy, financial assets and liabilities that are accounted for at 

fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands): 
 
  Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015  
  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets:         

U.S. Treasury Securities ........................................   $ 2,008 $ 2,008  $ —  $ — 
Money market accounts .........................................   4,290  4,290  —  — 

Total assets .........................................................   $ 6,298 $ 6,298  $ —  $ — 
 
  Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014  
  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets:         

U.S. Treasury Securities ........................................   $ 2,006 $ 2,006  $ —  $ — 
Money market accounts .........................................   4,280  4,280  —  — 

Total assets .........................................................   $ 6,286 $ 6,286  $ —  $ — 
 
Sale of Domain Name 
 

On May 1, 2014, we entered into an agreement with one of our vendors, acquiring the rights to distribute certain of their 
software products, which are to be combined with certain of our own products, in exchange for a domain name owned by the 
Company.  The term of the agreement extends through December 31, 2018, and includes a one-year renewal option for the larger of 
1% of the maintenance revenue of certain of the Company’s products, or $450,000. 
 

Market data to determine the fair value of the domain name was not readily available and therefore we used the more clearly 
evident fair value of the acquired distribution rights to determine the fair value of the agreement. 
 

To estimate the fair value of the distribution rights, we developed our own assumptions related to the domain name’s future 
financial performance and projected maintenance revenue of certain of its products.  We developed various scenarios (base case, 
downside case, and upside case) and evaluated each case according to the probability of occurrence.  Expected cash flows were 
determined using the probability weighted average of possible outcomes we expect to occur.  The fair value of the acquired 
distribution rights was determined to be $0.6 million and was based on the present value of these projected scenarios. 
 

As the domain name had zero book value as of the date of sale, we recorded a gain on the sale of $0.6 million.  The acquired 
distribution right has been recorded in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.  Given the significant 
unobservable inputs to the calculation, the other asset recognized for the distribution rights falls within Level 3 of the ASC 820 
hierarchy, as defined above.  The other asset is expensed to cost of goods sold ratably over the term of the agreement, and assessed for 
impairment based on changes in facts and circumstances. 
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Note 13. Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Office Lease 
 

On July 3, 2014, we entered into an Office Lease Agreement (the “San Francisco Lease”) to lease approximately 6,000 rentable 
square feet of an office building located in San Francisco, California.  The office building is the new location of our San Francisco 
office.  The San Francisco Lease commenced on January 1, 2015 and expires in January 2020.  The total annual rent under the San 
Francisco Lease ranges from approximately $295,000 for the first year to approximately $332,000 for the final year. 
 

On March 31, 2015, we amended our Office Lease Agreement (the “Pasadena Lease”) dated July 26, 2012 to expand our 
headquarters by approximately 3,600 rentable square feet.  The amendment commences on June 1, 2016 and the Pasadena Lease 
expires on May 31, 2024.  Total annual rent under the Pasadena Lease ranges from approximately $2.5 million for the first year to 
approximately $3.4 million for the final year of the lease.  The expansion increases the annual base rent by a range of approximately 
$110,000 for the first year to approximately $140,000 for the final year. 
 

Effective July 7, 2015, we entered into a renewal of our Office Lease Agreement (the “UK Lease”) to lease approximately 8,000 
rentable square feet of an office building located in Slough, United Kingdom, which is primarily used as a training center.  The UK 
Lease commences on January 9, 2016 and expires on January 8, 2021, with an option to exit the lease on January 9, 2019.  The total 
annual rent under the UK Lease is approximately $267,000. 
 
Data Center Lease 
 

Effective April 1, 2014, we entered into a Colocation Lease Agreement (the “Colocation Lease”) to rent space in a building 
located in Chandler, Arizona.  The Colocation Lease expires on June 30, 2018.  The Colocation Lease serves as our new data center, 
replacing our former San Francisco location obtained in the Case Central acquisition.  Rent is based on power allocation and ranges 
from approximately $236,000 for the first year to approximately $265,000 for the final year. 
 
Third-party Software Licenses 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company entered into a $1.5 million third-party software license agreement 
authorizing the Company to integrate software as a component of its products through March 2018.  The agreement also provides for 
maintenance and support over a three-year period, which may be renewed by the Company at the expiration of the three-year period 
ending March 2018.  The $1.5 million is payable in three annual installments of $492,000, with the final installment being paid in 
November 2016.  The license, maintenance and remaining liability have been recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. 
 
Letter of Credit 
 

As of December 31, 2015 we had a $1.2 million letter of credit outstanding against our Senior Secured Revolving Line of Credit 
with a bank related to the Lease of our Corporate headquarters. 
 
Legal Matters 
 

On May 20, 2011, MyKey Technology Inc. (“MyKey”) filed a complaint against us and certain other parties for patent 
infringement in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware.  With respect to the Company, the complaint alleged that 
certain of our data acquisition forensic hardware products that we acquired as a result of our acquisition of certain assets of Tableau, 
LLC (“Tableau”) infringe three of MyKey’s patents relating to write blocking, duplication and data removal technologies, 
respectively.  The complaint sought a declaration of infringement, a finding of willful infringement, compensatory damages, treble 
damages, injunctive relief, interest, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees. 
 

On July 22, 2011, MyKey also filed a complaint with the United States International Trade Commission (the “ITC”), alleging 
infringement by the Company and certain other parties of the three patents discussed in the preceding paragraph and requesting that 
the ITC commence an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930.  The complaint sought injunctive relief barring 
the Company from the importation of products that allegedly infringed the three patents of MyKey.  On August 24, 2011, the ITC 
commenced an investigation of the Company and certain other parties related to the complaint by MyKey.  On August 31, 2011 the 
proceeding in the District Court was stayed pending the resolution of the ITC matter.  On August 1, 2012, MyKey amended its ITC 
complaint to remove allegations that its duplication patent had been infringed by the Company and to reduce the number of claims it 
alleged the Company had infringed related to MyKey’s data removal patent.  In August 2012, the parties completed a trial on the 
remaining patent claims at issue. 
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On December 28, 2012, the ITC released a final determination and Order holding that no violation of Section 337 of the Tariff 

Act of 1930 occurred as a result of the Company’s importation into the United States and sale of the products at issue.  This Order 
effectively ended the ITC proceeding in the Company’s favor. 
 

On February 20, 2013, the U.S. District Court of Delaware lifted the stay of the proceedings in the MyKey matter.  Effective 
April 8, 2013, the parties stipulated to a transfer of the matter to the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California.  On 
April 16, 2013, the Company filed its Answer and Counterclaim.  MyKey filed a petition to consolidate a number of related cases, 
including the case against the Company in the Central District of California, into a Multi-District Litigation (“MDL”) proceeding.  On 
August 16, 2013, the MDL panel approved the petition and assigned the MDL consolidated cases to the judge who is also presiding 
over the individual case against the Company.  The MDL case will dispose of certain issues common to the consolidated cases, such 
as the validity of patents being asserted against the joint defendants.  On May 23, 2014, the parties completed a Markman hearing 
related to claim construction of the patents at issue. 
 

On March 26, 2014, MyKey also filed a complaint against the United States of America alleging that the United States had 
infringed U.S. Patents No. 6,813,682, 7,159,086 and 7,228,379 by or through its acceptance, receipt and/or use of write blocker 
products, data duplication products and data removal products.  The complaint alleges that such products were supplied to the 
government by the Company and certain of its co-defendants in the MDL proceeding.  No damages amount is stated in the complaint.  
The government could assert a claim for indemnification against the Company but has not done so yet.  Although a financial loss is 
reasonably possible, the Company is unable to estimate the range of potential loss at this time. 
 

On October 16, 2014, MyKey filed a Notice of Status on Claim Construction Issues in the MDL action in which it 
acknowledged that MyKey will not be able to prove that the Company’s data duplication products infringed U.S. Patent 7,159,086.  In 
the same filing, MyKey acknowledged that certain claims of United States Patent 6,813,682 are invalid and therefore cannot be 
infringed by any product. On July 8, 2015, the judge in the Central District Court of California denied the motions of the Company 
and other defendants for summary judgment on the validity of the patents remaining in the case. This matter is ongoing, and we 
anticipate it will go to trial in 2017. 
 

We intend to defend the remaining MyKey matters vigorously and, at this time, are unable to estimate what, if any, liability we 
may have in connection with these matters.  We are unable to estimate a range of reasonably possible financial losses due to various 
reasons, including, among others, that (1) certain of the proceedings are at an early stage; (2) there is uncertainty as to the outcome of 
pending appeals, motions, or settlements; (3) there are significant factual issues to be resolved; (4) there are unresolved negotiations 
with certain indemnitors or indemnitees of the Company, related to the actions; and (5) we have meritorious defenses that we intend to 
assert. 
 

From time to time, we may become involved in various other lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
business.  Litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that 
may harm our business.  We are not currently aware of any such other legal proceedings or claims that are likely to have a material 
impact on our business. 

 
Indemnifications 
 

We have agreed to indemnify our directors and executive officers for costs associated with any fees, expenses, judgments, fines 
and settlement amounts incurred by them in any action or proceeding to which any of them is, or is threatened to be, made a party by 
reason of his or her services in their role as a director or officer. 
 
Sales Tax Liabilities 
 

The Company’s sales and use tax filings are subject to customary audits by authorities in the jurisdictions where it conducts 
business in the United States, which may result in assessments of additional taxes.  In March 2011, we determined that additional sales 
taxes were probable of being assessed by a certain state as a result of the preliminary findings specific to a sales and use tax 
audit.  The assessment including interest is approximately $1.2 million as of December 31, 2015.  The estimated incremental sales and 
use tax liability was based on a similar model that was being used by the state conducting the sales and use tax audit. Should other 
states where we have not imposed sales and use taxes determine that the sale of our products or services are subject to sales and use 
taxes, we could incur future assessments, which would require charges to operations. 
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Note 14.    Segment Information 
 

We apply the guidance in Segment Reporting (ASC 280) based on our internal organization and reporting of revenue and other 
performance measures.  Our segments are designed to allocate resources internally and provide a framework to determine 
management responsibility.  Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which discrete financial 
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how 
to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer.  We have five 
operating segments, as summarized below: 
 

� Products segment— Includes EnCase, EnCase Endpoint Security, EnCase eDiscovery, EnCase Forensic, EnCase Portable, 
Premium License Support Program and hardware sales. 

 
� Subscription segment— Includes subscription services for cloud-based document review and production software. 

 
� Professional services segment— Performs consulting services and implementations. 

 
� Training segment— Provides training classes by which we train our customers to effectively and efficiently use our 

software products. 
 

� Maintenance segment— Provides software updates, telephone and email support. 
 

Currently, we do not separately allocate operating expenses to these segments, nor do we allocate specific assets, with the 
exception of goodwill, to segments.  Therefore, the segment information reported includes only revenues, cost of revenues and 
segment profit.  The following tables present the results of operations for each operating segment (in thousands): 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 2015  

  Products  Subscription  
Professional 

services  Training  Maintenance  Total  
             
Revenues ......................................   $ 31,897  $ 6,435  $ 19,993  $ 8,836  $ 39,845  $ 107,006 
Cost of revenues ...........................   8,869  3,757  14,948  5,644  2,428  35,646 
Segment profit..............................   $ 23,028  $ 2,678  $ 5,045  $ 3,192  $ 37,417  71,360 
Total operating expenses ..............             85,424 
Operating loss ..............................            $ (14,064) 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 2014  

  Products  Subscription  
Professional 

services  Training  Maintenance  Total  
            
Revenues ......................................   $ 34,412  $ 7,406  $ 17,999  $ 8,928  $ 39,911  $ 108,656 
Cost of revenues ...........................  8,427  4,574  14,929  5,882  2,194  36,006 
Segment profit..............................  $ 25,985  $ 2,832  $ 3,070  $ 3,046  $ 37,717  72,650 
Total operating expenses ..............             87,785 
Operating loss ..............................             $ (15,135) 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 2013  

  Products  Subscription  
Professional 

services  Training  Maintenance  Total  
             
Revenues ......................................   $ 34,203  $ 10,345  $ 19,337  $ 8,824  $ 37,815  $ 110,524 
Cost of revenues ...........................  7,450  4,314  17,516  6,225  2,015  37,520 
Segment profit..............................  $ 26,753  $ 6,031  $ 1,821  $ 2,599  $ 35,800  73,004 
Total operating expenses ..............             94,311 
Operating loss ..............................             $ (21,307) 
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Revenue, classified by the major geographic areas in which we operate, is as follows: 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015  2014  2013  
  (in thousands)  
Revenues:        

US .......................................................................................   $ 80,605  $ 83,506  $ 86,830 
Europe .................................................................................   16,282  14,483  13,469  
Asia .....................................................................................   5,383  5,998  5,076  
Other ...................................................................................   4,736  4,669  5,149  

  $ 107,006  $ 108,656  $ 110,524 
 

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, long-lived assets located in the United States, net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization was approximately $13.4 million and $14.4 million, respectively.  At December 31, 2015 and 2014, long-lived assets 
located in foreign countries, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization was approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, 
respectively.  No individual country outside of the United States accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated long-lived assets.  
Long-lived assets exclude goodwill and intangibles assets, which are not allocated to specific geographies as it is impracticable to do 
so. 
 

Revenues from transactions with the U.S. Government were generated across all reporting segments and were greater than 10% 
of total revenues.  U.S. Government revenues were $14.7 million, $15.3 million, and $14.7 million for the years ended December 31, 
2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
 

Note 15.    Unaudited Quarterly Information 
 

The following tables set forth below are unaudited quarterly data. In the opinion of management, the following unaudited 
quarterly data has been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting of 
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the periods presented. 
 

  (in thousands, except per share data)  
  Quarter Ended  

  
Dec. 31, 

2015  
Sept. 30, 

2015  
June 30, 

2015  
Mar. 31, 

2015  
Dec. 31, 

2014  
Sept. 30, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
Mar. 31, 

2014  
Total revenues ...................................   $ 27,630  $ 26,823  $ 27,549  $ 25,004  $ 28,248  $ 27,847  $ 27,180 $ 25,381 
Total cost of revenues .......................   8,797  9,132  9,268  8,449  9,097  9,259  8,959 8,691 
Gross profit(1)...................................   18,833  17,691  18,281  16,555  19,151  18,588  18,221 16,690 
Total operating expenses ...................   22,304  21,089  21,726  20,305  22,169  21,132  21,711 22,773 
Operating loss ...................................   (3,471 ) (3,398 ) (3,445 ) (3,750 ) (3,018 ) (2,544 ) (3,490) (6,083) 
Total other income and expense ........  7  4  10  8  7  9  637 17 
Loss before income taxes ..................  (3,464 ) (3,394 ) (3,435 ) (3,742 ) (3,011 ) (2,535 ) (2,853) (6,066) 
Income tax provision.........................  116  77  96  71  53  51  82 78 
Net loss .............................................  $ (3,580 ) $ (3,471 ) $ (3,531 ) $ (3,813 ) $ (3,064 ) $ (2,586 ) $ (2,935) $ (6,144) 
Net loss per common share:                

Basic .............................................  $ (0.13 ) $ (0.12 ) $ (0.13 ) $ (0.14 ) $ (0.11 ) $ (0.10 ) $ (0.11) $ (0.23) 
Diluted ..........................................  $ (0.13 ) $ (0.12 ) $ (0.13 ) $ (0.14 ) $ (0.11 ) $ (0.10 ) $ (0.11) $ (0.23) 

Weighted average shares 
outstanding used in the 
calculation of net loss per 
common share:                
Basic .............................................   28,363  28,197  27,999  27,523  27,199  26,977  26,789 26,425 
Diluted ..........................................  28,363  28,197  27,999  27,523  27,199  26,977  26,789 26,425 

 

 
(1) Excluding amortization and depreciation. 

 

Note 16.    Subsequent Event 
 

On January 14, 2016, the Company announced completion of the restructuring of sales, training, channel and product 
development to accelerate our Company initiatives.  As part of the restructuring, the Company appointed a new vice president that will 
be focused on the global channel program.  Additionally, the Company has also restructured its direct sales team under a North 
American leader and an EMEA leader.  Professional services, training and support will be unified as part of its global services 
organization.  We expect to incur approximately $2.0 million of realignment expense for employee-related costs associated with this 
restructuring, including $325,000 for the separation of our founder and chief technology officer, during the first quarter of 2016. 
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 
February 25, 2016  
  
 Guidance Software, Inc. 
  
 By  /s/  PATRICK DENNIS 
  Patrick Dennis 
  Chief Executive Officer 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following 
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Signature  Title  Date 
     

/s/  PATRICK DENNIS  Chief Executive Officer  February 25, 2016 
Patrick Dennis  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     
/s/  BARRY J. PLAGA  Chief Operating and Financial Officer  February 25, 2016 

Barry J. Plaga  (Principal Financial Officer)   
     

/s/  RASMUS VAN DER COLFF  Chief Accounting Officer  February 25, 2016 
Rasmus van der Colff  (Principal Accounting Officer)   

     
/s/  ROBERT G. VAN SCHOONENBERG  Chairman  February 25, 2016 

Robert G. van Schoonenberg     
     

/s/  MAX CARNECCHIA  Director  February 25, 2016 
Max Carnecchia     

     
  Director   

Shawn McCreight     
     

/s/  CHRISTOPHER POOLE  Director  February 25, 2016 
Christopher Poole     

 



 

 

GUIDANCE SOFTWARE, INC. 
 

SCHEDULE II 
 

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
 

Description  

Balance at 
Beginning 
of Period  

Additions 
Charged to 
Costs and 
Expenses  

Additions 
Charged to 

Other 
Accounts  

Deductions 
and Other 

Adjustments  

Balance at 
End of 
Period  

  (in thousands)  
Allowance for doubtful accounts:           

Year ended December 31, 2013 ....................   $ 437  $ 600 $ —  $ (222) $ 815 
Year ended December 31, 2014 ....................   $ 815  $ — $ —  $ (181) $ 634 
Year ended December 31, 2015 ....................   $ 634  $ 50 $ —  $ (308) $ 376 

           
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:           

Year ended December 31, 2013 ....................   $ 22,561  $ 12,503 $ —  $ — $ 35,064 
Year ended December 31, 2014 ....................   $ 35,064  $ 5,488 $ —  $ — $ 40,552 
Year ended December 31, 2015 ....................   $ 40,552  $ 5,359 $ —  $ — $ 45,911 
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